PUBLICATIONS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF EASTERN FINLAND

Dissertations in Health Sciences



DINA NAVIA-PALDANIUS

PHARMACOLOGICAL AND BIOCHEMICAL CHARACTERIZATION OF ABHD6, ABHD11 AND ABHD12

Pharmacological and biochemical characterization of ABHD6, ABHD11 and ABHD12

Pharmacological and biochemical characterization of ABHD6, ABHD11 and ABHD12

To be presented by permission of the Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Eastern Finland for public examination in lecture hall SN200, Kuopio, on Friday, November 2nd 2018, at 12 noon

Publications of the University of Eastern Finland Dissertations in Health Sciences Number 488

Department of Biomedicine, School of Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences School of Pharmacy/Pharmaceutical Chemistry, Faculty of Health Sciences University of Eastern Finland Kuopio 2018 Series Editors: Professor Tomi Laitinen, M.D., Ph.D. Institute of Clinical Medicine, Clinical Physiology and Nuclear Medicine Faculty of Health Sciences

> Associate Professor Tarja Kvist, Ph.D. Department of Nursing Science Faculty of Health Sciences

Professor Kai Kaarniranta, M.D., Ph.D. Institute of Clinical Medicine, Ophthalmology Faculty of Health Sciences

Associate Professor (Tenure Track) Tarja Malm, Ph.D. A.I. Virtanen Institute for Molecular Sciences Faculty of Health Sciences

Lecturer Veli-Pekka Ranta, Ph.D. (pharmacy) School of Pharmacy Faculty of Health Sciences

> Distributor: University of Eastern Finland Kuopio Campus Library P.O.Box 1627 FI-70211 Kuopio, Finland http://www.uef.fi/kirjasto

ISBN (print): 978-952-61-2913-6 ISBN (pdf): 978-952-61-2914-3 ISSN (print): 1798-5706 ISSN (pdf): 1798-5714 ISSN-L: 1798-5706

Author's address:	Department of Biomedicine/School of medicine/Physiology University of Eastern Finland KUOPIO FINLAND
Supervisors:	Docent Juha Savinainen, Ph.D. School of Medicine, Institute of Biomedicine/Physiology University of Eastern Finland KUOPIO FINLAND
	Docent Jarmo T. Laitinen, Ph.D. School of Medicine, Institute of Biomedicine/Physiology University of Eastern Finland KUOPIO FINLAND
	Docent Tarja Kokkola, Ph.D. School of Medicine, Clinical Research Centre University of Eastern Finland KUOPIO FINLAND
	Professor Antti Poso, Ph.D. School of Pharmacy, Pharmaceutical Chemistry University of Eastern Finland KUOPIO FINLAND
Reviewers:	Adjunct Professor Timo Myöhänen, Ph.D. Division of Pharmacology and Pharmacotherapy University of Helsinki HELSINKI FINLAND
	Professor Mario van der Stelt, Ph.D. Leiden Institute of Chemistry University of Leiden LEIDEN NETHERLAND
Opponent:	Professor Jyrki Kukkonen, Ph.D. Department of Veterinary Biosciences University of Helsinki HELSINKI FINLAND



Navia-Paldanius, Dina Pharmacological and biochemical characterization of ABHD6, ABHD11 and ABHD12 University of Eastern Finland, Faculty of Health Sciences Publications of the University of Eastern Finland. Dissertations in Health Sciences 488. 2018. p. 63

ISBN (print): 978-952-61-2913-6 ISBN (pdf): 978-952-61-2914-3 ISSN (print): 1798-5706 ISSN (pdf): 1798-5714 ISSN-L: 1798-5706

ABSTRACT

A retrograde lipid signaling system, the endocannabinoid system (ECS), influences various functions in the CNS (central nervous system) and periphery. The ECS consists of two G-protein coupled cannabinoid receptors (CB1 and CB2), their endogenous ligands called endocannabinoids, as well as three hydrolases MAGL (monoacylglycerol lipase), ABHD6 and ABHD12 (α/β -hydrolase domain containing 6 and 12) which regulate the lifetime of the endocannabinoids. These hydrolases belong to the serine hydrolase family which is the largest group of enzymes having an important role in many biological processes. Interestingly, although about half of these enzymes have been well characterized and their importance recognized, much less is known about the others.

The ABHD proteins belong to the serine hydrolase family of enzymes; they are potential regulators of lipid metabolism and signal transduction. Dysregulation of this system may be involved in many chronic diseases such as diabetes, cardiovascular disease and cancer. Their predicted role in lipid metabolism has made ABHD hydrolases interesting drug targets. Despite this potential, the uncertainties surrounding their physiological function as well as the paucity of endogenous substrates and even the lack of a reliable way to assay enzyme activity have impaired the development of novel ABHD inhibitors.

This study had three aims: (I) to explore regional CB1 receptor-mediated signaling in (MAGL)-KO mouse brain, (II) to develop sensitive cell-based activity assays that could be used for characterizing ABHD6, ABHD11, ABHD12 in comparison to the well-characterized MAGL, (III) to identify inhibitors and substrates for these hydrolases.

The results emerging from these studies indicated that MAGL-KO mouse brain undergoes a regional desensitization of the CB1 receptor in response to overload with the MAGL substrate, 2-AG. We set up and optimized a sensitive glycerol-based hydrolase activity assay that made it possible to profile the substrate preferences for two novel endocannabinoid hydrolases, ABHD6 and ABHD12, in comparison to MAGL, and were able to define ABHD6 and MAGL as genuine MAG hydrolases. With respect to ABHD11, we managed to establish an activity assay using a chromogenic substrate, para-nitrophenyl butyrate, and in conjunction with activity-based protein profiling (ABPP), we discovered several potent inhibitors that could be used in the further characterization of this hydrolase.

National Library of Medicine Classification: QU 136, QU 143, QU 375, QV 126

Medical Subject Headings: Hydrolases; Monoacylglycerol Lipases; Enzyme Inhibitors; Endocannabinoids; Receptor, Cannabinoid, CB1; Signal Transduction; Brain; Mice, Knockout



Navia-Paldanius, Dina ABHD6, ABHD11 ja ABHD12 farmakologinen ja biokemiallinen karakterisointi Itä-Suomen yliopisto, terveystieteiden tiedekunta Publications of the University of Eastern Finland. Dissertations in Health Sciences 488. 2018. s 63.

ISBN (print): 978-952-61-2913-6 ISBN (pdf): 978-952-61-2914-3 ISSN (print): 1798-5706 ISSN (pdf): 1798-5714 ISSN-L: 1798-5706

TIIVISTELMÄ

Endokannabinoidijärjestelmä on yksi elimistön lipidisignalointijärjestelmistä, joka vaikuttaa sekä keskushermostossa että perifeerisissä kudoksissa. Järjestelmään luetaan nykyisin kaksi G-proteiinikytkentäistä reseptoria (CB1 ja CB2), niitä aktivoivat ligandit (endokannabinoidit), sekä endokannabinoidien elinikää säätelevät entsyymit MAGL (monoasyyliglyseroli lipaasi), ABHD6 ja ABHD12 (α / β -hydrolaasi domain 6 ja 12). Nämä entsyymit kuuluvat suurimpaan entsyymiperheeseen, seriinihydrolaaseihin, jotka osallistuvat moniin eri biologisiin toimintoihin. Tästä huolimatta noin puolet tämän perheen entsyymeistä on huonosti tunnettuja.

ABHD proteiiniperhe kuuluu myös seriinihydrolaaseihin. Niiden on esitetty säätelevän lipidimetaboliaa ja solujen signalointia. Ongelmat näissä säätelyjärjestelmissä saattaa johtaa moniin kroonisiin sairauksiin kuten diabetekseen, sydän- ja verisuonitauteihin sekä syöpään. ABHD entsyymien oletettu rooli lipidimetaboliassa on tehnyt niistä kiinnostavia lääkekehityskohteita. Tästä huolimatta näiden entsyymien fysiologisia rooleja eikä luonnollisia substraatteja tunnetta. Sen lisäksi näille entsyymeille ei ole spesifisiä inhibiittoreita, eikä sopivia entsyymiaktiivisuusmittausmenetelmiä, mitkä hidastavat näiden entsyymien tutkimista.

Tällä tutkimuksella oli kolme tavoitetta: (I) tutkia CB1-kannabinoidireseptorin signalointia MAGL poistogeenisten hiirien aivoleikkeissä, (II) kehittää herkkä solupohjainen menetelmä entsyymiaktiivisuusmäärityksiin, jolla karakterisoida huonosti tunnettuja ABHD6, ABHD11, ABHD12 entsyymejä sekä hyvin tunnettua MAGL ja lisäksi (III) löytää inhibiittoreita ja substraatteja näille entsyymeille.

Tutkimuksessa havaittiin, että MAGL-poistogeenisten hiirten aivot sopeutuvat tilanteeseen vähentämällä eri aivoalueilla CB1-reseptorien kykyä signaloida. Kahdessa muussa osatyössä käytettiin useita eri menetelmiä huonosti tunnettujen ABHD-perheen entsyymien Työssä entsyymiaktiivisuuteen karakterisoimiseen. kehitettiin herkkä perustuva menetelmä, jolla määritettiin substraattimieltymykset ABHD6- ja ABHD12-entsyymeille rinnan hyvin tunnetun MAGL-entsyymin. Työssä osoitettiin, että ABHD6 ja MAGL ovat varsin samankaltaisia monoglyseridipohjaisten substraattimieltymysten suhteen. Näitä tuloksia ja kehitettyä menetelmää käytettiin myöhemmin spesifisten inhibiittorien kehittämiseen näille entsyymeille. Lisäksi karakterisoimme huonosti tunnettua ABHD11entsyymiä useilla eri menetelmillä. Vaikka proteiinin fysiologinen rooli jäi selvittämättä, löysimme sille lipaasien yleisesti käyttämän keinotekoisen substraatin. Tämä voisi viitata ABHD11 mahdollisesti toimivan lipaasina. Käyttämällä kemoproteomista entsyymiaktiivisuusmääritysmenetelmää löysimme ABHD11:lle kolme potenttia inhibiittoria, joita voidaan käyttää jatkotutkimuksissa tämän entsyymin kohdalla.

Luokitus: QU 136, QU 143, QU 375, QV 126

Yleinen Suomalainen asiasanasto: entsyymit; inhibiittorit; endokannabinoidit; reseptorit; signaalit; aivot; hiiret

Acknowledgements

This thesis was completed with the help and support of numerous people. Warmest thanks go to my four supervisors that I was privileged to have. At first, I wish to express my sincere gratitude to my principle supervisor Docent Juha Savinainen whose knowledge, endless patience and encouragement carried me through this project. Next, I would like to acknowledge Docent Jarmo Laitinen for his guidance, support and constructive comments throughout this project. I could not have imagined having a better research group for my Ph.D. work. I wish to warmly thank my role model and mentor, Docent Tarja Kokkola, for walking with me the most challenging part of the thesis and for supporting me for all these years. My sincere thanks go to Professor Antti Poso who I will remember for always finding the positive side of things. Your support as well as words of encouragement were highly appreciated.

My thesis committee members Adjacent Professor Vesa Hytönen and Michael Courtney Ph.D. are thanked for their challenging questions and comments. I would like to acknowledge Professor Mario van Stelt and Adjunct Professor Timo Myöhänen for significantly improving the thesis with their insightful comments.

I owe an appreciation and gratitude to Docent Tuomo Laitinen for providing molecular models for us, Teija Parkkari Ph.D. and Jayendra Patel Ph.D. for synthesizing compounds. I would like to thank MSc. Virve Sihvola for teaching me the secrets of Seahorse assay.

I worked with many wonderful people during these years and would like to warmly thank Docent Tapio Nevalainen, Steffi Goffart Ph.D., Marko Lehtonen, Ph.D., Docent Tiina Jääskeläinen, Docent Sanna Pasonen-Seppänen, Associate Professor Kirsi Rilla, Einari Niskanen Ph.D., Mikko Gynther Ph.D., Susanna Forsberg Ph.D. and Prosanta Singha, MSc. for their contribution. I wish to thank Ms. Taija Hukkanen and Ms. Satu Marttila for their excellent assistance as well for giving me occasionally well-deserved push. Ms. Taina Vihavainen and MSc. Riikka Kärnä are acknowledged for their excellent work and support. I have had an honor to work with inspiring bachelor and master students and would like to express my thanks to especially MSc. Hermina Jacupovic, BSc. Joona Marjamaa and MSc. Miriam López Navarro for many fantastic moments we shared.

I owe my deepest gratitude to the personnel of the Institute of Biomedicine and the unit of Pharmaceutical chemistry. My thanks go in particular to Niina Aaltonen Ph.D., Sari Yrjölä Ph.D. and Ayhan Korkmaz Ph.D. for sharing this journey with me. I enjoyed our fruitful conversations and discussions of work and life. I am indebted to my current colleagues who have been understanding, supporting and above of all, have tolerated me when I have been tired and stressed. In particular, I would like to thank Sari Toropainen Ph.D. for her infinite empathy.

I expand my thanks to friends in graduate school. The annual meetings provided many new friends and memories to be treasured. I would like to thank Jonne Seppälä Ph.D., Mikko Ylilauri Ph.D. and Piia Kokkonen Ph.D. for numerous memorable moments. Additionally, I would like to thank Jonne and Mikko for supporting and pushing me through the hard moments.

Finishing this thesis mostly affected my dearest ones and I would like to use this opportunity to express my deepest gratitude to my friends and family. I am beyond lucky to have you all in my life and I would not be here today without you. This took such a long time and I thank you all for the patience and faith you have had on me. There are so many

of you that it is hard to mention you all by name but know, that having especially *you* in my life gives me strength. I am aware how blessed I am that no matter what, I always have somebody to turn to.

My parents have always believed in me and I want to warmly thank them for always supporting me and my choices. Finally, my last words go to my family. Ari, we have lived hard years and I have no words to express how much I appreciate you still being by my side. The two brightest stars of my universe, Mimosa and Tia-Maria; thank you for your endless support and unconditional love.

Kuopio, September 2018

Dina Navia-Paldanius

List of the original publications

This dissertation is based on the following original publications:

- I Navia-Paldanius D, Aaltonen N, Lehtonen M, Savinainen JR, Taschler U, Radner FP, Zimmermann R and Laitinen JT. Increased tonic cannabinoid CB1R activity and brain region-specific desensitization of CB1R Gi/o signaling axis in mice with global genetic knockout of monoacylglycerol lipase. *Eur. J. Pharm. Sci.* 77:180-188, 2015.
- II Navia-Paldanius D, Savinainen JR and Laitinen JT. Biochemical and pharmacological characterization of human α/β-hydrolase domain containing 6 (ABHD6) and 12 (ABHD12). *J Lipid Res.* 53:2413-2124, 2012.
- III Navia-Paldanius D, Patel JZ, Lopez Navarro M, Jacupovic H, Goffart S, Pasonen-Seppänen S, Nevalainen TJ, Jääskeläinen T, Laitinen T, Laitinen JT and Savinainen JR. Chemoproteomic, biochemical and pharmacological approaches in the discovery of inhibitors targeting human α/β -hydrolase domain containing 11 (ABHD11) *Eur. J. Pharm. Sci.* 93:253-263, 2016.

The publications were adapted with the permission of the copyright owners.



Contents

1 INTF	RODUCTION	1
2 REVI	EW OF THE LITERATURE	2
2.1	INTRODUCTION TO PROTEIN CHARACTERIZATION .	2
2.1.1	Isolation and separations of protein of interest	2
2.1.2	Identifying protein of interest	3
2.1.3	Defining protein structure	3
2.1.4	Homology modeling in functionalizing unknown enzymes	4
2.1.5	Genetic alteration for recognizing the endogenous substrate	4
2.1.6	Activity-based protein profiling (ABPP)	5
2.2.	INTRODUCTION OF THE SERINE HYDROLASES	6
2.2.1.	Family of serine hydrolases	7
2.2.2.	Lipid degrading serine hydrolases	7
2.2.3.	ABHD proteins	9
2.2	ENDOCANNABINOID SYSTEM	12
2.2.1	Basic features of the ECS	12
2.2.2	Life cycle of the endocannabinoids	14
2.4	SERINE HYDROLASES AND ENDOCANNABINOID	
	SYSTEM AS DRUG TARGETS	15
2.4.1.	Serine hydrolases as a drug target	15
2.4.2.	Inhibitors for serine hydrolases	17
2.4.3.	Endocannabinoid system as a drug target	18
3 AIM	S OF THE STUDY	19
4 EXPE	RIMENTAL PROCEDURES	20
4.1	MATERIALS	20
4.2	METHODS	21
4.2.1	Animals and tissue preparations	21
4.2.2	Functional [35 S]GTP γ S autoradiography experiments (I)	22
4.2.3	LC/MS/MS analysis of endocannabinoid levels (I)	23
4.2.4	Generation of recombinant protein lysates and	
	membranes (II & III)	23
4.2.5	Site-directed mutagenesis of the postulated catalytic triads (II)	24
4.2.6	Western Blotting (II & III)	25
4.2.7	Enzyme activity assays (II & III)	25
4.2.8	Competitive activity-based protein profiling (ABPP) (I-III)	26
4.2.9	Seahorse (III)	27

IN RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	28
ALTERNATIVE SERINE HYDROLASES REGULATE	
2-AG HYDROLYSIS IN MAGL DEFICIENT MICE BRAIN	
SECTIONS (I)	28
FLUORESCENCE-BASED HYDROLASE ACTIVITY ASSAY	
FOR ENDOCANNABINOID HYDROLASES (II)	29
Kinetic measurements	30
	IN RESULTS AND DISCUSSION ALTERNATIVE SERINE HYDROLASES REGULATE 2-AG HYDROLYSIS IN MAGL DEFICIENT MICE BRAIN SECTIONS (I) FLUORESCENCE-BASED HYDROLASE ACTIVITY ASSAY FOR ENDOCANNABINOID HYDROLASES (II) Kinetic measurements

5.2.2 ABHD6 and ABHD12 act as genuine MAG lipases	30
5.2.3 Inhibitor profile of ABHD6 and ABHD12 using fluorescence-	
based glycerol assay (II)	33
5.3 CHARACTERIZATION OF ABHD11 (III)	34
5.3.1 Inhibitor screening using activity-based protein profiling (III)	34
5.3.2 Enzyme activity assay for ABHD11 (III)	35
5.3.3 Selectivity of JZP-245	38
6 CONCLUSIONS	40
REFERENCES	43

Abbreviations

2-AG	2-arachidonoylglycerol
AA	Arachidonic acid
ABHD2	α/β hydrolase domain 2
ABHD3	α/β hydrolase domain 3
ABHD5	α/β hydrolase domain 5
ABHD6	α/β hydrolase domain 6
ABHD11	α/β hydrolase domain 11
ABHD12	α/β hydrolase domain 12
ABHD16A	α/β hydrolase domain 16A
AFMID	Arylformamidase
AtABHD11	Arabidopsis homolog of a human ABHD11 gene
ATGL	Adipose triacylglycerol lipase
AEA	Ananamide (<i>N</i> -arachidonoyl- ethanolamine)
ABPP	Activity-based protein profiling
AM251	CB1 receptor antagonist
BAT5	Known also as ABHD16A
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
BMP	bis(monoacylglycerol) phosphate
Ca ²⁺	Calcium ion
CGI-58	Comparative gene identification-58
CNS	Central nervous system
CP55,940	CB1/CB2 receptor agonist
DAG	Diacylglycerol
DAGL	Diacylglycerol lipase
DDHD2	DDHD Domain Containing 2
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DOG	1,2-Dioleoyl-rac-glycerol
DTNB	5,5'-dithiobis-2-nitrobenzoic acid
Δ^{9} -THC	Δ^9 -tetrahydrocannabinol

FA	Fatty acid
FAAH	Fatty acid amide hydrolase
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
G-1-P	Glycerol-1-phosphate
GK	Glycerol kinase
Gi/o	Inhibitory class of heterotrimeric G proteins
GPO	Glycerol phosphate oxidase
GPR55	G-protein coupled receptor 55
GSH	Glutathione
GTPγS	Guanosine-5'-O-(3-thio)- triphosphate
[³⁵ S]GTPγS	Guanosine-5'-O-(3-[³⁵ S]thio)- triphosphate
H_2O_2	Hydrogen peroxide
HDSF	Hexadecylsulfonyl fluoride
HEK293	Human embryonic kidney293 cells
HPLC	High-performance liquid chromatography
HRP	Horse radish peroxidase
HSL	Hormone sensitive lipase
IDFP	Isopropyldodecyl- fluorophosphonate
JJKK-048	MAGL inhibitor
JW651	MAGL inhibitor
JZL184	MAGL inhibitor
КО	Knockout
LC/MS/MS	Liquid chromatography/ tandem mass spectrometry
LNCaP	Androgen-sensitive human prostate adenocarcinoma cell line
LPA	Lysophosphatidic acid
LPI	Lysophosphatidyl inositol
LPS	Lysophosphatidyl serine
LYPLA2 MAFP	Lysophospholipase II Methylarachidonoylfluoro- phosphonate

MAG	Monoacylglycerol
MAGL	Monoacylglycerol lipase
ML211	LYPLA1/2 and ABHD11 inhibitor
NAPE	N-acyl phosphatidyl ethanol amine
NLSDI	Neutral lipid storage disease
NMBA	2-nitro-5-mercaptobenzoic acid
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PC3	Human prostate cancer cell line
PHARC	Polyneuropathy, hearing loss, ataxia, retinis pigmentosa and cararact
PLA	Phospholipase A
PLB	Phospholipase B
PLC	Phospholipase C
PLD	Phospholipase D
pNP	para-nitro phenol
RHC80267	DAGL inhibitor
RT	Room temperature
TAG	Triacylglycerol
TAMRA-FF	Active-site-directed serine hydrolase probe
THL	Tetrahydrolipstatin (orlistat), lipase inhibitor
URB597	FAAH inhibitor
VCaP	Human prostate cancer cell line
WAT	White adipose tissue
WT	Wild-type
WWL70	ABHD6 inhibitor

1 Introduction

Proteins are responsible for cellular functions. Some proteins act as either receptors or enzymes. They are inert until they are activated by the presence of a ligand or substrate stimulating a specific cellular response. Most receptors are membrane-bound proteins that participate in signaling transduction. Thus, receptors are the triggering parts of cell signaling pathways; in contrast, enzymes are proteins that catalyze chemical reactions and participate in many biological processes. The actual chemical reaction where the substrate is converted to one or more end products occurs in the active site of the enzyme. Due to their crucial physiological roles, enzymes are important pharmaceutical targets, there are many approved drugs which act as enzyme inhibitors (Overington et al., 2006).

The human genome sequence project was one of the greatest achievements of the biological sciences (International Human Genome Sequencing Consortium 2004). The full sequence of the human genome revealed not only a huge number of unknown proteins, but also revealed how far we are from understanding the metabolic networks in humans (Medina-Cleghorn and Nomura 2014). The human metabolic network consists of enzymes converting substrates to products. Enzymes can function together can also produce metabolic pathways such as glycolysis, where multiple enzymes are involved in catalyzing the conversion of a metabolite, in this case glucose, into the end-product, i.e. pyruvate (Medina-Cleghorn and Nomura 2014). One metabolic pathway can interact with other biochemical pathways producing numerous metabolites that the cell can use as building blocks, regulatory metabolites and signaling molecules.

Serine hydrolases are one of the largest and the most diverse enzyme families. This enzyme family has two subclasses, proteases and metabolic serine hydrolases, and at present is thought to consist of about 200 enzymes (Long and Cravatt 2011; Simon and Cravatt 2010). Serine hydrolases are therapeutic targets for several diseases. For example, the dementia associated with Alzheimer's Disease is treated by inhibiting the enzyme which breaks down acetylcholine, obesity can be alleviated by inhibiting several gastric enzymes such as hormone-sensitive lipase (HSL), and type II diabetes can be treated by inhibiting dipeptidyl peptidase (Bachovchin and Cravatt 2012). They also modulate lipid signaling systems like the endocannabinoid system that is involved in a wide range of physiological processes in mammals, such as in the responses to pain and inflammation, feeding and energy regulation, learning, memory, and emotions (Fowler 2006; Pacher et al. 2006). While the importance of serine hydrolases is recognized, it is appreciated that many, perhaps half, of these enzymes are still poorly characterized with respect to their physiological functions, endogenous substrates and end-products. Most of them also lack specific inhibitors, which are crucial in the characterization of the physiological function of these unknown enzymes.

If one wishes to understand the processes coordinating lipid metabolism, we need to better understand the molecular mechanisms behind the cellular effects and the consequences when these become disrupted, leading to human diseases. It is widely accepted that most of the serine hydrolases are lipid-metabolizing enzymes, playing important role(s) in (patho)physiology (Thomas et al. 2014) which means that serine hydrolases are attractive drug targets. Nonetheless, most of these proteins need to be better characterized in order to provide a foundation for understanding their physiological functions.

The complete human genome sequence and the large number of the still uncharacterized genes that it identified provided us with a workframe. At the same time, it has posed a major challenge. In order to understand human physiology and to learn more about the

development of diseases (pathophysiology), it is desirable to find a function and a physiological relevance for these unknown proteins and the first step is to identify physiologically important substrates and end-products. This can only be achieved when more efficient assay methods are devised. Furthermore, we need to develop specific inhibitors to uncover the specific role of the enzymes and their possible role in pathophysiology. In addition, these inhibitors can often be used as lead structures in drug design programs. One of the aims of this study was to characterize both biochemically and pharmaceutically several of the relatively recently found endocannabioid hydrolyzing metabolic serine hydrolases and to discover inhibitors for the mitochondrial metabolic serine hydrolases at present lacking a physiological function.

2 Review of the literature

2.1 INTRODUCTION TO PROTEIN CHARACTERIZATION

We have multiple methods which can be exploited in the characterization of a protein. Proteins can be characterized by isolating them from biological materials or the protein of interest can be cloned when one knows the sequence of its coding gene. The used methods depend on the strategy. One of these protein characterization strategy is described in Figure 1.

In the pre-genomic era, assays were developed for *in vitro* characterization. In the ideal case, these assays led to the recognition of the protein which, after cloning, was sequenced to determine the gene behind the observation. Now, the knowledge of the complete human genome sequence has reversed the traditional strategy. The availability of the sequences and genome maps of each gene has switched the focus so that instead of *in vitro* observations, we are now able to begin from the protein coding gene and clone the protein. In the ideal case, we can develop an assay and inhibitor(s) that can be used in further experiments for characterizing the protein.

2.1.1 Isolation and separations of protein of interest

Whether we are interested in protein from some biological material or a cloned protein, the first step in the protein's characterization is to isolate and separate the protein of interest. For example, proteins can be separated by size using centrifugation, chromatography or gel electrophoresis. The drawback of using these methods is that they cannot separate different proteins with the same size. This is a problem especially when isolating proteins from biological materials. One way to overcome this problem is to use 2D-PAGE (2-dimension polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis) which distinguishes between different proteins based on their isoelectric point and size.

The greatest advantage of 2D-PAGE is its capability of separating mixtures of proteins. The first dimension is called isoelectric focusing where the proteins are separated in an immobilized pH gradient. Proteins migrate to their isoelectric point where their net charge, based on their amino acid composition, is zero. SDS (sodium dodecyl sulfate) PAGE further separates the proteins based on their size. This separation performed with SDS-PAGE is called the second dimension. 2D-PAGE enables the separation of thousands of proteins simultaneously. However, the method is unreliable for protein identification. Additionally,

it is not useful for proteins with low abundances and furthermore the quantification of the protein is difficult.



Figure 1. Schematic representation of how a protein is identified from a biological material.

2.1.2 Identifying protein of interest

If the separated protein is unknown, the next step is to identify the protein by determining its primary sequence. The primary sequence can be determined using either chromatography or mass spectrometry (Lodish et al. 2000; Mallick and Kuster 2010). One option is to use *Edman degradation* where the N-terminal is labeled and then the protein is degraded in a stepwise manner and subsequently analyzed with liquid chromatography. Although the method has its advantages, mass spectrometry-based methods are more commonly used. In mass spectrometry, the peptides are ionized after they have been separated, with the identification being based on their mass-to-charge (m/z) ratio (Mallick and Kuster 2010). The results are analyzed by comparison with a sequence database. The advantage of the mass spectrometry is its sensitivity. Additionally, it achieves a quantitative determination and qualitative structural information of a large range of samples. Even though mass spectrometry is by far the most useful method, its relatively expensive cost obstructs its widespread use.

2.1.3 Defining protein structure

The three-dimensional 3D structure needs to be defined if one wishes to understand how the protein functions at the molecular level. When investigating a protein's structure, it is necessary to produce a sufficient amount of the full length and active form of the protein of interest. Proteins vary with respect their structure and stability, hence there is no universal production method or protein characterization scheme that works for every protein. One option to produce a sufficient amount of protein is to clone the gene, for example in *E. coli*, after which the protein needs to be purified.

The 3D structure can be defined from a high quality purified protein. The methods most commonly used to define the 3D structure are NMR spectroscopy, X-ray crystallography and cryoelectron microscopy (Lodish et al. 2000; Zheng et al. 2015). NMR can be used to study small proteins (~20 kDa) (Marion 2013). In NMR, the proteins are in solution whereas in X-ray crystallography, the protein needs to be crystallized (Zheng et al. 2015). Crystallized proteins allow the determination of 3D structure from more complex and

larger proteins than can be achieved with NMR. For proteins that are particularly large or hard to crystallize, cryoelectron microscopy can be applied. In this method, the protein is rapidly frozen in liquid ethane (Carroni and Saibil 2016). The resulting low resolution views are analyzed by computer programs to reconstruct the 3D protein structure. It is also possible to combine X-ray crystallography and cryoelectron microscopy. This combination helps to determine the protein's location as well as protein–protein interfaces especially in complex models (Wang and Wang 2017).

Defining 3D structure can be challenging and especially crystallization is demanding, since the protein may be sensitive to temperature, pH and ionic strength. Moreover, these experimental methods are time consuming and laborious and this probably explains why 3D structures are lacking for so many proteins. Methods capable of elucidating protein structures have proceeded relatively slowly, therefore computational approaches for predicting the 3D structures of proteins have been often considered as being more efficient than their experimental alternatives (Venkatesan et al. 2013).

2.1.4 Homology modeling in functionalizing unknown enzymes

Even with the known sequence, it is hard to predict the function of the protein since even proteins with closely related amino acid sequences may have different functions. On the other hand, proteins with very low amino acid sequence similarities may perform similar functions. This can be explained by structural similarities between folded proteins such that related functions can be almost identically coded by two distinct sequences with limited or no homology (Kaczanowski and Zielenkiewicz 2010). Structural biology is an approach which has been used to explore the physiological function of uncharacterized proteins by predicting their 3D shapes.

One option is to use molecular modeling, which is a useful methodology for analyzing the 3D structures of macromolecules. The aim of molecular modeling is to provide an explanation for the biological activity of a structure (Forster 2002). Molecular modeling can be used to hypothesize the ligand binding site, the substrate specificity and an annotation of function (Vyas et al. 2012). It has been shown that protein structures are more conserved than the amino acid sequences of which they are made (Kaczanowski and Zielenkiewicz 2010). One approach used in homology modeling is to predict the 3D structure from sequence, using information gained from a homologous protein with a known structure. This can provide valuable clues about the 3D structure of the protein, but it becomes even more valuable when it can be combined with experimental data. The quality of the model depends on the sequence identity. If the similarity between the target sequence and the template is over 25 %, the similarity is typically thought to be useful (Vyas et al. 2012).

2.1.5 Genetic alteration for recognizing the endogenous substrate

One major challenge encountered in investigating poorly known enzymes is designing enzyme activity assays. Most methods used to explore poorly characterized proteins concentrate on simply the amount of the protein instead of its function or activity. Enzyme assays are used to study enzyme kinetics and enzyme inhibition. One common feature of all enzyme assays is that they measure either the consumption of substrate or the production of an end-product with respect to time. In other words, all enzyme activity assays need to have a known substrate in order to function. There are several approaches to develop assays for orphan enzymes such as mass-based method which monitors the binding of ligands (Yuan et al. 2009); this approach can be used for screening of biological activity (Guengerich et al. 2010). However, the field of protein characterization would benefit from new enzyme activity assays.

Knock-out models

By far the most powerful method to study a protein's function is genetic alteration, where the gene of interest has been inactivated, so-called knocked-out. Inactivating a gene produces a knock-out (KO) model if the gene is not vital. With a vital gene, KO-models cannot be produced. If the gene is not vital, the KO model can reveal the cellular pathways in which the gene product, often a protein, operates. There are several ways of achieving a KO model such as mutagenesis, targeted mutations, CRISPR/Cas9, silencing RNA or antibody binding. A KO model can be created in cell culture *in vitro* as well as *in vivo* in different organisms. The principal concept is simple; after disabling the gene of interest, changes can be observed in either behavior and/or biochemical function. In KO models, the inhibition of enzyme activity should lead to an increased amount of a physiologically relevant substrate. The substrate may be identified using lipidomics. This approach has been used to reveal the endogenous substrates for ABHD6 (Thomas et al. 2014), ABHD12 (Blankman et al. 2013) and ABHD3 (Long et al. 2011).

The first step taken with a KO model is to analyze the phenotype of the animals, as this could give a clue of the function of the protein (Thomas et al. 2014). The KO model can make it possible to analyze tissues where the enzyme is normally widely expressed using untargeted LC/MS (liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry). This method can identify a wide range of metabolites without the need for internal standards. The assumption is that eliminating enzymatic activity will increase the levels of the endogenous substrate in the KO animal. These levels can be compared to the corresponding compound in the WT animals. For example, after some potential lipid substrates have been discovered, it may be possible to determine the catalytic activity towards the discovered substrates with purified/over-expressed enzyme, and to develop a suitable enzyme activity assay. When one possesses an enzyme activity assay, then it is possible to screen a small molecule library to identify active and selective inhibitors for the enzyme of interest. Selective and potent inhibitors can be further evaluated in preclinical studies. This approach is powerful but rather laborious and screening all enzymes would take a relatively long time.

It is important to take into consideration a few aspects which may have an impact on the interpretation of results. First, even though genes are orthologous between human and other mammals, there is no guarantee that the same gene functions similarly in humans as in other species (Guengerich et al. 2010). Furthermore, interfering with one gene may cause alterations in other genes. It is also possible that organisms have compensatory systems which can overcome the functional loss of the gene of interest. It may also be difficult to decide which tissue should be analyzed. Nonetheless, without doubt, the KO model has proved to be an unsurpassed way of identifying the function of unknown proteins. However, because of both economical and time-related reasons, other methodologies are often used.

2.1.6 Activity-based protein profiling (ABPP)

There are suitable methods for quantifying proteins, such as SDS-PAGE or LC/MS. However, many proteins including the serine hydrolases are often regulated by post-translational mechanisms which means that the expression levels measured by conventional proteomic or genomic methods are only estimations and do not always correlate with a change in enzymatic activities (Kilpinen et al. 2008; Wiedl et al. 2011). The chemoproteomic approach called activity-based protein profiling (ABPP) is a method capable of determining the active enzyme. The method has proved useful with a large range of enzyme classes. In ABPP, a specific small-molecule probe is designed to target a certain enzyme class that shares a conserved mechanism and this procedure can be conducted from practically any biological material (Cravatt et al. 2008). The probe has a reactive group that binds covalently to the active site of the enzyme (Fig 2.) (Niphakis and

Cravatt 2014). The probe has also a reporter tag such as biotin/fluorophore which enables the detection, enrichment, and identification of the labelled enzyme (Fig. 2). For the family of serine hydrolases, fluorophosphonate (FP) has been shown to potently and irreversibly label > 80 % of the members of the serine hydrolase family (Bachovchin et al. 2010). The commercially available probe TAMRA (tetramethyl-6-carboxyrhodamine)-FP attacks the active site of the serine hydrolase and the reporter tag fluorophore TAMRA allows visualization of the labelled protein.

The power of ABPP lies in its ability to label active serine hydrolases in native biological samples (Cravatt et al. 2008). Unlike methods determining changes in gene or protein levels, ABPP assesses changes in enzyme activity. Even in highly complex samples, it can detect changes in the activities of very low-abundance enzymes. ABPP can also be used in a competitive mode where proteomes are first treated with inhibitors and then labeled with the activity-based probe that reacts with most enzymes in the class under investigation (Fig. 2). Using this methodology, researchers have been able to screen for enzyme inhibitors or to identify the target(s) of each inhibitor (W. Li et al. 2007). Competitive ABPP can be used for screening inhibitor selectivity and it can also be exploited for uncharacterized enzymes.



Figure 2. Principle of competitive ABPP. Cell lysates/ tissue preparations are incubated with an inhibitor and then with a fluorescent probe, TAMRA-FP, whose binding to serine hydrolases is visualized by in-gel scanning after a SDS-PAGE separation of proteins.

Although ABPP is very useful, it does not provide information about the substrate and, as such, it is not suitable for incorporation into a high throughput screen (HTS) format. There are enzyme activity methods available for those enzymes with known substrates, such as the endocannabinoid hydrolases. The substrate hydrolysis of endocannabinoid hydrolases has been commonly studied using radiolabeled monoacyl glycerol (MAG) substrates (Dinh et al. 2002; Goparaju et al. 1999; Karlsson et al. 1997) or MAG substrates combined with MS-based (Blankman et al. 2007) and HPLC-based (Saario et al. 2004) detection. However, when characterizing unknown serine hydrolases, these methodologies have limitations such as being laborious and requiring the use of radioactive material. Additionally, they are not suitable for an HTS format, which explains why more useful HTS enzyme activity methods are urgently needed.

2.2. INTRODUCTION TO THE SERINE HYDROLASES

Serine hydrolases comprise one of the largest and most diverse groups of enzymes. They regulate a wide range of biological processes. Nearly half of the serine hydrolases are relatively well known but the other 50 % of human serine hydrolases are lacking any known physiological function or endogenous substrates, and the majority of these enzymes lack selective inhibitors that could be exploited in their further characterization.

2.2.1. The family of serine hydrolases

The family of serine hydrolases consists of about 200 enzymes (Long and Cravatt 2011; Simon and Cravatt 2010). This enzyme family uses nucleophilic serine in the catalytical core to achieve the hydrolysis of the substrate. Many well known proteins belong to this family, for example proteases, lipases, phospholipases, cholinesterases, thionesterases and amidases. Due to their role in many important physiological processes such as neurotransmission and digestion (Bachovchin and Cravatt 2012), the activity of these proteins is tightly regulated. For example, serine hydrolases regulate the life cycle of signaling lipids under normal physiological circumstances (Long and Cravatt 2011). However, it has been postulated that imbalances and dysfunction of these processes can contribute to many human diseases (Wymann and Schneiter 2008). This is not surprising keeping in mind that lipid signaling is a delicate system involving networks with multiple pathways.

Serine hydrolases are divided into two subclasses, proteases and metabolic serine hydrolases. Serine proteases are found in most genomes (Di Cera 2009) and catalyze the hydrolysis of the polypeptide chain of a protein; metabolic serine hydrolases hydrolyze small molecules such as lipids (Bachovchin and Cravatt 2012). The α/β -hydrolase domain (ABHD) fold is often thought to characterize the metabolic serine hydrolases (Bachovchin and Cravatt 2012) and proteins with an ABHD-fold have been detected in every reported genome (Lord et al. 2013). The metabolic serine hydrolases typically use a Ser-His-Asp (SHD) triad in the catalytic reaction (Dodson and Wlodawer 1998). The main role of the metabolic serine hydrolases is thought to be to hydrolyze small molecules such as fatty acyl esters, phospholipids, lipid amines and acylthioesters, e.g. acyl CoA (Long and Cravatt 2011).

2.2.2. Lipid degrading serine hydrolases

Lipid metabolism is a biochemical process which is controlled by hormones (e.g insulin and growth hormone). In the process, lipids are synthesized, broken down by lipases, prior to being incorporated and used by several cells. Most lipases belong to the serine hydrolases (Long and Cravatt 2011) highlighting the critical contribution of the serine hydrolases in lipid metabolism. For example, serine hydrolases can act as extra- and intra-cellular lipases that are responsible for absorbing dietary lipids, mostly triacylglycerols (TAGs), into cells as well as producing energy for the cell (Long and Cravatt 2011). Changes in the nutritional and physiological conditions alter the levels of hormones regulating TAG hydrolysis (Zechner et al. 2012). When the need for energy is increased, this initiates the hydrolysis of TAGs. The process where TAGs are hydrolyzed by various lipases to fatty acids (FAs) and MAG is known as lipolysis. As shown in Fig. 3, lipolysis in adipose tissue is initiated by a serine hydrolase called ATGL (adipose triacylglycerol lipase) (Zimmermann et al. 2004). ATGL hydrolyzes TAG to DAG (diacylglycerol) and subsequently, a well characterized set of enzymes convert DAG into glycerol and FAs.

Hydrolases participating in lipolysis serve as ideal targets for the treatment of some metabolic diseases. Therefore, these hydrolases have been under intense investigation and their properties are rather well understood.



Figure 3. Schematic of lipolysis in adipose tissue. DAG is produced by ATGL hydrolysis of TAG. DAG is further hydrolyzed to MAG and finally to glycerol and FA by HSL and MAGL, respectively.

Hormone-sensitive lipase (HSL) and ATGL

The highest expression of HSL is present in the adipose tissue, with lower expression in the cardiac and skeletal muscles (Holm et al. 1988). As the name hormone-sensitive lipase indicates, certain hormones regulate HSL. In adipose tissue, HSL activity is stimulated by catecholamines and suppressed by insulin (Egan et al. 1992; Kraemer and Shen 2002) while in the skeletal muscle, HSL is controlled by adrenaline (Yeaman 2004).

The generation of HSL-KO mice highlighted the central role of HSL as the main DAG lipase. The HSL-KO mice displayed elevated DAG levels, their adipocytes were increased in size and there were alterations in the distribution of their adipose tissue (Yeaman 2004; Zimmermann et al. 2009). Moreover, the generation of HSL-KO mice established that the lack of HSL had no effect on the hydrolysis of TAGs (Osuga et al. 2000). The discovery that HSL hydrolyzed DAG instead of TAG (Haemmerle et al. 2002) lead to the discovery of ATGL (Zimmermann et al. 2004).

The current view is that activation of ATGL is the initial step in lipolysis. The availability of ATGL-KO mice has clarified the physiological role of ATGL in hydrolyzing TAG (Haemmerle et al. 2006). ATGL-KO mice display a clear decrease in TAG hydrolytic activity in white adipose tissue (WAT), skeletal muscle and liver. Their total cholesterol, TAG and FA levels were decreased as compared to WT mice (Haemmerle et al. 2011) and these KO mice exhibited mild obesity and as expected, an increased fat mass. Most likely, because of their inability to release FAs for heat and energy production, ATGL-KO mice could not tolerate cold exposure or fasting and died prematurely from cardiac dysfunction caused by the accumulation of TAG in their hearts (Haemmerle et al. 2011).

Monoacyl glycerol lipase (MAGL)

MAGL is the main enzyme involved in the degradation of MAGs in most tissues (Long, Nomura et al. 2009). Membrane-associated MAGL is responsible for the last step of lipolysis where the MAG is degraded into glycerol and fatty acid (Fig. 3 and 5). MAGL is widely expressed in the body with the highest expression levels in adipose tissue. MAGL is also recognized as the main hydrolase degrading the major endocannabinoid, 2-arachidonoyl glycerol (2-AG), which is responsible for endocannabinoid signaling (Howlett 2002). The generation of MAGL-KO mice established the major *in vivo* role of MAGL as a MAG lipase in various tissues (Chanda et al. 2010; Taschler et al. 2011). These studies indicated that MAGL-KO mice had reduced 2-AG (2-arachidonoylglycerol) hydrolase activity, which increased 2-AG levels in the brain, white adipose tissue (WAT) and liver (Taschler et al. 2011). Furthermore, the pharmacological blockade of MAGL caused an

accumulation of 2-AG in many tissues, especially in the brain. This excess amount of 2-AG reduced the number and functionality of CB1 receptors in cell membranes, which led to desensitization (Chanda et al. 2010; Zhong et al. 2011), as well as to functional and behavioral tolerance (Chanda et al. 2010; Schlosburg et al. 2010). Interestingly mice lacking MAGL showed signs of enhanced memory and learning (Pan et al. 2011). Furthermore, a lack of MAGL increased MAG levels and decreased plasma glycerol levels; however, MAGL deficiency had no effect on food intake or fat mass (Taschler et al. 2011). Based on these studies, MAGL seems to affect energy metabolism by hydrolyzing MAG and has a major impact on endocannabinoid signaling, which also affects energy metabolism.

2.2.3. ABHD proteins

The ABHD (α/β -hydrolase domain) protein family is a subclass of the serine hydrolases and it has been detected in all reported genomes (Hotelier et al. 2004; Nardini and Dijkstra 1999). This family contains at least 22 members, including proteases, lipases, esterases, dehalogenases, peroxidases and epoxide hydrolases, making it one of the most diverse protein families (Nardini and Dijkstra 1999). The physiological function and endogenous substrates of the ABHD proteins are mostly unknown (Bachovchin and Cravatt 2012; Lord et al. 2013). Intensive research has provided potential functions for some ABHD family members, such as ABHD3, ABHD6, ABHD12 and ABHD16A (also known as a BAT5) whose endogenous substrates have also been identified (Blankman et al. 2007; Blankman et al. 2013; Kamat et al. 2015; Long et al. 2011; Marrs et al. 2010; Simon and Cravatt 2006).

The known substrates for ABHD hydrolases are listed in Table 1. It is evident that most of the ABHD proteins lack defined endogenous substrates and specific inhibitors. Interestingly, those ABHD hydrolases that have a known endogenous substrate (Table 1.) seem to share a common ability to regulate glycerophospholipid metabolism. This could point to a common role for the ABHD family in lipid and energy metabolism (Lord et al. 2013). This has been established by mutations and gene knockdowns of ABHD hydrolases which have strengthened the hypothesis that the ABHD family shares a common role in lipid metabolism and certain diseases (Lord et al. 2013; Thomas et al. 2014) (Table 1.). There are some medical conditions in which there is altered lipid metabolism associated with the ABHD hydrolases such as PHARC (polyneuropathy, hearing loss, ataxia, retinitis pigmentosa and cataract) (Chen et al. 2013; Fiskerstrand et al. 2010), Chanarin-Dorfman syndrome and neutral lipid storage disease (NLSDI) (Lefevre et al. 2001) (Table 2.). This is further support for the hypothesis that ABHD hydrolases are involved in the control of lipid synthesis and degradation (Blankman et al. 2007; Long and Cravatt 2011; Simon and Cravatt 2006). Moreover, ABHD6 has been linked to a metabolic disorder (Thomas et al. 2013) and it was shown that inhibition of ABHD6 could provide benefits in diet-induced obesity and type 2 diabetes (Taschler et al. 2011; Thomas et al. 2013; Zhao et al. 2014) however, the detailed mechanism responsible for these beneficial effects needs to be explored. Additionally, several publications have reported altered expression of ABHD proteins in different cancer cells (F. Li et al. 2009; Max et al. 2009; Yoshida et al. 2010). Most of the ABHD enzymes linked to cancer have been shown to have increased activity or expression (Lord et al. 2013). This could be compatible with the suggested role of ABHD enzymes as mediators of glycerolipid metabolism. It is possible that ABHD enzymes could be recruited to provide small molecules to be used in pre-tumorgenic signaling or as an energy source as has been shown for MAGL (Nomura et al. 2010). However, the exact role of ABHD proteins in cancers is still unknown.

			Known endogenous	Selective	
Enzyme	Highest expression	Potential functions	substrates	inhibitors	References
ABHD1	Heart and small intestine Lung, liver	Has a protective role during oxidative stress.	ı	ı	(Edgar and Polak 2002; Lord et al. 2013; Stoelting et al. 2009; van Roon-Mom et al. 2008)
ABHD2	Ubiquitously expressed in peripheral tissues	TAG lipase and ester hydrolase. Acts in stress response. Controls sperm activation.	TAG	ı	(Lord et al. 2013; Miller et al. 2016; Miyata et al. 2008; Naresh Kumar et al. 2016)
ABHD3	Brain and small intestine	Phospholipase. Hydrolyzes phosphatidylcholines in conditions of oxidative stress which is important in disease progression e.g. atherosclerosis	Lysophoshatidyl- choline	Ţ	(Long et al. 2011; Lord et al. 2013)
ABHD4	Brain, small intestine, kidney and testis	Responsible for N-acylphospholipid metabolism in CNS. Inhibits cell proliferation and cell cycle.	NAPE¹ Lyso-NAPE N-acyl phospholipids	ı	(Brady et al. 2011; Katz-Jaffe et al. 2009; Lee et al. 2015; Liu et al. 2008; Simon and Cravatt 2006)
ABHD5	Testis and adipose tissue	Coactivator of adipose tissue TAG lipase. Ligand-regulated lipase activator involved in glycerol- phospholipid metabolism. Generates lipid mediators that regulate TAG metabolism and insulin sensitivity. Coenzyme A-dependent lysophosphatic acid acyltransferase.	Long-chain acyl-CoA	SR-4995	(Lass et al. 2006; Lord et al. 2013; Montero-Moran et al. 2010; Sanders et al. 2015)
ABHD6	Ubiquitously expressed in CNS and peripheral tissue	Role in neurotransmission by regulating 2-AG signaling. Acts as a MAG and lysophospholipase. Controls the levels of anti-inflammatory bioactive lipid PGD2GE. Regulates fuel homeostasis. Regulates <i>de novo</i> FA synthesis.	2-AG, MAG, BMP	WWL70 JZP-169 JZP-430 KT182 KT203	(Alhouayek et al. 2013; Blankman et al. 2007; Hsu et al. 2013; W. Li et al. 2007; Long and Cravatt 2011; Lord et al. 2013; Marrs et al. 2010; J. Z. Patel et al. 2015; J. Z. Patel, van Bruchem et al. 2015; Pribasnig et al. 2015; Thomas et al. 2014; Zhao et al. 2016; Zhao et al. 2015; Zhao et al. 2016)
ABHD7	Brain	Reduces the bioactivity of epoxide- containing lipids.		ı	(Lord et al. 2013; Morisseau 2013)
ABHD8	Testis and brain	Unknown		I	(Lord et al. 2013)
ABHD9	Skeletal muscle, white adipose tissue and heart	Acts as an epoxide hydrolase. May negatively regulate angiogenesis.	FA epoxides, Epoxy- eicosatrienoic acids, leukotoxin	I	(Lord et al. 2013)
¹ N-acyl pho	sphatidylethanolamine				

Table 1. ABHD hydrolases

10

σ
Ð
Ē
7
·=
Υ
Ē
0
υ
-
-
JU
2
1
טין

			Known		
Enzyme	Highest expression	Proposed functions	endogenous substrates	Selective inhibitors	References
ABHD10	Testis and brown adipose tissue	Esterase responsible for deglucuronidation of acyl-glucuronides	probenecid acyl glucuronide	7j ABL303	(Adachi et al. 2015; Lajkiewicz et al. 2014; Lord et al. 2013)
ABHD11	Ubiquitously expressed	Mitochondrial enzyme	1	ML226 WWL222 AA44-2	(Adibekian, Hsu et al. 2010; Adibekian et al. 2011; Bachovchin et al. 2010; Long and Cravatt 2011; Lord et al. 2013)
ABHD12A	Brain and ubiquitously expressed	Hydrolyzes 2-AG. Participates in LPS homeostasis	2-AG, LPS, BMP	Triterpenoids Maslinic acid	(Blankman et al. 2007; Blankman et al. 2013; Kamat et al. 2015; Long and Cravatt 2011; Lord et al. 2013; Parkkari et al. 2014)
ABHD12B	Not characterized	Unknown	ı	I	(Lord et al. 2013)
ABHD13	Testis, small intestine and ubiquitously expressed	Unknown	ŗ	,	(Lord et al. 2013)
ABHD14A	Testis and ubiquitously expressed in adult mice	Possible role in granule neuron development		ı	(Hoshino et al. 2003; Lord et al. 2013)
ABHD14B	Ubiquitously expressed in peripheral tissues	Unknown	·	·	(Lord et al. 2013)
ABHD15	Adipose tissue, liver and skeletal muscle	Required for adipogenesis. Regulates the role and size of adipocytes. Possible role in apoptosis.	·	ı	(Lord et al. 2013; Walenta et al. 2013)
ABHD16A	Skeletal muscle, brain and ubiquitously expressed	Phosphatidylserine hydrolase. Participates in LPS homeostasis.	Medium and long- chain unsaturated MAG	,	(Blankman et al. 2013; Kamat et al. 2015; Lord et al. 2013; Savinainen et al. 2014)
ABHD16B	Testis, skeletal muscle and brown adipose tissue	Unknown	·	ı	(Lord et al. 2013; Savinainen et al. 2014)
ABHD17A/B /C	Brain	Regulates PSD-95 palmitoylation cycles in neurons	Palmitate	ı	(Lin and Conibear 2015)

2.2 ENDOCANNABINOID SYSTEM

The endocannabinoid system (ECS) is a retrograde lipid signaling system influencing a variety of functions in the CNS and the periphery. The ECS consists of two G-protein coupled cannabinoid receptors (CB1 and CB2), their endogenous activating ligands, endocannabinoids, and hydrolases regulating the life-time and signaling functions of the endocannabinoids. Compared to the other neurotransmitters systems, the ECS displays a few unique properties. For example, instead of storing endocannabinoids in synaptic vesicles, they are produced on demand by activity-driven synthesis (Fig. 4). In endocannabinoid signaling, the endocannabinoids are released from post-synaptic cells into the synaptic cleft, from where they retrogradely act on the pre-synaptic cells to cause activation of their cannabinoid receptors, eventually causing a suppression of transmitter release.

2.2.1 Basic features of the ECS

Cannabinoid receptors and their endogenous ligands

The receptors activated by cannabinoid drugs are called cannabinoid (CB) receptors. So far, two CB receptors have been identified. Devane and coworkers (Devane et al. 1988) reported the first evidence of the CB receptors. A few years later both cannabinoid receptors had been identified and cloned, CB1 in 1990 (Matsuda et al. 1990) and CB2 in 1993 (Munro et al. 1993). Later, a novel non-cannabinoid receptor was suggested to participate in endocannabinoid signaling. This suggestion was based on the fact that cannabimimetic effects remained after either pharmacological or genetic blockade of CB1 and CB2 receptors (Begg et al. 2005; Mackie and Stella 2006). GPR55 (G protein-coupled receptor 55) was identified in *in silico* screening to have a similar amino acid sequence in its binding region (Baker et al. 2006) making it a strong candidate for a receptor capable of being activated by cannabinoids. The hypothesis was established after several cannabinoid ligands were shown to activate GPR55 (Ryberg et al. 2007). Similar to the CB receptors, GPR55 is a G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) but with 15 % sequence similarity with the cannabinoid receptors (Henstridge et al. 2011). The GPR55 receptor was thus seen as a highly promising drug target since it was thought to lack the psychotropic effects associated with the CB receptors and thus the research around GPR55 has been intense, but provided a confusing pharmacological profile mainly with ligands being reported as agonists or antagonists (Oka et al. 2007; Ryberg et al. 2007). Although GPR55 can be activated by several cannabinoids, the current opinion is that LPI (lysophosphatidyl inositol) is the endogenous ligand for GPR55 (Henstridge et al. 2011; Makide et al. 2014; Oka et al. 2007). Most known GPR55 ligands are cannabinoid related and thus there is a need for more potent and especially more selective ligands. This need was satisfied in a recent publication introducing new ligands with nanomolar potencies (Yrjola et al. 2016). Nonetheless, many open questions need to be answered before we have a thorough understanding of the physiology of GPR55.

CB1 and CB2 receptors are seven transmembrane receptors belonging to the rhodopsinclass of GPCRs (Howlett et al. 2002). Both CB receptors can signal through G_{i/o} proteins. The activation of CB receptors by endocannabinoids inhibits the adenylyl cyclases (Howlett et al. 2002) and CB1 receptors have been shown also to control the release of GABA by inhibiting N-type calcium channels (Szabo et al. 2014). Activation of CB1 or CB2 receptors has diverse consequences on cellular physiology, including alterations in synaptic function, gene transcription, and cell motility. CB1 and CB2 receptors have different tissue distributions. The CB1 receptor is widely expressed in brain; these receptors are located in axons and in presynaptic sites. The location of the CB1 receptor together with its inhibitory effect on voltage-dependent calcium channels and adenylyl cyclase indicated that the main function of CB1 receptors was to inhibit neurotransmitter release (Mackie 2006).

CB1 receptors are more abundantly expressed in CNS while CB2 receptors are expressed in the periphery. However, there is evidence that CB2 receptors are upregulated in microglia under certain pathological conditions such as after a nerve injury, or in the presence of inflammation and neurogenerative diseases (Fernandez-Ruiz et al. 2008; Sagredo et al. 2009). These studies have indicated that CB2 receptors that are sparingly expressed in healthy brain are upregulated in pathological conditions (Fernandez-Ruiz et al. 2008; Fernandez-Ruiz et al. 2015; Ramirez et al. 2005). CB2 receptors have been shown to be present in tissues and cells of the immune system such as thymus, tonsils, B lymphocytes, NK cells and granulocytes (Howlett et al. 2002).

The endogenous ligands of CB receptors are called endocannabinoids. So far, at least 5 endocannabinoids have been identified. The most widely investigated endocannabinoids are 2-AG (Mechoulam et al. 1995; Sugiura et al. 1995) and anandamide (AEA) (Devane et al. 1992). Endocannabinoids activate CB1 and CB2 receptors with cell specific biochemical responses (Silvestri and Di Marzo 2013). In the CNS, endocannabinoid activation of CB receptors leads to the inhibition of neurotransmitter release (Fig. 4). The life cycle of endocannabinoids is tightly regulated by their synthesizing and hydrolyzing enzymes (Fig. 5).



Figure 4. Lifecycle of 2-AG. Released neurotransmitters activate receptors in post-synaptic cells which leads to an increase in the Ca2+ concentration activating PLC. 1) PLC generates DAG from phospholipid precursors such that the postsynaptically located DAGLa 2) is converted into 2-AG. 3) The liberated 2-AG travels to the presynaptic cell membrane and 4) activates CB1 receptors leading to 5) inhibition of neurotransmitter release. After activating the CB1 receptor, 2-AG is 6) degraded by MAGL in the presynapse and 7) ABHD6 is suggested to control the 2-AG levels in postsynaptic cells.

2.2.2 Life cycle of the endocannabinoids

Biosynthesis of endocannabinoids

The endocannabinoid 2-AG is a lipid mediator widely present throughout the CNS. For example, the activation of glutamate receptors increases the post-cellular Ca²⁺ concentration which activates PLC (phospholipase C) that cleaves DAG from membrane phospholipids and then diacylglycerol lipase (DAGL) α or β further catalyzes 2-AG production FA release (Bisogno et al. 2003) (Fig. 4 and 5). Interestingly, both DAGLs are expressed in the same brain regions as CB1 receptors, making them ideal for generating 2-AG for retrograde signaling. The KO models of DAGLs have indicated that with respect to retrograde signaling, DAGL α seems to be the major enzyme responsible for 2-AG synthesis (Tanimura et al. 2010; Yoshino et al. 2011). In contrast to the synthesis of 2-AG, which is relatively straightforward, several pathways have been suggested to be capable of synthesizing the second endocannabinoid, AEA (Fig. 5) (Di Marzo 2011). It has been shown that mice lacking NAPE-PLD (N-acylphosphatidylethanolamine-specific phospholipase D) expressed normal AEA levels, suggesting that different pathways could substitute for the loss of one enzyme pathway (Di Marzo 2011; Leung et al. 2006).

Degradation of endocannabinoids

After the endocannabinoids have activated the CB receptors in the presynaptic cells, they are quickly degraded. Several potential serine hydrolases are postulated to be responsible of their degradation (Alger 2002; Freund et al. 2003). The degradation of AEA has been shown to be accomplished through FAAH activity where AEA is hydrolyzed to ethanolamide and AA (Fig. 5). However, several enzymes are known to participate in the degradation of 2-AG to glycerol and AA (Fig. 5). MAGL is the main 2-AG hydrolase. Additionally, two recently identified hydrolases, ABHD6 and ABHD12, also have been found to hydrolyze 2-AG (Blankman et al. 2007; Blankman et al. 2013). It is not known why several enzymes should be involved in the hydrolysis of 2-AG. There is evidence that ABHD6 and MAGL have distinct distributions (Marrs et al. 2010) and it has been speculated that especially ABHD6 could be responsible for 2-AG hydrolysis in tissues and brain areas lacking MAGL (Alhouayek et al. 2014; Marrs et al. 2010; Zhao et al. 2014).



Figure 5. A simplified schematic of anandamide (A) and 2-arachidonoylglycerol (2-AG) biosynthesis (B) according to Di Marzo et al. (2011) and Fezza et al. (2014). It is notable that AA resulting from the hydrolysis of 2-AG can be converted into phospholipid precursors for anandamide biosynthesis indicating that there is an interconnection between these two biosynthetic pathways (Di Marzo 2011). Abbreviations: NArPE, *N*-arachidonoyl

phosphatidylethanolamine; NAPE-PLD, *N*-acylphosphatidylethanolamine-specific phospholipase D; LysoPLD, lysophospholipase D; Lyso-NAPE lysoarachidonoyl phosphatidylethanolamine; GDE1, glycerophosphodiesterase 1; AArG, sn-1-acyl-2arachidonoyl-glycerol; AACoA, arachidonoyl-coenzyme A

2.4 SERINE HYDROLASES AND ENDOCANNABINOID SYSTEM AS DRUG TARGETS

Today there are more proteins than functions that can be ascribed to them. There are over 20000 genes from which it has been estimated that the human genome contains about 2000-6000 drugged or druggable targets (Finan et al. 2017; Hopkins and Groom 2002; Landry and Gies 2008). This leads to the assumption that there are thousands of druggable targets waiting to be exploited for pharmaceutical use and it is likely that the majority of the serine hydrolases belong to this group. Their evident roles in many chronic diseases (Lord et al. 2012; Nomura and Casida 2016; Zechner et al. 2012) have made the serine hydrolases promising targets for therapeutic intervention.

2.4.1. Serine hydrolases as a drug target

The significant role of serine hydrolases in lipid metabolism has made them attractive drug targets for metabolic disorders and obesity. In 2013, obesity was categorized as a disease by the American Medical Association and it is well known that obesity increases the risks of many other metabolic diseases (Pollack, 2013). Obesity is a global public health problem contributing to morbidity and mortality, as well as causing deteriorations in the quality of life. The research emphasis has been in obesity and obesity-induced metabolic diseases such as cardiovascular disease, cancer and diabetes. Much effort and financial resources have been spent in searching for a drug that would cause a reduction in body weight when combined with improved eating habits and physical activity (Kim et al. 2014). Many drugs for obesity have been successfully designed, however severe side-effects have prevented there are three their use. At present, only anti-obesity drugs (Orlistat, Naltrexone/bupropion and Liraglutide) in clinical use in Europe and two more (Phentermine/topiramate extended-release and Lorcaserin) in the USA (D. K. Patel and Stanford 2018); one of them, Orlistat (trade names Alli and Xenical), acts through serine hydrolases and other lipases (Kim et al. 2014). The biologically active compound of this drug is also known as a broadly acting inhibitor of lipases, THL (Tetrahydrolipstatin). The non-specific inhibitor Orlistat targets secreted TAG lipases (pancreatic, carboxylesterase and gastric lipases) in the intestine (Nomura and Casida 2016); it inhibits TAG hydrolysis, which prevents the absorption of dietary fats leading to reduced energy intakes and eventually to weight loss.

Lipolysis offers many possibilities for drug discovery since it should be possible to target lipases acting in different phases of lipid metabolism. In fact, these possibilities have been intensively investigated and as a result, several inhibitors have been developed. One example is the ATGL inhibitor, Atgl statin, that has been shown to selectively inhibit TAG hydrolase activity in WAT resulting in a reduction of FA release both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Mayer et al. 2013). This beneficial effect revealed that ATGL was a suitable target for drug intervention of obesity and that this could be achieved with small molecules. Unfortunately, the lack of ATGL in ATGL-KO mice leads to cardiomyopathy (Haemmerle et al. 2006; Hirano 2009), and this reduced the potential interest towards ATGL as a clinical target. Since the small molecule enzyme inhibitors are neither tissue- nor function-selective, such challenges are unfortunately common with multifunctioning proteins acting in multiple tissues. All of the serine hydrolases have not been studied in detail although they have a definite importance in the (patho)physiology of lipid metabolism and cell signaling. For example, if we consider the putative regulatory role of ABHD proteins in glycerophospholipid homeostasis, and the fact that the ultimate cause of several diseases is the inflammation caused by disrupted glycerophospholipid homeostasis, then the therapeutical potential of these enzymes is undeniable.

The potential physiological functions for ABHD hydrolases are described in Table 1. Table 2. lists the ABHD hydrolases associated with diseases. It is interesting that although about half of ABHD enzymes are linked to diseases (Table 2.), their physiological function still needs to be confirmed.

Enzyme	Pathogenical role/Disease	References
ABHD2	Promotes prostate cell proliferation in mice. It is over- expressed in prostate cancer tissue and has a role in macrophage infiltration to atherosclerotic lesions	(Miller et al. 2016; Miyata et al. 2008; Obinata et al. 2016)
	Progesterone-activated endocannabinoid hydrolase stimulating sperm motility	
ABHD3	Up- or downregulated in several cancer models	(Thomas et al. 2014)
ABHD5	Loss of ABHD5 causes Chanarin Dorfman Syndrome also known as Neutral lipid storage disease (NLSD) as well as promoting colorectal tumor development and progression by reducing fatty acid oxidation and enhancing the production of growth-promoting metabolites from glycolysis.	(Igal et al. 1997; Lass et al. 2006; Lefevre et al. 2001; Ou et al. 2014)
ABHD6	Endocannabinoid hydrolase	(Blankman et al. 2007;
	Associated with obesity, metabolic syndrome, and diabetes. Participates in whole-body energy homeostasis.	Thomas et al. 2013; Zhao et al. 2014; Zhao et al. 2015; Zhao et al. 2016)
ABHD9	Hypermethylation of its promoter region has been observed in gastric cancer, prostate cancer and melanoma. Mutation of ABHD9 is predicted to lead to human autosomal recessive nonlamellar, non-erythrodermic congenital ichthyosis. Activity toward leukotoxin produces metabolites that mediate the acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS).	(Ala et al. 2008; Cottrell et al. 2007; Decker et al. 2012; Furuta et al. 2006; Lord et al. 2013; Yamashita et al. 2006)
ABHD11	One of the deleted genes in Williams-Beuren syndrome	(Merla et al. 2002)
ABHD12	Endocannabinoid hydrolase in vitro, LPS hydrolase in vivo	(Blankman et al. 2007;
	Loss of ABHD12 cause PHARC (polyneuropathy, hearing loss, ataxia, retinitis pigmentosa, and cataract) syndrome.	Blankman et al. 2013; Fiskerstrand et al. 2010)
ABHD14A	One of the deleted genes in Williams-Beuren syndrome and a gene associated with a genetically complex autism spectrum disorder	(Casey et al. 2012; Henrichsen et al. 2011; Lord et al. 2013)

Table 2. The ABHD enzymes associated with pathophysiology

If one wishes to develop successful treatments for obesity and other chronic metabolic diseases, such as diabetes and cardiovascular disease (Lord et al. 2013), it will be crucial to understand the metabolic roles of enzymes controlling the lipid metabolic network. Additionally, it will be necessary to define the physiological roles and endogenous
substrates of these poorly characterized proteins as well as pinpointing their locations in the metabolic network.

2.4.2. Inhibitors of serine hydrolases

The emerging role in lipid metabolism has expanded the interest in the ABHD family of hydrolases as drug targets (Bachovchin and Cravatt 2012). Even although some of these enzymes are targets of approved drugs, there are major reasons why it has been difficult to achieve a physiological characterization of these hydrolases i.e. the lack of a suitable enzyme activity assay and the fact that there are no selective inhibitors. From the drug discovery point of view, the stumbling block has been the poor understanding of the mechanisms underpinning lipid metabolism. To overcome this obstacle, it is essential to develop selective inhibitors which could be used to investigate these hydrolases. It is apparent that potent and selective inhibitors would represent much needed tools to increase our understanding of the basic biology of these uncharacterized enzymes and eventually to offer new targets for disease treatment. Although there has been a clear progress in developing inhibitors for serine hydrolases, often these inhibitors have either lacked selectivity or activity *in vivo*.

Four different strategies have been proved successful in the development of novel inhibitors, (Banchovchin & Cravatt 2012). 1) Inhibitors have been found through screening natural products, such as peptides/proteins, polysaccharides and small molecules; 2) optimizing lead scaffolds obtained from screening compound libraries; 3) converting endogenous substrates into inhibitors and 4) tailoring compounds which would react covalently with the serine in the active site of the enzyme.

The main problem in developing inhibitors for serine hydrolases is their similarity. Furthermore, it has proved challenging to design a drug capable of selectively inhibiting one single enzyme. Most likely, there will always be off-targets causing side-effects. Interestingly, it has been proposed that unknown enzymes may control alternative pathways regulating certain distinct conditions, which might allow interventions with fewer side-effects. For example, ABHD6 may control the hydrolysis of MAG in tissues lacking MAGL (Alhouayek et al. 2014; Marrs et al. 2010) e.g. in pancreas (Zhao et al. 2014). Therefore, inhibition of ABHD6 could be beneficial since it acts more locally as compared to the broadly-acting MAGL whose inhibition might cause more undesired effects in the whole body.

MAGL inhibitors have been proposed to be used to enhance tissue levels of endocannabinoids, lower those of eicosanoids, or even achieve both properties which could be beneficial in the treatment of several pathophysiological conditions such as pain, inflammation or mental disorders such as anxiety and depression (Cao et al. 2013). Several potent inhibitors targeting MAGL have been developed in recent years. JJKK-048 (Aaltonen et al. 2013; Aaltonen et al. 2016), JZL184 (Long, Li et al. 2009), KML29 (Chang et al. 2012) and JW651 (Chang et al. 2013) have been tested also *in vivo* in rodents and have been shown to evoke tissue specific differences in MAG metabolism. Inhibition of MAGL increased the endocannabinoid levels and displayed analgesic properties in mouse models. Additionally, the novel inhibitor, JZL184, was shown to prevent restraint stress-induced anxiety in mice (Bedse et al. 2018) emphasizing the potential of MAGL as a clinical treatment.

2.4.3. Endocannabinoid system as a drug target

Marijuana has been used for millennia and the plant *Cannabis sativa* has a long history of self-medication, especially for pain relief, although it may be better known for its hedonistic properties. The *Cannabis sativa* plant contains around 80 phytocannabinoids (Ahmed et al. 2008; Elsohly and Slade 2005); Δ^9 -tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) is its major psychoactive compound. THC is mostly responsible for the psychoactive effects mediated by CB1 receptors. The ECS is an attractive drug target because of its role in emotional functioning, cognition (e.g. learning and thinking) (Zanettini et al. 2011), as well as in the regulation of food intake and pain sensations (Huang et al. 2016). In the peripheral nervous system, it regulates the action of cardiovascular, immune, metabolic or reproductive function (Mouslech and Valla 2009).

The ECS undoubtedly participates in energy homeostasis and there seem to be promising possibilities of finding compounds acting through this lipid signaling system. One of the initial discoveries was that after pharmacological blockade of CB1 receptors, the food intake of mice was reduced (Cota et al. 2003), which led to the hypothesis that inhibition of the CB1 receptor would be a suitable treatment for obesity and subsequently several antagonists were developed. One CB1-antagonist, called rimonabant, was found to inhibit CB1 receptor activity in animal models and, after encouraging in vivo results, also in obese patients. Patients treated with rimonabant indeed showed a decrease in food intake and body weight (Cota 2007; Despres et al. 2005; Pi-Sunyer et al. 2006). The drug also improved lipid and glucose metabolism in obese patients (Cota 2007; Pi-Sunyer et al. 2006) and had a positive impact on cardiovascular risk factors (Pacher and Kunos 2013; Pi-Sunyer et al. 2006). These positive impacts were considered sufficiently useful that rimonabant was released as an anti-obesity drug into the European market in 2006. Despite the benefits, rimonabant was withdrawn from the European market in 2009 because of its psychiatric side-effects. Clinical trials targeting ECS for diabetes and pain were performed as well. However, they all failed due to the cardiovascular and metabolic side-effects (Pacher and Kunos 2013).

The greatest challenge in developing drugs modulating CB1 receptors is finding ways to avoid their psychotropic effects. Several strategies have been proposed to overcome this challenge e.g. by focusing on selective either activation or inactivation of CB2 receptors (Pacher et al. 2006) or CB1 receptors in the periphery instead of CNS. The psychotropic side-effects have also driven the research focus away from modulating receptors towards the enzymes controlling and regulating endocannabinoid signaling since this approach is expected to be associated with minimal side-effects. The blockade of 2-AG hydrolysis has provided beneficial effects *in vivo* without severe side-effects (Blankman and Cravatt 2013; Lambert and Fowler 2005; Saario and Laitinen 2007).

Several pharmaceutical companies have conducted clinical trials targeting the enzymes regulating endocannabinoid signaling and several FAAH inhibitors have undergone clinical trials. Excluding the BIA 10-2474 trial that led to death of one volunteer and affected five participants (MacDonald 2016), the conclusions emerging from three clinical trials is that the FAAH inhibitors are well tolerated and have not been associated with the adverse effects commonly encountered with exogenous cannabis (Mallet et al. 2016). However, these trials have been halted because of the lack of useful clinical effects as well as precautions after the disaster of the BIA 10-2474 trial. Abide Therapeutics has initiated new clinical trials with the MAGL inhibitor ABX-1431 for the treatment of pain and neuroinflammatory diseases.

3 Aims of the study

Their predicted role in lipid metabolism has made the ABHD hydrolases interesting drug targets. Despite their potential, the uncertainties surrounding their physiological function as well as the lack of endogenous substrates and suitable enzyme activity assays have slowed down the development of novel inhibitors of these enzymes (Bachovchin and Cravatt 2012; Lord et al. 2013). The aims of this thesis were to

- I. Explore regional CB1 receptor-mediated signaling in MAGL-KO mice brain.
- II. Better characterize ABHD6 and ABHD12, two proteins with postulated roles as endocannabinoid hydrolases, by determining their substrate and inhibitor preferences in comparison to MAGL, a well-characterized endocannabinoid hydrolase.
- III. Investigate ABHD11 and to undertake activity-based approaches to discover inhibitors for this poorly-characterized enzyme. To achieve aims 2 and 3, it was necessary to develop a sensitive cell-based enzyme activity assay and to discover inhibitors and substrates for these hydrolases.

4 Experimental procedures

4.1 MATERIALS

The materials utilized in this study are summarized in Tables 3-10. More information can be found in the original publications (I-III). All chemicals were of the highest purity available.

Name	Description	Source	Original publications
MAFP	Broadly acting serine hydrolase inhibitor Methyl arachidonoylfluorophosphonate	Cayman Chemicals	I, II
IDFP	Isopropyl dodecylfluorophosphonate	Cayman Chemicals	II
HDSF	Hexadecane-1-sulfonylfluoride	Calbiochem	II
WWL70	ABHD6 inhibitor [4-(4-carbamoylphenyl)phenyl] N-methyl-N- [(3-pyridin-4-ylphenyl) methyl] carbamate	Cayman Chemicals	Ш
Palmostatin B	Non-specific LYPLA1 inhibitor	Calbiochem	III
URB597	FAAH inhibitor cyclohexylcarbamic acid 3'- carbamoylbiphenyl-3-yl ester	Cayman Chemicals	III
ML211	ABHD11, LYPLA1 and LYPLA2 inhibitor	Cayman Chemicals	III
RHC 80267	DAG lipase inhibitor	Biomol	II
AM251	CB1 antagonist N-(Piperidin-1-yl)-5-(4-iodophenyl)-1-(2,4- dichlorophenyl)-4-methyl-1H-pyrazole-3- carboxamide	Tocris Cookson Ltd.	Ι
CP55,940	CB1/CB2 agonist (-)-3-[2-hydroxy-4-(1,1-dimethylheptyl)- nhenyl]-4-[3-hydroxypropyl]cyclohexan-1-ol	Tocris Cookson Ltd. Bristol,UK	I

Table 3. Commercial hydrolase inhibitors and receptor agonists/antagonists

Table 4. Chemicals

			Original
Name	Description	Source	publications
TAMRA-FP	ActivX Fluorophosphonate Probes	Thermo Fisher	II, III
		Scientific	,
DTT	Dithiothreitol	Sigma	I
DPCPX	8-Cyclopentyl-1,3-dipropylxanthine	Sigma	Ι
GDP	Guanosine diphosphate	Sigma	Ι
[35C]CTD/C	[³⁵ S]GTPyS initial specific activity 1250	NEN Life Science	т
[³³ S]GIPYS	(Ci/mmol)	Products Inc.	1
AEA-d8	Arachidonoylethanolamide-d8	Cayman Chemicals	Ι
2-AG-d8	2-Arachidonoyl glycerol-d8	Cayman Chemicals	I
X-tremeGENE Hp	DNA Transfection reagent	Roche	II, III

			Original
Name	Description	Source	publications
2-AG	2-Arachidonoylglycerol [C20:4]	Cayman Chemical	II, III
1-OG	1-Oleoylglycerol [C18:0]	Sigma	II, III
2-0G	2-Oleoylglycerol [C18:0]	Sigma	II, III
1-LG	1-Lauroyl-rac-glycerol [C12:0]	Sigma	II, III
2-LG	2-Lauroyl-rac-glycerol [C12:0]	Cayman Chemical	II, III
1-CG	1-Capryloyl-rac-glycerol [C8:0]	Sigma	II, III
1-DG	1-Decanoyl-rac-glycerol [C10:0]	Sigma	II
1-LaurG	1-Lauroyl-rac-glyserol [12:0]	Sigma	II, III
1-MG	1-Myristoyl-rac-glycerol [C14:0]	Sigma	II
2-PG	2-Palmitoyl-rac-glycerol [C16:0]	Tocris	II
1-SG	1-Stearoyl-rac-glycerol [C18:0]	Sigma	II, III
15-deoxy-PGJ2-	15-deoxy-∆12,14-Prostaglandin J2-2-		TT
2GE	glycerol ester	Cayman Chemical	11
PGE2-1GE	Prostaglandin E2 -1-glyceryl ester	Cayman Chemicals	II
PGD2-1GE	Prostaglandin D2 -1-glyceryl ester	Cayman Chemicals	II
PGF2 α -1GE	Prostaglandin F2 -1-glyceryl ester	Cayman Chemicals	II
LPA	1-Oleoyl(C18:1)- <i>sn</i> -glycero-3-phosphate	Sigma	II
DOG	1,2-Dioleoyl-rac-glycerol (DAG)	Cayman Chemicals	II, III
TOG	Glyceryl trioleate	Sigma	II, III
POLG	1-Palmitoyl-2-oleoyl-3-linoleoyl-rac-glycerol	Cayman Chemicals	II, III
-	Acetyl Coenzyme A	Sigma	III
-	Arachidonoyl Coenzyme A	Avanti Polar Lipids	III

Table 5. Commercial substrates

4.2 METHODS

4.2.1 Animals and tissue preparations

Animals (I & III)

The tissues were dissected from the animals described in Table 6; these were supplied by the National Laboratory Animal Centre (University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio, Finland). Approval for harvesting of the animal tissues was obtained from the animal welfare officer of the University of Eastern Finland. No *in vivo* treatments were conducted in these studies.

Table 6. Rodents		
Animal	Source	Original publication
4-week-old male Wistar	National Laboratory Animal Centre	TT
rats	(University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio, Finland)	11
4-month-old mice	National Laboratory Animal Centre	
	(University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio, Finland)	111
14-week-old MAGL-KO	Taschler et al. 2011)	т
mice	(University of Graz, Graz, Austria)	1

Harvesting tissues (I & III)

Animals were decapitated and whole brains were dissected within 5 minutes, dipped in isopentane, chilled on dry ice and stored at – 80 °C. Tissues were harvested immediately after brain dissection. After a brief rinse in 0.9 % NaCl, the dissected tissues were frozen on dry ice and stored at – 80 °C until use.

The generation of the MAGL-KO mice has been described by Taschler et al. (2011). Breeding of MAGL-KO animals was approved by the Ethics committee of the University of Graz, the Austrian Federal Ministry of Science and Research, and is in accordance with the council of European Convention (ETS 123). Fourteen-week-old animals were anaesthetized with IsoFlo/Isoflurane and euthanized by cervical dislocation and whole brains were dissected as described above.

Preparation of mouse/rat whole brain membranes (I & III)

A glass Teflon homogenizer was used to mechanically homogenize frozen brains in Trisbuffer (50 mM Tris–HCl [pH 7.4], 150 mM NaCl) after which the homogenized brains were centrifuged at low speed (1000 x g, 10 min, +4 °C) and then the supernatant was centrifuged at high speed (145000 × g, 45 min +4 °C). The pellet was resuspended in Tris buffer followed by sonication and centrifuged at high speed (145000 × g, 45 min +4 °C). The pellet was resuspended in Tris buffer followed by sonication and centrifuged at high speed (145000 × g, 45 min, +4 °C) with the washing step being repeated. The final pellet (membrane proteome) was resuspended in Tris buffer and aliquoted for storage at -80 °C. Pierce BCA Protein Assay Kit was used to determine the protein concentration with bovine serum albumin (BSA) as a standard.

Preparation of mouse brain cryosections (I)

A Leica cryostat was used to cut horizontal brain sections (20 μ m) at -20 °C and then the sections were thaw-mounted onto Superfrost Plus slides (Menzel-Gläser, Braunschweig, Germany). Brain sections were started to be collected at the interaural level of 6.90 mm of the brain rat atlas of Paxinos and Watson, 1998). Cutting was ended at the interaural level of 6.14 mm or interaural 4.18 mm (Paxinos and Watson, 1998). Ten slides, each having three consecutive brain sections were collected. Twenty-five slides, each having five brain sections, were collected for the endocannabinoid analysis. Brain sections were dried at room temperature (RT) for 1–2 h under a constant stream of air and stored at -80 °C until use.

Isolating mitochondria from mice tissues (III)

Mitochondria were purified as previously described (Reyes et al. 2005). Briefly, fresh mouse tissues were homogenized in Tris-buffer (50 mM Tris–HCl [pH 7.4], 150 mM NaCl) and centrifuged ($1000 \times g$, 10 min, +4 °C). The mitochondrial pellets were re-suspended in ice-cold PBS and briefly sonicated, followed by centrifugation at $100,000 \times g$, 45 min, +4 °C. The pellet was resuspended and centrifugation was repeated. The resulting pellets were resuspended in PBS and aliquoted for storage at -80 °C. Protein concentrations were determined with the Pierce BCA Protein Assay Kit (Pierce, Rockford, IL) using BSA as a standard. Enrichment of mitochondrial outer membrane transporter (TOMM20) in the pellets was verified using Western Blot.

4.2.2 Functional [³⁵S]GTPγS autoradiography experiments (I)

Functional [³⁵S]GTP γ S autoradiography was used to explore brain regional CB1 receptordependent G_{1/0} protein activity as previously described (Aaltonen et al. 2014; Palomaki and Laitinen 2006; Palomaki et al. 2007). Shortly, this three-step assay protocol was performed at RT in a Tris-based assay buffer (50mM Tris–HCl, pH 7.4, 1 mM EDTA, 100 mM NaCl, and 5 mM MgCl₂). The protocol consisted of a pre-incubation for 20 min (step 1), GDPloading for 60 min (step 2) with 10 μ M methylarachidonylfluorophosphonate (MAFP) in DMSO to prevent MAGL-dependent hydrolysis of 2-AG (Saario et al. 2004; Savinainen et al. 2003) or with vehicle (DMSO), and [³⁵S]GTP γ S labeling for 90 min using ~50 pM of [³⁵S]GTP γ S (step 3). In step 3, the brain sections were incubated with the cannabinoid agonist CP55,940 and the antagonist/inverse agonist AM251 at the indicated concentrations or with vehicle. In each experiment, 10 μ M GTP γ S was used to determine non-specific binding.

4.2.3 LC/MS/MS analysis of endocannabinoid levels (I)

To obtain comparable results with functional [${}^{35}S$]GTP γS autoradiography experiments, triplicate slides each with five horizontal brain sections underwent a three-step autoradiography assessment mimicking the protocol described by Aaltonen et al. (2014). Additionally, endocannabinoid levels were determined from unprocessed slides, which did not go through the autoradiography mimicking protocol (three slides/genotype).

Brain sections were treated with 10 μ M of the broad-spectrum serine hydrolase inhibitor MAFP (methyl arachidonoylfluorophosphonate) (Fig. 8) or vehicle (DMSO) for 60 min (step 2) and thereafter for 90 min (step 3) in the assay buffer. Endocannabinoid extraction from tissue and assay buffer was performed as previously described (Aaltonen et al. 2014; Lehtonen et al. 2011).

4.2.4 Generation of recombinant protein lysates and membranes (II & III)

Cell culturing of HEK293, LNCaP, VCaP and PC3 (III)

All cell lines were grown in a humified atmosphere of 5 % CO₂/ 95 % air at + 37 °C with the medium described in Table 7; supplemented with 10 % of FBS, 25 U/ml penicillin and 25 μ g/ml streptomycin.

			Original
Cell line	Cell culturing media	Source	publication
HEK293	DMEM	Euroclone	II, III
LNCaP	RPMI1640	Gibco	III
VCaP	DMEM	Euroclone	III
PC3	F-12 Nut Mix medium	Gibco	III

Table 7. Cell lines and cell culturing media used

Cells over-expressing the gene of interest

HEK293 cells were transiently transfected with plasmids containing either WT cDNA (ABHD6, ABHD11, ABHD12, MAGL, LYPLA and AFMID), mutant cDNA (ABHD6 mutants S148A; D278A/E/N; H306A/S/Y; and ABHD12 mutants S246A; D333N; H372A) or empty control vector (Mock) (Table 8.) according to the manufacturer's instructions using the X-tremeGENE Hp DNA Transfection reagent. For transfection, HEK293 cells were cultured in DMEM and 10 % FBS without antibiotics. Untransfected HEK293 and/or mock-transfected cells (transfected with empty vector) were cultured in parallel for controlling the expression and activity in later experiments.

Table 8. cDNAs and prin	mers used for mutating	the catalytical triad
-------------------------	------------------------	-----------------------

Name	Description	Source	Original publication
pCMV6-AC- hABHD6	Expression vector for ABHD6	Origene Technologies	II
pCMV6-XL4- hABHD12	Expression vector for ABHD12	Origene Technologies	II
pCMV6-XL- hABHD11	Expression vector for ABHD11	Origene Technologies	III
pCMV6-XL5- hMAGL	Expression vector for MAGL	Origene Technologies	II
pCMV6-XL5- hLYPLA2	Expression vector for LYPLA	Origene Technologies	III
pMCV-Entry- hAFMID	Expression vector for AFMID	Origene Technologies	III

Harvesting cells (II & III)

Cell were harvested by washing the cells twice with ice-cold PBS after which the cells were scraped and pelleted at $250 \times g$, $10 \min$, + 4°C.

Preparation of cell lysates and membranes (II & III)

After harvesting of the cells, either cell lysates or cell membranes were prepared. To generate cell lysates, cell pellets were three times freeze-thawed, resuspended in ice-cold PBS and briefly sonicated before storage at –80 °C.

Cell membranes were prepared by resuspending the cell pellet in ice-cold PBS, followed by a brief sonication and centrifugation at 100,000 × g, 45 min, +4 °C. The pellet was resuspended in ice-cold PBS by a brief sonication and aliquoted for storage at -80 °C. Protein concentrations were measured with the Pierce BCA Protein Assay Kit (Pierce, Rockford, IL) using BSA as a standard.

Generation of SH-triplet (III)

To facilitate inhibitor screening, a serine hydrolase (SH)-triplet preparation was generated by pooling cell lysates of AFMID, ABHD11, LYPLA2. The SH-triplet contained 1 mg/ml of each HEK293 cell lysate overexpressing the SH of interest.

4.2.5 Site-directed mutagenesis of the postulated catalytic triads (II)

In site-directed mutagenesis, we introduced mutations in plasmids pCMV6-AC-hABHD6, pCMV6-XL4-hABHD12, and pCMV6-XL5-hMAGL transcript variant 1 [313 amino acid residues] to generate ABHD6 mutants S148A, D278A/E/N, and H306A/S/Y, and ABHD12 mutants S246A, D333N, and H372A. Mutagenesis was performed as described before (Laitinen et al. 2014) with the QuikChange® Site-Directed Mutagenesis Kit following the manufacturer's instructions using the primers defined in Table 9. Mutated DNA was transformed into competent bacterial *E. coli* cells. Plasmid DNA was isolated and purified with the Qiagen plasmid purifying kit. The sequences of the constructs were verified by fully sequencing the purified plasmids. The plasmids were transiently transfected into HEK293 cells as detailed in section 4.2.1.

			Original
Name	Description	Source	publication
Fwd: S246A			
primer for ABHD12	5'- CATCTGGGGCCACGCTCTGGGCACTGGCG-3'	Oligomer	II
Rev: S246A			
primer for ABHD12	5'- CGCCAGTGCCCAGAGCGTGGCCCCAGATG-3'	Oligomer	II
Fwd: D333N			
primer for ABHD12	5'-GCACGCTGAGGACAACCCGGTGGTGCCC-3'	Oligomer	II
Rev: D333N			
primer for ABHD12	5'-GGGCACCACCGGGTTGTCCTCAGCGTGC-3'	Oligomer	II
Fwd: H372A			
primer for ABHD12	5'-CCTTGGCTACAGGGCCAAATACATTTACAAGAGCCC-3'	Oligomer	II
Rev: H372A			
primer for ABHD12	5'-GGGCTCTTGTAAATGTATTTGGCCCTGTAGCCAAGG-3'	Oligomer	II

Table 9. Primers used for mutating the catalytical triad of ABHD6 and ABHD12

Fwd: S148A primer for ABHD6	5'-CCTGGTAGGCACCGCCATGGGTGGCCAGG-3'	Oligomer	II
Rev: S148A primer for ABHD6	5'-CCTGGCCACCCATGGCGGTGCCTACCAGG-3'	Oligomer	II
Fwd: D278N primer for ABHD6	5'-GGGGGAAACAAAACCAGGTGCTGGATGTG-3'	Oligomer	II
Rev: D278N primer for ABHD6	5'-CACATCCAGCACCTGGTTTTGTTTCCCCC-3'	Oligomer	II
Fwd: H306A primer for ABHD6	5'-CTGGAAAACTGTGGGGCCTCAGTAGTGATGGAAAG-3'	Oligomer	II
Rev: H306A primer for ABHD6	5'-CTTTCCATCACTACTGAGGCCCCACAGTTTTCCAG-3'	Oligomer	п

4.2.6 Western Blotting (II & III)

Western blotting was used to verify the expression level of WT and mutant hABHD6/12 in cell lysates, as well as to confirm the enrichment of mitochondria. Cell lysates or cell membranes (20-50 µg of total protein), with molecular weight markers, were separated by SDS-PAGE (10% gels) and transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes. Nonspecific binding was blocked by incubating the nitrocellulose membranes with Tris-buffered saline containing 0.1% Tween (TBS-T) and 0.5% (w/v) BSA for 1 h at RT. This was followed by overnight incubation at +4°C with the appropriate primary antibody diluted in 0.5% BSA-TBS-T. After washing the nitrocellulose membranes with TBS-T, they were incubated with a suitable secondary antibody diluted in 0.5% BSA-TBS-T (dilution factor 1: 10,000-1: 30,000) for 1 h at RT. After the final washes with TBS-T, the signals were visualized with Odyssey infrared scanner (Li-Cor Biosciences Inc., Lincoln, NB). The membranes were stripped using Tris-buffered saline containing 0.1% Tween (TBS-T) and 0.5% (w/v) BSA for 1 h at RT after which enzyme expression was normalized against the expression of β -actin or β tubulin with otherwise identical incubation conditions. Immunoblots were visualized by Odyssey and quantified using ImageJ, freely available Java-based image analysis software (<u>https://imagej.nih.gov/ij/</u>).

4.2.7 Enzyme activity assays (II & III)

Fluorescent based glycerol assays for enzyme activity determination

Enzyme activity in fluorescence-based glycerol assay was determined in a 96-well plate format (*II & III*). Briefly, MAGs were first hydrolyzed by the hydrolases e.g. MAGL, ABHD6 or ABHD12 to free FA and glycerol. The liberated glycerol was then converted by three enzymes glycerol-1-phosphatase (G-1-P), glycerol kinase (GK) and glycerol phosphate oxidase (GPO) to produce H₂O₂, which in the presence of horseradish peroxidase (HRP) converts Amplifu TM Red into the fluorescent product, resorufin (Fig. 6). The fluorescence was monitored kinetically with a Tecan Infinite M200 plate reader (Tecan Group Ltd., Männedorf, Switzerland) using excitation and emission wavelengths of 530 and 590 nm, respectively.

This method was used to test substrate preference (*II & III*) for endocannabinoid hydrolases and ABHD11 by kinetically monitoring glycerol production individually for each of the

HEK293 cell lysates over-expressing the enzyme of interest. Each enzyme was incubated individually (0.3 μ g of protein) in the assay mixes (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.40; 5 mM MgCl2; 1 mM EDTA, 100 mM NaCl with 0.5 % w/v BSA and 10 mM ATP) containing the substrate and the coupling enzymes (HRP 200 U/ml; GPO 200 U/ml; GK (200 U/ml). Several substrates including mono-, di-, or triglycerides or LPA (25 μ M final concentration) with varying acyl chain lengths and saturations, (detailed in Tables 4 and 10) were tested. For each tested substrate, assay blanks without enzyme, cellular background (HEK293/Mock cell lysates), and a glycerol quality control sample (520 pmol) were included to monitor assay performance. Fluorescence of the assay blank was subtracted before calculating the final results. The amount of glycerol in each well was calculated based on a glycerol standard (520 pmol).

Functional paranitrophenol assay (III)

Paranitrophenol (pNP) assay was adapted and modified from Muccioli et al. (2008) and Kakugawa et al. (2015). Briefly, enzyme preparations were first diluted followed by incubation with chromogenic substrates containing pNP (Table 10.).

Name	Description	Source	Original publication	
pNPC2	4-Nitrophenyl acetate	Sigma	III	
pNPC4	4-Nitrophenyl butyrate	Sigma	III	
pNPC8	4-Nitrophenyl octanoate	Sigma	III	
pNPC10	4-Nitrophenyl decanoate	Sigma	III	
pNCP12	4-Nitrophenyl dodecanoate	Sigma	III	
pNAA	p-Nitroacetanilide	Sigma	III	
pNPP	p-Nitrophenyl phosphate	Sigma	III	
pNPCC	O-(4-Nitrophenylphophoryl)choline	Santa Cruz	III	
pNPS	Potassium 4-Nitrophenyl sulfate	Sigma	III	

Table 10. Chromogenic substrates

The absorbance of the liberated pNP moiety (λ 405 nm) after the hydrolysis of the chromogenic substrate was kinetically monitored using a Tecan Infinite M200 plate reader (Tecan Group Ltd., Männedorf, Switzerland). The amount of pNP in the wells was calculated based on a pNP standard.

Acyl-CoA hydrolase assay (III)

The Acyl-CoA hydrolase assay was used to study whether the ABHD11 could hydrolyze acyl-CoAs. The protocol was adapted and modified from a previous publication (Hunt et al., 2006). Briefly, lysates of HEK293 cells and ABHD11-HEK293 cells (2 µg/well) were incubated in the assay buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4; 5 mM MgCl2; 100 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA. The assay buffer contained additionally 0.1% (w/v) fatty acid-free BSA together with either oleoyl-CoA or arachidonoyl-CoA at final concentrations of 25, 50 or 100 µM. The assay was performed in a 96-well-plate with a total volume of 200 µl/well. Hydrolysis of the acyl-CoA species liberated CoA-SH which reacted with DTNB (5,5'-dithiobis -2-nitrobenzoic acid, 500 µM final concentration). The reaction generated 2-nitro-5-mercaptobenzoic acid (NMBA) whose absorbance was colorimetrically monitored at RT for 30 min (λ 410 nm). NMBA standard that was prepared by combining 10 nmol GSH + 100 nmol DTNB per well was used to calculate the amount of NMBA in wells.

4.2.8 Competitive activity-based protein profiling (ABPP) (I-III)

ABPP was performed using the serine hydrolase specific (Simon and Cravatt 2010) fluorophosphonate probe, TAMRA-FP following the outlines of a previously published methodology (Blankman et al. 2007). Shortly, 3.75-25 μ g (SH triplet) or 100 μ g protein in

total volume of 25 µl of either cell lysates or tissue homogenates were preincubated with 0.5 µl of the indicated inhibitors and the concentration or a vehicle (DMSO) for 1 h at RT. Then, serine hydrolases were labeled with 0.5 µl of 100 µM TAMRA-FP for 1 h at RT and the reaction was stopped by adding 2 × SDS-loading buffer. Samples together with molecular weight standards were separated by SDS-PAGE (10% gels; 82 x 82 mm or 70 x200 mm) and visualized by in-gel fluorescent gel scanning with Fujifilm FLA-3000 laser fluorescence scanner (Fujifi lm, Tokyo, Japan) (λ_{ex} 532 nm; λ_{em} 580 nm).

4.2.9 Seahorse (III)

In order to determine potential mitochondrial linkage of ABHD11, the Seahorse XF24 extracellular flux analyser (Seahorse Bioscience Inc) was used to determine the cellular oxygen consumption rate (OCR) and the extracellular acidification rate (ECAR) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Between 20000 – 50000 LNCaP cells per well were seeded in a Seahorse XF 24-well assay and incubated overnight at + 37°C and 5 % CO₂ in DMEM with 10 % of FBS. The cells were treated with 10-100 nM of JZP-245 or 100 nM of FAAH inhibitor URB597 inhibitors for 30 min - 20h, after which the medium was washed and replaced with prewarmed running medium (XF-medium (Seahorse Bioscience) supplemented with 1 mM sodium pyruvate and 25 mM glucose, pH 7.4) and then incubated for 60 min in an incubator at 37 °C without CO₂. After recording the basal level of OCR and ECAR, the cells were subjected to a mitochondrial stress using 1 μ M oligomycin, 1.5 μ M FCCP and 1 μ M antimycin A. Cells were lysed after measurements and protein content was determined using BCA Assay (Pierce).

5 Main Results and Discussion

5.1. ALTERNATIVE SERINE HYDROLASES REGULATE 2-AG HYDROLYSIS IN MAGL DEFICIENT MICE BRAIN SECTIONS (I)

Endocannabinoids are lipid neuromodulators; their inactivation, which is mainly performed by FAAH and MAGL, terminates endocannabinoid signaling. Both pharmacological (Lichtman et al. 2004) and genetic (Cravatt et al. 2001) inhibition of FAAH increases the levels of the endogenous substrate, AEA. This leads to various behavioral effects, such as analgesia and a reduction of inflammation, depression and anxiety, mediated by both CB receptors (Cravatt et al. 2001; Lichtman et al. 2004) without affecting the functionality or the number of CB1/2 receptors. On the contrary, the increase in 2-AG levels caused by chronic pharmacological inhibition of MAGL affected CB1 receptor signaling in mice, but evoked no CB1-dependent behavioral effects (Chanda et al. 2010; Schlosburg et al. 2010).

Several research groups (Chanda et al. 2010; Taschler et al. 2011; Zhong et al. 2011) have generated MAGL-KO mice. These mice have revealed the major role of MAGL as a controller of MAG levels, especially in the brain (Chanda et al. 2010; Schlosburg et al. 2010; Zhong et al. 2011), but also in liver and adipose tissue (Taschler et al. 2011). In the first study (I), we utilized functional autoradiography to investigate the possible alterations of CB1 receptor activation in global MAGL-KO mice brain sections. This study provided a direct evidence of reduced regional CB1 receptor activity in several brain regions in MAGL-KO mice brain sections. The results were consistent with those reported after chronic pharmacological blockade of MAGL (Schlosburg et al., 2010).

The LC/MS/MS analysis of 2-AG levels from MAGL-KO mice showed elevated 2-AG levels compared to WT mice brain sections. As observed here and in previous studies (Chanda et al. 2010; Schlosburg et al. 2010), the excess amounts of 2-AG resulted in tonic activation of receptors, MAGL-KO mice lacked the CB1 receptor-mediated CB1 so-called cannabimimetic effects (Chanda et al. 2010). In our experiments, MAGL-KO mice showed a reduced CB1 receptor activity in brain which is presumably a compensatory response to the excessive levels of 2-AG. The desensitization of CB1 receptors most likely accounts for the lack of CB1-mediated effects which is opposite to FAAH-KO mice that have an unaltered amount of CB1 receptors when compared to WT mice (Cravatt et al. 2001; Falenski et al. 2010) and normal CB1 receptor function (Schlosburg et al. 2010). Hence, these mice display CB1 and CB2 receptor-mediated behavioral effects. Several possibilities may explain these differences. One possibility could be in the efficacy of these endocannabinoids: 2-AG acts as a full agonist at the CB1 receptors whereas AEA is a partial agonist (Hillard 2000) which could presumably lead to different responses in the presence of excessive levels of endocannabinoids. Another possibility could be attributable to the different anatomical distribution of these enzymes (Schlosburg et al. 2010) i.e. MAGL acts in presynaptic neurones while FAAH functions mainly postsynaptically.

MAFP is a broadly acting serine hydrolase inhibitor (Hoover et al. 2008); it is known to block virtually all 2-AG hydrolase activity in brain tissue (Saario et al. 2004). Interestingly, treating MAGL-KO brain sections with MAFP increased 2-AG levels in MAGL-KO mice brain sections. The observed increase in 2-AG levels in MAGL-KO brain sections implies that there are additional serine hydrolases capable of regulating 2-AG levels. In view of this finding, the potential compensatory alterations of serine hydrolases in MAGL-KO mice brain were explored using ABPP. The serine hydrolase pattern of MAGL-KO in mouse brain and WT mice brain was compared but, with the exception of MAGL, no changes were observed in the activity of the enzyme between WT and MAGL-KO mice brain. Several groups have explored the up-regulation of enzymes capable of hydrolyzing 2-AG in MAGL-KO mice. Nonetheless, no evidence of up-regulation of ABHD6, ABHD12 (Taschler et al. 2011; Zhong et al. 2011) or HSL (Taschler et al. 2011) has been found; nor have any alterations been detected in the activity of FAAH or of ABHD6 (Chanda et al. 2010; Pan et al. 2011; Schlosburg et al. 2010) which is in line with our result.

Taken together, the results of this study support the hypothesis that excess levels of 2-AG caused by inhibition of MAGL evoke tolerance and compensatory effects, such as desensitization of CB1 receptors. The increase in the 2-AG levels caused by MAFP in MAGL-KO mice brain sections indicates that alternative hydrolases regulate the hydrolysis of the endocannabinoid 2-AG in MAGL-KO mice brain sections. Because of the unaltered expression or activation levels, it has been postulated that putative additional 2-AG hydrolases such as FAAH, HSL, ABHD6 and ABHD12 (Blankman et al. 2007) and possibly some other unknown enzymes must be involved in controlling the elevated levels of 2-AG caused by the MAGL deficiency. Thus, it would be beneficial to learn more about these enzymes and to explore endocannabinoid hydrolases in more detail but for these tasks, we need specific enzyme activity assays.

5.2 FLUORESCENCE-BASED HYDROLASE ACTIVITY ASSAY FOR ENDOCANNABINOID HYDROLASES (II)

Study II focused on developing and optimizing a sensitive fluorescent enzyme activity assay utilizing the HTS platform. The assay was developed for characterizing two postulated endocannabinoid hydrolases (ABHD6 and ABHD12) in comparison to the well-established 2-AG hydrolyzing MAGL. The principle of this assay is described in Fig. 6.



Figure 6. Principle of the fluorescence-based glycerol assay. In the fluorescence-based glycerol assay, the enzyme activity (1) was determined by measuring the glycerol liberated from the hydrolysis of glycerolipid substrates. The glycerol production was coupled via a three-step enzymatic cascade (2-4) to hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) dependent generation of resorufin whose fluorescence (λ_{ex} 530; λ_{em} 590 nm) was kinetically monitored using a fluorescent plate reader.

At first, the linearity of the fluorescence-based glycerol assay was evaluated; it was noted that the assay detects glycerol linearly in the concentration range 0-520 pmol/well at all measured time points (0-90 min). Next, the protein- and time-dependent (0.3 μ g/well of protein) glycerol response was tested using the HEK293 cell lysates individually overexpressing ABHD6, ABHD12 or MAGL. These variables were linear at all tested protein concentrations and at all time-points. The repeatability was ensured by monitoring the substrate consumption in every experiment. To ensure that there was a sufficient substrate concentration as well as a linear velocity of the reaction, experiments were conducted in conditions where less than 10 % of the substrate (2-AG) was consumed. Finally, the optimal protein concentration was tested; the optimal signal-to-noise ratio was determined to be as low as 0.3 μ g of total protein/well, showing to be an extremely sensitive assay.

5.2.1 Kinetic measurements

After the optimal assay conditions were established, the assay was used to determine the kinetic parameters of ABHD6 and ABHD12. MAGL was used as a control and 2-AG as the substrate. The results of kinetic values obtained from these studies are listed in Table 13. together with the kinetic parameters found in the literature. It must be noted that the kinetic parameters determined here were obtained using cellular lysates whereas the parameters gathered from the literature have been mostly determined using purified enzymes. Even though the lysate background activity is minimized, some cellular background activity was present, compromising the accuracy of the K_m determination. Despite this, the kinetic parameters obtained with MAGL using 2-AG as a substrate fell in the range of reported K_m values (Table 13.). In the parallel incubation, the K_m values for ABHD6 and ABHD12 were ~160 μ M and ~120 μ M, respectively. It was noticed that the Km value obtained for ABHD6 (~160 μ M) was higher compared to the K_m value of MAGL (110 μ M), indicating that under these particular conditions, ABHD6 displayed lower affinity for 2-AG. The same observation was also reported with 1,3-oleyl glycerol (1(3)-OG) (Thomas et al. 2013), implying that ABHD6 could have a lower affinity towards MAG in general, which is in accordance with the belief that MAGL is the predominant MAG hydrolase. Recently, ABHD6 has been reported to hydrolyze BMP (bis(monoacylglycerol)phosphate) (Pripasnig et al. 2015). In the same study, Pripasnig et al. (2015) reported K_m values around 1 mM for three substrates i.e. BMP, MAG and LPG.

5.2.2 ABHD6 and ABHD12 act as genuine MAG lipases

MAGL is mostly responsible for hydrolyzing MAG in many tissues. Blankman et al. (2007) showed that ABHD6 and ABHD12 can also hydrolyze 2-AG. In order to assess whether these enzymes hydrolyze other related substrates, the substrate profiles of ABHD6, ABHD12 and MAGL were determined using the optimized fluorescence-based glycerol assay. The substrate preferences were tested using a panel of natural MAG, DAG, TAG or fatty acid amide substrates with varying acyl chain lengths and saturations (Table 11.). All three enzymes showed only minimal activity towards DAG, TAG (Fig. 7) or fatty acid amides. Based on the substrate profiling, the three hydrolases acted as genuine MAG lipases whereas ABHD6 and MAGL preferred medium-chain saturated MAGs. Interestingly, with the tested substrates, MAGL did not show any preferences between 2-isomer or 1(3)-isomer whereas ABHD6 clearly preferred the 1(3)-isomer (Fig. 7). Screening demonstrated a similar substrate preference profile for ABHD6 and MAGL (Fig. 7) which could indicate related functions. The role of ABHD6 as an omnivorous MAG hydrolase was in support of the results published by Thomas et al. (2013) who reported that ABHD6 could hydrolyze several lipid substrates *in vitro*, including lysophospholipids. Lately, there has

been accumulating evidence favoring the role of ABHD6 as a MAG lipase (Alhouayek et al. 2013; Thomas et al. 2013; Zhao et al. 2014; Zhao et al. 2016), participating in glycerophospholipid metabolism (Thomas et al. 2013). It has also been reported that ABHD6 hydrolyzes BMP (Pribasnig et al. 2015), which is highly expressed in intraluminal vesicles of late endosomes. In that study, the authors suggested that ABHD6 controlled BMP hydrolysis and could be a part of the late endosomal/lysosomal sorting machinery.



Figure 7. Substrate profile of human endocannabinoid hydrolases. ABHD6 and MAGL seem to have a similar substrate profile whereas ABHD12 has a distinct profile compared to ABHD6.

Unlike ABHD6 and MAGL, ABHD12 preferred 1/2-AG as a substrate (Fig. 7), more precisely its isomer 1(3)-AG and similar to ABHD6, also ABHD12 preferred 1(3)-isomers of the tested substrates. The role of ABHD12 controlling endocannabinoid signaling seems to be controversial. ABHD12 is known to degrade 2-AG (Blankman et al. 2007), and based on this feature, ABHD12 has often been associated with the ECS. Interestingly, ABHD12-KO mice have normal 2-AG levels in brain (Blankman et al. 2013) indicating an alternative *in vivo* role for ABHD12. Nonetheless, in a recent publication, an increase in the extracellular 2-AG levels was observed in microglia but not in neurons or astrocytes of the ABHD12-KO mice which indicates that ABHD12 may control extracellular levels of 2-AG (Viader et al. 2016). More studies are needed before any conclusions can be drawn about the role of ABHD12 in ECS.

Very little is known about the inscrutable enzyme ABHD12. It seems likely that ABHD12 has other functions in addition to its connection to ECS. Despite its distinct role compared to ABHD6, Pribasnig et al. (2015) reported that ABHD12 also hydrolyzed BMP *in vitro* (Pribasnig et al. 2015). It is known that ABHD12 is not present in liver (Lord et al. 2013), an organ where ABHD6 appears to have a significant role; instead ABHD is abundantly expressed in the brain, specifically in microglia. It is also abundantly present in related cell types, such as macrophages and osteoclasts (Fiskerstrand et al. 2010; Lord et al. 2013), where it may be responsible for hydrolyzing BMP (Pribasnig et al. 2015). The ABHD12-KO mice brain displayed about a 50 % reduction of BMP hydrolase activity, perhaps evidence

that ABHD12 has a role as a BMP hydrolase in the brain (Pribasnig et al. 2015). In addition to BMP, the ABHD12-KO models have pointed to a role for ABHD12 as an LPS lipase in the mammalian CNS (Blankman et al. 2013; Kamat et al. 2015).

Table 11. Substrates tested in the fluorescent-based glycerol assay and activity of ABI	1 D6,
ABHD12 and MAGL (% of 2-AG activity). The activity of 2-AG has been set to 100 %.	

Substrate	Structure	ABHD6	ABHD12	MAGL	
Monoacylglycerols (MAG)					
2-AG	ОСНОН	100	100	100	
1-AG	о он он	196 ± 27	165 ± 9	101 ± 13	
1-0G	Остори	60 ± 14	39 ± 13	60 ± 18	
2-OG	ОСОН	35 ± 11	25 ± 33	47 ± 13	
1-LG	О ОН ОН	83 ± 9	56 ± 11	76 ± 16	
2-LG	ОН	60 ± 22	43 ± 22	74 ± 8	
1-CG	о он он	224 ± 35	12 ± 35	175 ± 7	
1-DG	о он он	274 ± 37	32 ± 40	269 ± 4	
1-LaurG	о он он	370 ± 25	61 ± 34	218 ± 9	
1-MG	о страна стр	242 ± 21	95 ± 37	118 ± 10	
2-PG	о сон	53 ± 19	40 ± 34	42 ± 12	
1-SG	Он ОН	20 ± 23	19 ± 43	22 ± 17	

Substrate	Structure	ABHD6	ABHD12	MAGL		
Prostaglandins						
15-deoxy-PGJ2- 2GE	OF COH	64 ± 34	14 ± 17	270 ± 23		
PGE2-1GE	HO OH OH	40 ± 32	31 ± 12	138 ± 5		
PGD2-1GE		164 ± 17	14 ± 16	163 ± 5		
PGF2α-1GE	HO HO OH	155 ± 9	13 ± 21	155 ± 9		
	Lysopho	osphatic acid				
LPA	O O O O O O O O O O O O O O	21 ± 70	12 ± 82	8 ± 20		
Diacylglycerol (DAG)						
DOG		8 ± 40	8 ± 30	12 ± 9		
Triacylglycerol (TAG)						
TOG		8±17	8±17	10 ± 9		
POLG		9 ± 21	8 ± 24	10 ± 11		

Table 11. Substrates tested in the fluorescent-based glycerol assay and activity of ABHD6, ABHD12 and MAGL (% of 2-AG activity) (*Continue*)

5.2.3 Inhibitor profile of ABHD6 and ABHD12 using fluorescence-based glycerol assay (II)

In study II, we also provided an initial inhibitor profile for ABHD6 and ABHD12 using the fluorescence-based glycerol activity assay. Among the tested compounds, the broadly acting serine hydrolase inhibitor, MAFP (Fig. 8) was the most potent inhibitor of both enzymes with IC₅₀ values of ~20 and ~90 nM for ABHD6 and ABHD12, respectively. This was not surprising since MAFP is the fluorophosphonate analog of 2-AG. The broadly acting lipase inhibitor THL also showed nanomolar potency for both enzymes. MAFP which has a 20 carbon acyl chain containing four double bonds (C20:4 acyl chain) inhibited

ABHD6 and ABHD12 within the same concentration range, whereas IDFP (C12:0 acyl chain) and HDSF (C16:0 acyl chain) showed >20-fold higher potency for ABHD6 over ABHD12. This result is consistent with the substrate profile where ABHD12 preferred MAG which has a long acyl chain (C20:4), whereas ABHD6 accepted shorter acyl chains as well. As expected, with the exception of RHC-80126, all of the tested non-selective inhibitors MAFP, IDFP, HDSF and THL inhibited both ABHD6 and ABHD12. One lipase inhibitor, RHC-80126, inhibited ABHD6 but not ABHD12, which is in line with a previous report (Hoover et al. 2008). Finally, the ABHD6 selective inhibitor WWL70 (W. Li et al. 2007) was shown to inhibit ABHD6 with almost identical potency (IC50, 85 nM) compared to THL (IC₅₀, 50 nM). The IC₅₀ value of WWL70 is nearly identical to the previously reported value $(IC_{50}, 70 \text{ nM})$ (W. Li et al. 2007). In addition to WWL70, there are only a few selective ABHD6 inhibitors in the literature (Bachovchin et al. 2010; Hsu et al. 2012; Hsu et al. 2013), including inhibitors developed in our laboratory, JZP-430 (J. Z. Patel et al. 2015) and JZP-169 (J. Z. Patel, van Bruchem et al. 2015). ABHD12 has proved to be a challenging target for inhibitor development. The most potent ABHD12 inhibitors were the broadly acting THL and MAFP. We have also described some selective reversible inhibitors that are betulin derivatives (Parkkari et al. 2014). ABHD12 has a wide tissue distribution (Lord et al. 2013) and distinct from MAGL and ABHD6; ABHD12 also has a different subcellular location (Blankman et al. 2007; Viader et al. 2016). This points to a distinctive physiological role, which is in line with the data found for substrate preferences and supports the theory that ABHD12 possesses an alternative role from ABHD6, for example as a LPS hydrolase (Blankman et al. 2013; Kamat et al. 2015).



Figure 8. Structure of broadly acting serine hydrolase inhibitor MAFP.

In conclusion, in study II, we adapted and optimized a sensitive fluorescence-based glycerol assay method for characterizing the putative endocannabinoid hydrolases ABHD6 and ABHD12. The assay was shown to be linear in relation to substrate concentration, protein amount and time-dependence of the hydrolysis of 2-AG. The devised assay was capable of measuring reliably the activation of endocannabinoid hydrolases. As a result, we identified ABHD6, ABHD12 and MAGL hydrolases as genuine MAG lipases. Finally, we determined intial inhibitor profiles for ABHD6 and ABHD12. The inhibitor profiling provided structure-activity data which revealed striking differences between ABHD6 and ABHD12. Data from this study was used to design potent and selective inhibitors for ABHD6 (J. Z. Patel et al. 2015; J. Z. Patel, van Bruchem et al. 2015) and to discover novel inhibitors for ABHD12 (Parkkari et al. 2014).

5.3 CHARACTERIZATION OF ABHD11 (III)

5.3.1 Inhibitor screening using activity-based protein profiling (III)

Organophosphates are known to target metabolic serine hydrolases including ABHD11, LYPLA2 and arylformamidase (AFMID) (Medina-Cleghorn et al. 2014; Nomura et al. 2008; Nomura and Casida 2011; Quistad et al. 2006). Nonetheless, only very few selective inhibitors have been reported for ABHD11 and LYPLA2. For ABHD11, the most promising inhibitors are the urea-based AA44-2 (Adibekian et al. 2011), ML226 (Adibekian, Martin et al. 2010) and ML211 (Adibekian, Hsu et al. 2010) that is also believed to inhibit lysophospholipases LYPLA1 and LYPLA2 (also known as acyl-protein thioesterases 1/2;

APT1/APT2). In addition to ML211, β -lactone palmostatin B has been reported to inhibit LYPLA2 (Dekker et al. 2010; Rusch et al. 2011). So far, no selective inhibitors for AFMID participating in kynurenine metabolism (Pabarcus and Casida 2002) have been reported.

Study III had two aims; to characterize ABHD11 in comparison with LYPLA2 and AFMID by developing an enzyme activity assay and to optimize ABPP for screening inhibitors. The ABPP method was chosen for screening inhibitors due to its ability to recognize nearly every serine hydrolase in virtually any kind of biological material (Simon and Cravatt 2010). The power of ABPP lays in the probe TAMRA-FP that binds and labels active serine hydrolases. Labeled serine hydrolases are then separated by size using SDS-PAGE and further visualized by in-gel fluorescent gel scanning. Competitive ABPP, where the biological material is first treated with an inhibitor followed by incubation with the probe, has been a powerful tool for discovering inhibitors towards serine hydrolase family members in various biological materials (Bachovchin and Cravatt 2012). ABPP has been used previously in screening inhibitor libraries and at least two inhibitors, AS115 (Chiang et al. 2006) and JZL184 (Long, Li et al. 2009), for KIAA1363 and MAGL respectively, have been discovered in ABPP screening campaigns. Unfortunately, screening inhibitors for a certain enzyme using the full-scale ABPP method is time-consuming.

In our study, HEK293 cell lysates over-expressing ABHD11, LYPLA2 and AFMID were pooled (called hereafter the SH-triplet) against which inhibitors were screened using small-scale ABPP (82x82 mm). Using the SH-triplet, ~200 in-house and commercial compounds were screened at a 10 μ M concentration after which the IC₅₀ value for compounds selectively inhibiting one of these three enzymes could be determined. Three inhibitors (JZP-228, JZP-245 and JZP-249) were discovered to potently inhibit ABHD11 with IC₅₀-values of 2-3 nM. In addition, three compounds (JZP-110, JZP-427 and JZP-421) were found to target AFMID at submicromolar concentrations. The potency calculations by ImageJ were based on the intensity of the particular protein band. The amount of protein loaded per lane in the SH-triplet overexpressing the HEK lysate was a mere 3.75 µg, allowing a robust detection of the triplet signal with a negligible cellular background. While the incubation time of the inhibitors and TAMRA-FP probe was same as in the full-scale ABPP, the processing time in the gel was significantly shorter, making the method more efficient.

Although the use of the FP probe capable of labeling many serine hydrolases is an advantage, hydrolases with the same size may overlap even after separation on protein gels. Nevertheless, for example when compared to Western Blot that detects a certain protein based on the epitope of the protein, by definition, ABPP detects only active enzymes. Furthermore, ABPP detects only enzymes that form a covalent intermediate with their substrate. This covalent bond is an essential part of the method. However, since the total enzyme activity measurement is an endpoint measurement using a covalent inhibitor, we are not able to observe subtle changes in the K_m therefore it is necessary to determine the kinetic values of an enzyme and thus an enzyme activity assay is needed alongside the ABPP.

5.3.2 Enzyme activity assay for ABHD11 (III)

No endogenous substrate for ABHD11 has been identified so far. Therefore, we tested the enzymatic activity of ABHD11 alongside LYPLA2 and AFMID against a panel of MAG and prostaglandin glycerol esters using the fluorescence-based glycerol activity assay developed in study II. None of these three enzymes displayed any detectable MAG activity and no DAG lipase activity was observed when tested using a modified glycerol assay adapted from van der Stelt et al. (2015) indicating that these enzymes do not act as MAG or DAG lipases. It was decided to proceed by adapting two colorimetric substrate profiling

methods with the aim to screen enzyme activity in a broad manner using artificial possible phosphatase, chromogenic substrates reveal sulphatase, to lipase, amidase/protease and esterase activities (Table 12.). The assays were based on the release of pNP (paranitrophenol) (Kakugawa et al. 2015; Muccioli et al. 2008). While the activity towards other substrates did not differ from the HEK293 cell background activity, all three enzymes (LYPLA2 with minor activity), preferred acyl-pNP with short acyl chain 4nitrophenyl butyrate, a typical chromogenic substrate for lipases (Table 12.). The possible role for ABHD11 as a lipase was recently supported by a study that reported a significant increase in phospholipid accumulation after disruption of the plant homolog, AtABHD11 (Vijayakumar et al. 2016). Interestingly, the overexpression of AtABHD11 in *E. coli* reduced phospholipid levels, further highlighting the possible function of ABHD11 as a lipase.

Substrate	ABHD11	LYPLA2	AFMID
pNPC2	+	+	++
pNPC4	++	+	++
pNPC8	-	-	-
pNPC10	-	-	-
pNCP12	-	-	-
pNAA	-	-	-
pNPP	-	-	-
pNPCC	-	-	-
pNPS	-	-	-

Table 12. Tested chromogenic substrates and activity of ABHD11, LYPLA2 and AFMID

pNP=paranitrophenyl; pNAA=p-nitroacetanilide (amidase/protease substrate); pNPP=pNP-phosphate (phosphatase substrate); pNPC=pNP-phosphorylcholine (phospholipase C substrate); pNPS=pNP-sulfate (sulfatase substrate)

ABHD proteins are closely related, yet only a few crystal structures are available for this family. From the available template structures, ABHD11 had 55 % sequence homology with YbfF which is an esterase present in *Escheria coli*. Interestingly, YbfF has been shown to hydrolyze pNPC4 (Park et al. 2008). YbfF has also been reported to hydrolyze long-chain acyl-CoAs (Kuznetsova et al. 2005). Therefore, we decided to investigate whether ABHD11 could hydrolyze acyl-CoAs and to this end, the NMBA (2-nitro-5-mercaptobenzoic acid) assay was adapted (Hunt et al. 2006). Two acyl-CoA species (oleyl-CoA and arachidonoyl-CoA) were tested in parallel in the HEK293 cell lysate and in HEK293 cells over-expressing ABHD11 but the activity in HEK293 over-expressing ABHD11 did not differ from the background.

Table 13. Kinetic parameters of MAGL, ABHD6, ABHD11 and ABHD12 from our enzyme activity assays compared to several values from the literature. It must be noted that direct comparison cannot be performed, due to the difference between the sources of the enzymes

		Km	Vmax	
Substrate	Preparation	(µM)	(nmol/min/mg)	Reference
		Ν	1AGL	
2-AG	Cell lysate [×]	110 ± 15	120 ± 10	(Navia-Paldanius et al. 2012)
1(3)-OG	Purified MAGL from erythrocytes	270	NA	(Somma-Delpero et al. 1995)
1(3)-OG	Purified MAGL	1200	89317	(Thomas et al. 2013)
1(3)-OG	Purified MAGL from rat adipose tissue	200	NA	(Tornqvist and Belfrage 1976)
1-0G	Sf9 homogenate	300	NA	(Karlsson et al. 2000)

2-0G	Purified MAGL from erythrocytes	490	NA	(Somma-Delpero et al. 1995)	
2-0G	Purified MAGL from rat adipotissue	200	NA	(Tornqvist and Belfrage 1976)	
ABHD6					
2-AG	Cell lysate ^x	159 ± 28	45 ± 5	(Navia-Paldanius et al. 2012)	
1(3)-OG	Purified ABHD6*	1900	7977	(Thomas et al. 2013)	
1-0G#	Purified ABHD6*	980 ± 210	13433 ± 1083	(Pribasnig et al. 2015)	
LPG	Purified ABHD6*	750	1553	(Thomas et al. 2013)	
LPG	Purified ABHD6*	1100 ± 330	1483000 ± 183	(Pribasnig et al. 2015)	
BMP	Purified ABHD6*	980 ± 7	5800 ± 167	(Pribasnig et al. 2015)	
ABHD11					
pNPC4	Cell lysate ^x	250 ±110	21 ± 1§	(Navia-Paldanius et al. 2016)	
ABHD12					
2-AG	Cell lysate [×]	117 ± 14	42 ± 3	(Navia-Paldanius et al. 2012)	

NA= not applicable; [#]HEK293 cell lysates over-expressing the protein of interest; ^{*}Murine enzyme; [#]Racemic 1-OG; [§]Unpublished data

Even though the endogenous substrate for ABHD11 still awaits to be identified, the finding of a suitable substrate-based assay for ABHD11 with reasonable activity towards chromogenic 4-nitrophenyl butyrate (pNPC4) allowed us to determine values of K_m and V_{max} for ABHD11 (Table 13.). These kinetic parameters were determined using the substrate pNPC4 with concentration range 0-500 μ M.

The chromogenic substrate-based assay was further used to explore the inhibition of ABHD11 using the three most potent ABHD11-inhibitors (JZP-228, JZP-245 and JZP-249) identified with the ABPP approach. The IC₅₀-values were 4-10 nM, which were in line with our results from the ABPP experiments (Fig. 9) with the SH-triplet indicating that our small-scale ABPP is suitable for screening a small inhibitor library.



Figure 9. Inhibition of hABHD11-dependent pNPC4 hydrolysis by the JZP-compounds in comparison of ML211 (A). IC50 values from pNP and ABPP falls within the same range (B).

5.3.3 Selectivity of JZP-245

The selectivity of ABHD11 inhibitors was determined by ABPP using various cell and mice tissue proteomes. JZP-228 had an *in vitro* off-target (Fig. 10) that was identified as FAAH. With respect to the three ABHD11 inhibitors (JZP-228, JZP-245 and JZP-249), JZP-245 selectively inhibited ABHD11 *in vitro*. Based on the proteomic studies, ABHD11 has been predicted to be a mitochondrial enzyme (Lefort et al. 2009) therefore it was decided to treat the mitochondrial cell fraction of various mice tissues with JZP-245. As a result, JZP-245 sensitive enrichment of ABHD11 was observed in selected mice tissues, evidence for active ABHD11 enzyme expression in mitochondria. It is notable that in these proteomes, especially in brown fat and kidney, JZP-245 was determined to have an off-target that was identified as FAAH.

Before continuing to *in situ* experiments, the non-cytotoxicity of JZP-245 was confirmed using the CytoTox-GloTM Cytotoxicity Assay with prostate cancer cell line LNCaP that abundantly expresses active ABHD11 (Nomura et al. 2011). JZP-245 showed no cytotoxicity at the measured concentrations (1-100 nM). The potency and selectivity of JZP-245 was tested *in situ* using three different prostate cancer cell lines (LNCaP, VCaP and PC3), all expressing active ABHD11 according to the ABPP assay. After *in situ* treatment, inhibition was visualized using ABPP. As a result, it was evident that JZP-245 was able to cross the cell membrane and inhibit ABHD11 in all three cell lines within 10 minutes at low nanomolar potency. However, JZP-245 inhibited another serine hydrolase identified as FAAH in LNCaP and VCaP cells. On the contrary, PC3 cells lacking FAAH (Nomura et al. 2011), showed no off-targets.



Figure 10. Selectivity of JZP-228, JZP-245 and JZP-249 in mouse brain membrane. JZP-228 has an off-target defined to be mFAAH (m=mouse).

Due to its putative role as a mitochondrial enzyme together with the hypothesis that ABHD11 could hydrolyze substrates with a short acyl chain and possibly participate in the electron transport chain in the mitochondria, it was examined whether inhibition of the ABHD11 had any effect on mitochondrial respiratory function. This was assessed using the

Seahorse analyzer. Cells were treated in parallel with either the ABHD11 inhibitor JZP-245 (10-100 nM) or the FAAH inhibitor, URB597 (100 nM). In these conditions, no significant changes in the OCR or ECAR were observed, indicating that neither FAAH nor ABHD11 were exerting any effects on mitochondrial respiratory function in LNCaP cells. However, before drawing any final conclusions, more optimized experiments using different conditions should be performed.

To summarize, three potent inhibitors for ABHD11 were discovered using ABPP by screening of our in-house library. The comparable potencies of ABPP and the chromogenic enzyme activity assay support the suitability of ABPP for inhibitor screening. The noncytotoxic inhibitor, JZP-245 was shown to cross the cell membrane and inhibit ABHD11 with the same potency *in vitro* and *in situ* acting as a dual inhibitor targeting both ABHD11 and FAAH. By applying several enzyme activity assays and chromogenic substrates, it was possible to exclude the possible function of ABHD11 as a MAG or DAG esterase, lipase/esterase, phosphatase, sulfatase, phospholipase С, amidase/protease, phosphodiesterase or as acyl-CoA transferase. Even though the endogenous substrates and the physiological role of ABHD11 remains unknown, it was possible to devise a colorimetric enzyme activity assay for ABHD11 using an artificial chromogenic substrate for lipase (pNPC4).

6 Conclusions

At the beginning of this decade, generation of MAGL-KO mice clarified *in vivo* roles of MAGL in the ECS (Chanda et al., 2010; Schlosburg et al., 2010; Taschler et al., 2011). Both genetic and pharmacological inactivation of MAGL have been shown to increase the MAG levels. A lack of MAGL clearly increased 2-AG levels in mouse brain and this altered the expression and activity of CB1 receptors (Chanda et al., 2010; Schlosburg et al., 2010; Zhong et al., 2011) ultimately leading to functional and behavioral tolerance. Our autoradiography data from brain regions of MAGL-KO mice showed desensitization of CB1 receptors, further support for these findings. Interestingly, the lack of MAGL did not alter the CB1 receptor-mediated behavioral and physiological effect, so called tetrad (analgesia, hypomotility, catalepsy and hypothermia); alterations in the tetrad of behavior have been suggested to be a consequence of desensitization and downregulation of CB1 receptors (Chanda et al., 2010).

Our results also indicated that there were possible compensatory effects in MAGL-KO mice, which is a common phenomenon in KO animals. For example, Taschler et al. (2011) have shown that in WAT, HSL partly compensated for the lack of MAGL and the increased levels of MAGs. However, no evidence for compensatory changes in brain serine hydrolase activities was found in our experiments which is in agreement with other studies (Chanda et al. 2010; Pan et al. 2011; Schlosburg et al. 2010; Taschler et al. 2011; Zhong et al. 2011). Furthermore, inactivation of FAAH, ABHD6 and ABHD12 has not been shown to affect the bulk levels of 2-AG in brain. However, our results indicate that additional MAFP sensitive serine hydrolases are capable of degrading 2-AG. It has been suggested that the hydrolysis of 2-AG might depend on the relative contribution of 2-AG hydrolyzing enzymes that regulate 2-AG signaling as well as on subcellular origin and in cell type-specific expression level (Marrs et al., 2010; Taschler et al., 2011) which could explain the discrepancies.

In our studies with MAGL-KO mouse brain sections, we observed no significant desensitization of CB1 receptors in the molecular layer of the cerebellum, a brain region that plays a role in locomotor coordination. Interestingly, acute pharmacological treatment with a MAGL inhibitor has caused hypomotility (Long et al., 2009a). In contrast, a MAGL deficiency does not seem to interfere with the locomotor activity (Chanda et al., 2010; Taschler et al., 2011), indicating that MAGL-KO mice might have some other compensatory system or way of adapting to the elevated 2-AG levels. Several questions arise concerning the brain regional activation of CB1 receptors. Why does desensitization of CB1 receptors not occur in the molecular layer of the cerebellum? Why do alternative compensatory/adaptation occur especially in cerebellum? One explanation could be in the evolutionary importance of ensuring locomotor activity. For example, we observed desensitization in hippocampus, a brain region involved in memory. Mice with chronic agonist exposure are exceptionally sensitive to desensitization and downregulation of CB1 receptors in the hippocampus (Breivogel et al., 1999; McKinney et al., 2008). The ECS is known to regulate memory and the activation of CB1 receptor is known to participate in memory formation and consolidation (Busquets-Garcia et al., 2011; Clarke et al., 2008; Wise et al., 2009).

Until now, the methods used to study endocannabinoid hydrolases (Bisogno et al. 2003; Blankman et al. 2007; Saario et al. 2004) enabled measurement of one enzyme at a time, making

the investigation of these enzymes both expensive and time consuming. The fluorescence-based glycerol assay developed in this study enabled screening of a large panel of glycerophospholipid-derived substrates against different ABHD enzymes. The method is useful for investigating the MAG hydrolases generating fatty acids and glycerol.

At the beginning of the decade, not much was known about the ABHD hydrolases. In 2007, Blankman et al. reported that two novel enzymes, ABHD6 and ABHD12, could hydrolyze 2-AG and suggested that they could participate in the termination of endocannabinoid signaling together with MAGL. However, although the blockade of ABHD6 and ABHD12 did not affect the bulk 2-AG levels in the brain, more recently several publications have reported evidence indicating that ABHD6 and ABHD12 could act as the main 2-AG hydrolases in cells lacking MAGL (Marrs et al. 2010; Marrs et al., 2010b; Alhouayek et al., 2013). Study II demonstrated that ABHD6, ABHD12 and MAGL are all genuine MAG lipases. The similar substrate profile of ABHD6 and MAGL might indicate similar roles in the cell. ABHD6 has been found to localize to postsynaptic membranes whereas MAGL is expressed mainly in pre-synaptic areas (Marrs et al., 2010). This could indicate that while MAGL is responsible for ending the endocannabinoid signaling in the pre-synaptic neurons, ABHD6 could inactivate the excess 2-AG in post-synaptic regions (Fig. 4). In addition to 2-AG hydrolysis, MAGL is the main enzyme capable of degrading MAG into AA and glycerol via lipolysis. Interestingly, ABHD6 can hydrolyze MAG intracellularly (Blankman, 2007) and several reports have provided convincing evidence that ABHD6 and MAGL share similar functions but perform them in distinctive cellular locations (Thomas et al. 2013; Zhao et al. 2014; Zhao et al. 2015). ABHD6 seems to have a similar role as MAGL being a genuine MAG lipase and having a role as a 2-AG hydrolase in tissues lacking MAGL. The putative role of ABHD6 in regulating fuel homeostasis makes ABHD6 an extremely interesting enzyme and ensures that intensive research will continue around this enzyme.

Due to the challenges of developing enzyme activity assays, chemoproteomic probes have proved to be a powerful tool. The strength of chemoproteomic methods is their capability to explore protein families using a small molecule probe. ABPP has been used previously to discover and optimize inhibitors for serine hydrolases (Bachovchin and Cravatt 2012). Although the method is challenging to apply in an HTS format, we were able to expedite this procedure by using small-scale ABPP. Moreover, instead of exploring inhibitors against serine hydrolases in biological materials, inhibitors were screened for selected enzymes by pooling quantitatively equal amounts of over expressed enzymes. This approach was found to be successful and led to the discovery of three potent inhibitors for ABHD11.

Study III revealed the presence of active ABHD11 in many tissues including brain as well as an enrichment of active ABHD11 in the mitochondrial cell fraction, which is consistent with previous studies (Baggelaar et al. 2017; Forner et al. 2006; Lefort et al. 2009). Inhibition of ABHD11 showed no effect in mitochondrial respiratoy reactions, leaving unclear its physiological function in that organelle. We found a chromogenic substrate paranitrophenyl for ABHD11. Paranitrophenyl is a chromogenic substrate for lipases which we interpret as evidence favoring the putative role of ABHD11 to function as a lipase. For example, overexpression of YGR031W, which is the yeast homolog of ABHD11, was shown to decrease cellular TAG levels (Arya et al. 2017). Additionally, ABHD11 is known to have a lipase motif (Lord et al. 2013) further support for the hypothesis that ABHD11 functions as a lipase. Interestingly, ABHD11 has been detected in many cancers (Wiedl et al. 2011). Keeping in mind that cancer cells are capable of recruiting enzymes including lipases (Nomura and Cravatt 2013)

along with the suggested role ABHD11 as a lipase means that it is possible that ABHD11 could also be recruited by cancer cells.

In the post-genomic era, our challenge is to find physiological functions for the thousands of newly predicted proteins. Today, we have access to proteomic methods capable of analyzing large numbers of proteins (Chandramouli and Qian 2009). Nonetheless, most proteomic as well as genetic methods measure protein abundance and therefore provide only an indirect estimate of protein activity and no indication of the physiological function. Therefore, more sophisticated methods are needed. To partially meet this need, we devised an enzyme activity assay for the endocannabinoid hydrolases. The fluorescence-based glycerol assay has been further refined and optimized to measure the activity of ABHD16A (Savinainen et al., 2014). The usefulness of this fluorescence-based method has been reported also by Miller et al. (2016) who identified ABHD2 as a new player capable of hydrolyzing 2-AG. Additionally, the method was further modified for DAGL activity measurements (van der Wel et al. 2015). Finally, we adapted several chromogenic methods, and these proved to be suitable for assaying some poorly characterized enzymes and in this way, we discovered three potent inhibitors which can be used in further studies investigating ABHD11.

FINAL CONCLUSIONS:

These following conclusions have emerged from this study:

- I. The first aim of this study was to explore regional regional CB1 receptor-mediated signaling in MAGL-KO mice brain. This aim was fulfilled and as a result we concluded that other hydrolases in addition to MAGL regulate 2-AG levels in brains of MAGL-KO mice.
- II. The second aim was to characterize ABHD6 and ABHD12 by determining their substrate and inhibitor preferences in comparison with those of MAGL. To achieve this aim, we developed a novel and sensitive fluorescence-based method for measuring endocannabinoid hydrolase activity for various MAGs and prostaglandin glycerol esters. By using this method, we were able to conclude that *in vitro* three endocannabinoid hydrolases, ABHD6, ABHD12 and MAGL, are all genuine MAG lipases.
- III. The third aim was to characterize ABHD11 and to apply activity-based approaches to discover inhibitors for this poorly-characterized enzyme. We adapted and optimized substrate-based activity assays for ABHD11 which were then further exploited in the discovery of novel inhibitors. By using this method, we discovered that ABHD11 readily utilized para-nitrophenyl butyrate (pNPC4), which we interpret as evidence that ABHD11 possesses lipase/esterase-type activity which could be exploited in the discovery of inhibitory compounds. Additionally, we discovered three potent inhibitors which can be used to further characterize ABHD11.

References

- Aaltonen, N., Kedzierska, E., Orzelska-Gorka, J., Lehtonen, M., Navia-Paldanius, D., Jakupovic, H., Savinainen, J.R., Nevalainen, T., Laitinen, J.T., Parkkari, T. & Gynther, M. 2016, "In Vivo Characterization of the Ultrapotent Monoacylglycerol Lipase Inhibitor {4-[bis-(benzo[d][1,3]dioxol-5-yl)methyl]-piperidin-1-yl}(1H-1,2,4-triazol-1-yl)m ethanone (JJKK-048)", J Pharmacol Exp Ther, vol. 359, no. 1, pp. 62-72.
- Aaltonen, N., Riera Ribas, C., Lehtonen, M., Savinainen, J.R. & Laitinen, J.T. 2014, "Brain regional cannabinoid CB(1) receptor signalling and alternative enzymatic pathways for 2arachidonoylglycerol generation in brain sections of diacylglycerol lipase deficient mice", *Eur J Pharm Sci*, vol. 51, pp. 87-95.
- Aaltonen, N., Savinainen, J.R., Ribas, C.R., Ronkko, J., Kuusisto, A., Korhonen, J., Navia-Paldanius, D., Hayrinen, J., Takabe, P., Kasnanen, H., Pantsar, T., Laitinen, T., Lehtonen, M., Pasonen-Seppanen, S., Poso, A., Nevalainen, T. & Laitinen, J.T. 2013, "Piperazine and piperidine triazole ureas as ultrapotent and highly selective inhibitors of monoacylglycerol lipase", *Chem Biol*, vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 379-390.
- Adachi, S., Cognetta, A.B., 3rd, Niphakis, M.J., He, Z., Zajdlik, A., St Denis, J.D., Scully, C.C., Cravatt, B.F. & Yudin, A.K. 2015, "Facile synthesis of borofragments and their evaluation in activity-based protein profiling", *Chem Commun (Camb)*, vol. 51, no. 17, pp. 3608-3611.
- Adibekian, A., Hsu, K.L., Speers, A.E., Brown, S.J., Spicer, T., Fernandez-Vega, V., Ferguson, J., Cravatt, B.F., Hodder, P. & Rosen, H. 2010, "Optimization and characterization of a triazole urea inhibitor for alpha/beta hydrolase domain-containing protein 11 (ABHD11): anti-probe for LYPLA1/LYPLA2 dual inhibitor ML211" in *Probe Reports from the NIH Molecular Libraries Program*Bethesda (MD).
- Adibekian, A., Martin, B.R., Speers, A.E., Brown, S.J., Spicer, T., Fernandez-Vega, V., Ferguson, J., Cravatt, B.F., Hodder, P. & Rosen, H. 2010, "Optimization and characterization of a triazole urea dual inhibitor for lysophospholipase 1 (LYPLA1) and lysophospholipase 2 (LYPLA2)" in *Probe Reports from the NIH Molecular Libraries Program*Bethesda (MD).
- Adibekian, A., Martin, B.R., Wang, C., Hsu, K.L., Bachovchin, D.A., Niessen, S., Hoover, H. & Cravatt, B.F. 2011, "Click-generated triazole ureas as ultrapotent in vivo-active serine hydrolase inhibitors", *Nat Chem Biol*, vol. 7, no. 7, pp. 469-478.
- Ahmed, S.A., Ross, S.A., Slade, D., Radwan, M.M., Zulfiqar, F., Matsumoto, R.R., Xu, Y.T., Viard, E., Speth, R.C., Karamyan, V.T. & ElSohly, M.A. 2008, "Cannabinoid ester constituents from high-potency Cannabis sativa", *J Nat Prod*, vol. 71, no. 4, pp. 536-542.

- Ala, U., Piro, R.M., Grassi, E., Damasco, C., Silengo, L., Oti, M., Provero, P. & Di Cunto, F. 2008, "Prediction of human disease genes by human-mouse conserved coexpression analysis", *PLoS Comput Biol*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. e1000043.
- Alger, B.E. 2002, "Retrograde signaling in the regulation of synaptic transmission: focus on endocannabinoids", *Prog Neurobiol*, vol. 68, no. 4, pp. 247-286.
- Alhouayek, M., Masquelier, J., Cani, P.D., Lambert, D.M. & Muccioli, G.G. 2013, "Implication of the anti-inflammatory bioactive lipid prostaglandin D2-glycerol ester in the control of macrophage activation and inflammation by ABHD6", *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 110, no. 43, pp. 17558-17563.
- Alhouayek, M., Masquelier, J. & Muccioli, G.G. 2014, "Controlling 2-arachidonoylglycerol metabolism as an anti-inflammatory strategy", *Drug Discov Today*, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 295-304.
- Arya, M., Srinivasan, M. & Rajasekharan, R. 2017, "Human alpha beta hydrolase domain containing protein 11 and its yeast homolog are lipid hydrolases", *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, vol. 487, no. 4, pp. 875-880.
- Bachovchin, D.A. & Cravatt, B.F. 2012, "The pharmacological landscape and therapeutic potential of serine hydrolases", *Nat Rev Drug Discov*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 52-68.
- Bachovchin, D.A., Ji, T., Li, W., Simon, G.M., Blankman, J.L., Adibekian, A., Hoover, H., Niessen, S. & Cravatt, B.F. 2010, "Superfamily-wide portrait of serine hydrolase inhibition achieved by library-versus-library screening", *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 107, no. 49, pp. 20941-20946.
- Baggelaar, M.P., van Esbroeck, A.C., van Rooden, E.J., Florea, B.I., Overkleeft, H.S., Marsicano, G., Chaouloff, F. & van der Stelt, M. 2017, "Chemical Proteomics Maps Brain Region Specific Activity of Endocannabinoid Hydrolases", ACS Chem Biol, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 852-861.
- Baker, D., Pryce, G., Davies, W.L. & Hiley, C.R. 2006, "In silico patent searching reveals a new cannabinoid receptor", *Trends Pharmacol Sci*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 1-4.
- Bedse, G., Bluett, R.J., Patrick, T.A., Romness, N.K., Gaulden, A.D., Kingsley, P.J., Plath, N., Marnett, L.J. & Patel, S. 2018, "Therapeutic endocannabinoid augmentation for mood and anxiety disorders: comparative profiling of FAAH, MAGL and dual inhibitors", *Transl Psychiatry*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 92-018-0141-7.
- Begg, M., Pacher, P., Batkai, S., Osei-Hyiaman, D., Offertaler, L., Mo, F.M., Liu, J. & Kunos, G. 2005, "Evidence for novel cannabinoid receptors", *Pharmacol Ther*, vol. 106, no. 2, pp. 133-145.
- Bisogno, T., Howell, F., Williams, G., Minassi, A., Cascio, M.G., Ligresti, A., Matias, I., Schiano-Moriello, A., Paul, P., Williams, E.J., Gangadharan, U., Hobbs, C., Di Marzo, V. & Doherty,

P. 2003, "Cloning of the first sn1-DAG lipases points to the spatial and temporal regulation of endocannabinoid signaling in the brain", *J Cell Biol*, vol. 163, no. 3, pp. 463-468.

- Blankman, J.L. & Cravatt, B.F. 2013, "Chemical probes of endocannabinoid metabolism", *Pharmacol Rev*, vol. 65, no. 2, pp. 849-871.
- Blankman, J.L., Long, J.Z., Trauger, S.A., Siuzdak, G. & Cravatt, B.F. 2013, "ABHD12 controls brain lysophosphatidylserine pathways that are deregulated in a murine model of the neurodegenerative disease PHARC", *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 110, no. 4, pp. 1500-1505.
- Blankman, J.L., Simon, G.M. & Cravatt, B.F. 2007, "A comprehensive profile of brain enzymes that hydrolyze the endocannabinoid 2-arachidonoylglycerol", *Chem Biol*, vol. 14, no. 12, pp. 1347-1356.
- Brady, C.A., Jiang, D., Mello, S.S., Johnson, T.M., Jarvis, L.A., Kozak, M.M., Kenzelmann Broz, D., Basak, S., Park, E.J., McLaughlin, M.E., Karnezis, A.N. & Attardi, L.D. 2011, "Distinct p53 transcriptional programs dictate acute DNA-damage responses and tumor suppression", *Cell*, vol. 145, no. 4, pp. 571-583.
- Cao, Z., Mulvihill, M.M., Mukhopadhyay, P., Xu, H., Erdelyi, K., Hao, E., Holovac, E., Hasko, G., Cravatt, B.F., Nomura, D.K. & Pacher, P. 2013, "Monoacylglycerol lipase controls endocannabinoid and eicosanoid signaling and hepatic injury in mice", *Gastroenterology*, vol. 144, no. 4, pp. 808-817.e15.
- Carroni, M. & Saibil, H.R. 2016, "Cryo electron microscopy to determine the structure of macromolecular complexes", *Methods*, vol. 95, pp. 78-85.
- Casey, J.P., Magalhaes, T., Conroy, J.M., Regan, R., Shah, N., Anney, R., Shields, D.C., Abrahams, B.S., Almeida, J., Bacchelli, E., Bailey, A.J., Baird, G., Battaglia, A., Berney, T., Bolshakova, N., Bolton, P.F., Bourgeron, T., Brennan, S., Cali, P., Correia, C., Corsello, C., Coutanche, M., Dawson, G., de Jonge, M., Delorme, R., Duketis, E., Duque, F., Estes, A., Farrar, P., Fernandez, B.A., Folstein, S.E., Foley, S., Fombonne, E., Freitag, C.M., Gilbert, J., Gillberg, C., Glessner, J.T., Green, J., Guter, S.J., Hakonarson, H., Holt, R., Hughes, G., Hus, V., Igliozzi, R., Kim, C., Klauck, S.M., Kolevzon, A., Lamb, J.A., Leboyer, M., Le Couteur, A., Leventhal, B.L., Lord, C., Lund, S.C., Maestrini, E., Mantoulan, C., Marshall, C.R., McConachie, H., McDougle, C.J., McGrath, J., McMahon, W.M., Merikangas, A., Miller, J., Minopoli, F., Mirza, G.K., Munson, J., Nelson, S.F., Nygren, G., Oliveira, G., Pagnamenta, A.T., Papanikolaou, K., Parr, J.R., Parrini, B., Pickles, A., Pinto, D., Piven, J., Posey, D.J., Poustka, A., Poustka, F., Ragoussis, J., Roge, B., Rutter, M.L., Sequeira, A.F., Soorya, L., Sousa, I., Sykes, N., Stoppioni, V., Tancredi, R., Tauber, M., Thompson, A.P., Thomson, S., Tsiantis, J., Van Engeland, H., Vincent, J.B., Volkmar, F., Vorstman, J.A., Wallace, S., Wang, K., Wassink, T.H., White, K., Wing, K., Wittemeyer, K., Yaspan, B.L., Zwaigenbaum, L., Betancur, C., Buxbaum, J.D., Cantor, R.M., Cook, E.H., Coon, H., Cuccaro, M.L., Geschwind, D.H., Haines, J.L., Hallmayer, J., Monaco, A.P., Nurnberger, J.I., Jr, Pericak-

Vance, M.A., Schellenberg, G.D., Scherer, S.W., Sutcliffe, J.S., Szatmari, P., Vieland, V.J., Wijsman, E.M., Green, A., Gill, M., Gallagher, L., Vicente, A. & Ennis, S. 2012, "A novel approach of homozygous haplotype sharing identifies candidate genes in autism spectrum disorder", *Hum Genet*, vol. 131, no. 4, pp. 565-579.

- Chanda, P.K., Gao, Y., Mark, L., Btesh, J., Strassle, B.W., Lu, P., Piesla, M.J., Zhang, M.Y., Bingham, B., Uveges, A., Kowal, D., Garbe, D., Kouranova, E.V., Ring, R.H., Bates, B., Pangalos, M.N., Kennedy, J.D., Whiteside, G.T. & Samad, T.A. 2010, "Monoacylglycerol lipase activity is a critical modulator of the tone and integrity of the endocannabinoid system", *Mol Pharmacol*, vol. 78, no. 6, pp. 996-1003.
- Chandramouli, K. & Qian, P.Y. 2009, "Proteomics: challenges, techniques and possibilities to overcome biological sample complexity", *Hum Genomics Proteomics*, vol. 2009, pp. 10.4061/2009/239204.
- Chang, J.W., Cognetta, A.B., 3rd, Niphakis, M.J. & Cravatt, B.F. 2013, "Proteome-wide reactivity profiling identifies diverse carbamate chemotypes tuned for serine hydrolase inhibition", *ACS Chem Biol*, vol. 8, no. 7, pp. 1590-1599.
- Chang, J.W., Niphakis, M.J., Lum, K.M., Cognetta, A.B., 3rd, Wang, C., Matthews, M.L., Niessen, S., Buczynski, M.W., Parsons, L.H. & Cravatt, B.F. 2012, "Highly selective inhibitors of monoacylglycerol lipase bearing a reactive group that is bioisosteric with endocannabinoid substrates", *Chem Biol*, vol. 19, no. 5, pp. 579-588.
- Chen, D.H., Naydenov, A., Blankman, J.L., Mefford, H.C., Davis, M., Sul, Y., Barloon, A.S., Bonkowski, E., Wolff, J., Matsushita, M., Smith, C., Cravatt, B.F., Mackie, K., Raskind, W.H., Stella, N. & Bird, T.D. 2013, "Two novel mutations in ABHD12: expansion of the mutation spectrum in PHARC and assessment of their functional effects", *Hum Mutat*, vol. 34, no. 12, pp. 1672-1678.
- Chiang, K.P., Niessen, S., Saghatelian, A. & Cravatt, B.F. 2006, "An enzyme that regulates ether lipid signaling pathways in cancer annotated by multidimensional profiling", *Chem Biol*, vol. 13, no. 10, pp. 1041-1050.
- Cota, D. 2007, "CB1 receptors: emerging evidence for central and peripheral mechanisms that regulate energy balance, metabolism, and cardiovascular health", *Diabetes Metab Res Rev*, vol. 23, no. 7, pp. 507-517.
- Cota, D., Marsicano, G., Tschop, M., Grubler, Y., Flachskamm, C., Schubert, M., Auer, D., Yassouridis, A., Thone-Reineke, C., Ortmann, S., Tomassoni, F., Cervino, C., Nisoli, E., Linthorst, A.C., Pasquali, R., Lutz, B., Stalla, G.K. & Pagotto, U. 2003, "The endogenous cannabinoid system affects energy balance via central orexigenic drive and peripheral lipogenesis", *J Clin Invest*, vol. 112, no. 3, pp. 423-431.

- Cottrell, S., Jung, K., Kristiansen, G., Eltze, E., Semjonow, A., Ittmann, M., Hartmann, A., Stamey, T., Haefliger, C. & Weiss, G. 2007, "Discovery and validation of 3 novel DNA methylation markers of prostate cancer prognosis", *J Urol*, vol. 177, no. 5, pp. 1753-1758.
- Cravatt, B.F., Demarest, K., Patricelli, M.P., Bracey, M.H., Giang, D.K., Martin, B.R. & Lichtman, A.H. 2001, "Supersensitivity to anandamide and enhanced endogenous cannabinoid signaling in mice lacking fatty acid amide hydrolase", *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 98, no. 16, pp. 9371-9376.
- Cravatt, B.F., Wright, A.T. & Kozarich, J.W. 2008, "Activity-based protein profiling: from enzyme chemistry to proteomic chemistry", *Annu Rev Biochem*, vol. 77, pp. 383-414.
- Decker, M., Adamska, M., Cronin, A., Di Giallonardo, F., Burgener, J., Marowsky, A., Falck, J.R., Morisseau, C., Hammock, B.D., Gruzdev, A., Zeldin, D.C. & Arand, M. 2012, "EH3 (ABHD9): the first member of a new epoxide hydrolase family with high activity for fatty acid epoxides", *J Lipid Res*, vol. 53, no. 10, pp. 2038-2045.
- Dekker, F.J., Rocks, O., Vartak, N., Menninger, S., Hedberg, C., Balamurugan, R., Wetzel, S., Renner, S., Gerauer, M., Scholermann, B., Rusch, M., Kramer, J.W., Rauh, D., Coates, G.W., Brunsveld, L., Bastiaens, P.I. & Waldmann, H. 2010, "Small-molecule inhibition of APT1 affects Ras localization and signaling", *Nat Chem Biol*, vol. 6, no. 6, pp. 449-456.
- Despres, J.P., Golay, A., Sjostrom, L. & Rimonabant in Obesity-Lipids Study Group 2005,
 "Effects of rimonabant on metabolic risk factors in overweight patients with dyslipidemia", *N Engl J Med*, vol. 353, no. 20, pp. 2121-2134.
- Devane, W.A., Dysarz, F.A., 3rd, Johnson, M.R., Melvin, L.S. & Howlett, A.C. 1988, "Determination and characterization of a cannabinoid receptor in rat brain", *Mol Pharmacol*, vol. 34, no. 5, pp. 605-613.
- Devane, W.A., Hanus, L., Breuer, A., Pertwee, R.G., Stevenson, L.A., Griffin, G., Gibson, D., Mandelbaum, A., Etinger, A. & Mechoulam, R. 1992, "Isolation and structure of a brain constituent that binds to the cannabinoid receptor", *Science*, vol. 258, no. 5090, pp. 1946-1949.
- Di Cera, E. 2009, "Serine proteases", IUBMB Life, vol. 61, no. 5, pp. 510-515.
- Di Marzo, V. 2011, "Endocannabinoid signaling in the brain: biosynthetic mechanisms in the limelight", *Nat Neurosci*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 9-15.
- Dinh, T.P., Freund, T.F. & Piomelli, D. 2002, "A role for monoglyceride lipase in 2arachidonoylglycerol inactivation", *Chem Phys Lipids*, vol. 121, no. 1–2, pp. 149-158.
- Dodson, G. & Wlodawer, A. 1998, "Catalytic triads and their relatives", *Trends Biochem Sci*, vol. 23, no. 9, pp. 347-352.

- Edgar, A.J. & Polak, J.M. 2002, "Cloning and tissue distribution of three murine alpha/beta hydrolase fold protein cDNAs", *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, vol. 292, no. 3, pp. 617-625.
- Egan, J.J., Greenberg, A.S., Chang, M.K., Wek, S.A., Moos, M.C., Jr & Londos, C. 1992, "Mechanism of hormone-stimulated lipolysis in adipocytes: translocation of hormonesensitive lipase to the lipid storage droplet", *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 89, no. 18, pp. 8537-8541.
- Elsohly, M.A. & Slade, D. 2005, "Chemical constituents of marijuana: the complex mixture of natural cannabinoids", *Life Sci*, vol. 78, no. 5, pp. 539-548.
- Falenski, K.W., Thorpe, A.J., Schlosburg, J.E., Cravatt, B.F., Abdullah, R.A., Smith, T.H., Selley, D.E., Lichtman, A.H. & Sim-Selley, L.J. 2010, "FAAH-/- mice display differential tolerance, dependence, and cannabinoid receptor adaptation after delta 9-tetrahydrocannabinol and anandamide administration", *Neuropsychopharmacology*, vol. 35, no. 8, pp. 1775-1787.
- Fernandez-Ruiz, J., Pazos, M.R., Garcia-Arencibia, M., Sagredo, O. & Ramos, J.A. 2008, "Role of CB2 receptors in neuroprotective effects of cannabinoids", *Mol Cell Endocrinol*, vol. 286, no. 1-2 Suppl 1, pp. S91-6.
- Fernandez-Ruiz, J., Romero, J. & Ramos, J.A. 2015, "Endocannabinoids and Neurodegenerative Disorders: Parkinson's Disease, Huntington's Chorea, Alzheimer's Disease, and Others", *Handb Exp Pharmacol*, vol. 231, pp. 233-259.
- Finan, C., Gaulton, A., Kruger, F.A., Lumbers, R.T., Shah, T., Engmann, J., Galver, L., Kelley, R., Karlsson, A., Santos, R., Overington, J.P., Hingorani, A.D. & Casas, J.P. 2017, "The druggable genome and support for target identification and validation in drug development", *Sci Transl Med*, vol. 9, no. 383, pp. 10.1126/scitranslmed.aag1166.
- Fiskerstrand, T., H'mida-Ben Brahim, D., Johansson, S., M'zahem, A., Haukanes, B.I., Drouot, N., Zimmermann, J., Cole, A.J., Vedeler, C., Bredrup, C., Assoum, M., Tazir, M., Klockgether, T., Hamri, A., Steen, V.M., Boman, H., Bindoff, L.A., Koenig, M. & Knappskog, P.M. 2010, "Mutations in ABHD12 cause the neurodegenerative disease PHARC: An inborn error of endocannabinoid metabolism", *Am J Hum Genet*, vol. 87, no. 3, pp. 410-417.
- Forner, F., Foster, L.J., Campanaro, S., Valle, G. & Mann, M. 2006, "Quantitative proteomic comparison of rat mitochondria from muscle, heart, and liver", *Mol Cell Proteomics*, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 608-619.
- Forster, M.J. 2002, "Molecular modelling in structural biology", *Micron*, vol. 33, no. 4, pp. 365-384.
- Fowler, C.J. 2006, "The cannabinoid system and its pharmacological manipulation--a review, with emphasis upon the uptake and hydrolysis of anandamide", *Fundam Clin Pharmacol*, vol. 20, no. 6, pp. 549-562.

- Freund, T.F., Katona, I. & Piomelli, D. 2003, "Role of endogenous cannabinoids in synaptic signaling", *Physiol Rev*, vol. 83, no. 3, pp. 1017-1066.
- Furuta, J., Nobeyama, Y., Umebayashi, Y., Otsuka, F., Kikuchi, K. & Ushijima, T. 2006, "Silencing of Peroxiredoxin 2 and aberrant methylation of 33 CpG islands in putative promoter regions in human malignant melanomas", *Cancer Res*, vol. 66, no. 12, pp. 6080-6086.
- Goparaju, S.K., Ueda, N., Taniguchi, K. & Yamamoto, S. 1999, "Enzymes of porcine brain hydrolyzing 2-arachidonoylglycerol, an endogenous ligand of cannabinoid receptors", *Biochem Pharmacol*, vol. 57, no. 4, pp. 417-423.
- Guengerich, F.P., Tang, Z., Salamanca-Pinzon, S.G. & Cheng, Q. 2010, "Characterizing proteins of unknown function: orphan cytochrome p450 enzymes as a paradigm", *Mol Interv*, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 153-163.
- Haemmerle, G., Lass, A., Zimmermann, R., Gorkiewicz, G., Meyer, C., Rozman, J., Heldmaier, G., Maier, R., Theussl, C., Eder, S., Kratky, D., Wagner, E.F., Klingenspor, M., Hoefler, G. & Zechner, R. 2006, "Defective lipolysis and altered energy metabolism in mice lacking adipose triglyceride lipase", *Science*, vol. 312, no. 5774, pp. 734-737.
- Haemmerle, G., Moustafa, T., Woelkart, G., Buttner, S., Schmidt, A., van de Weijer, T.,
 Hesselink, M., Jaeger, D., Kienesberger, P.C., Zierler, K., Schreiber, R., Eichmann, T., Kolb,
 D., Kotzbeck, P., Schweiger, M., Kumari, M., Eder, S., Schoiswohl, G., Wongsiriroj, N.,
 Pollak, N.M., Radner, F.P., Preiss-Landl, K., Kolbe, T., Rulicke, T., Pieske, B., Trauner, M.,
 Lass, A., Zimmermann, R., Hoefler, G., Cinti, S., Kershaw, E.E., Schrauwen, P., Madeo, F.,
 Mayer, B. & Zechner, R. 2011, "ATGL-mediated fat catabolism regulates cardiac
 mitochondrial function via PPAR-alpha and PGC-1", *Nat Med*, vol. 17, no. 9, pp. 1076-1085.
- Haemmerle, G., Zimmermann, R., Strauss, J.G., Kratky, D., Riederer, M., Knipping, G. & Zechner, R. 2002, "Hormone-sensitive lipase deficiency in mice changes the plasma lipid profile by affecting the tissue-specific expression pattern of lipoprotein lipase in adipose tissue and muscle", *J Biol Chem*, vol. 277, no. 15, pp. 12946-12952.
- Henrichsen, C.N., Csardi, G., Zabot, M.T., Fusco, C., Bergmann, S., Merla, G. & Reymond, A. 2011, "Using transcription modules to identify expression clusters perturbed in Williams-Beuren syndrome", *PLoS Comput Biol*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. e1001054.
- Henstridge, C.M., Balenga, N.A.B., Kargl, J., Andradas, C., Brown, A.J., Irving, A., Sanchez, C. & Waldhoer, M. 2011, "Minireview: Recent Developments in the Physiology and Pathology of the Lysophosphatidylinositol-Sensitive Receptor GPR55", *Molecular Endocrinology*, vol. 25, no. 11, pp. 1835-1848.

- Hillard, C.J. 2000, "Biochemistry and pharmacology of the endocannabinoids arachidonylethanolamide and 2-arachidonylglycerol", *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat*, vol. 61, no. 1-2, pp. 3-18.
- Hirano, K. 2009, "A novel clinical entity: triglyceride deposit cardiomyovasculopathy", *J Atheroscler Thromb*, vol. 16, no. 5, pp. 702-705.
- Holm, C., Kirchgessner, T.G., Svenson, K.L., Fredrikson, G., Nilsson, S., Miller, C.G., Shively, J.E., Heinzmann, C., Sparkes, R.S. & Mohandas, T. 1988, "Hormone-sensitive lipase: sequence, expression, and chromosomal localization to 19 cent-q13.3", *Science*, vol. 241, no. 4872, pp. 1503-1506.
- Hoover, H.S., Blankman, J.L., Niessen, S. & Cravatt, B.F. 2008, "Selectivity of inhibitors of endocannabinoid biosynthesis evaluated by activity-based protein profiling", *Bioorg Med Chem Lett*, vol. 18, no. 22, pp. 5838-5841.
- Hopkins, A.L. & Groom, C.R. 2002, "The druggable genome", *Nat Rev Drug Discov*, vol. 1, no. 9, pp. 727-730.
- Hoshino, J., Aruga, J., Ishiguro, A. & Mikoshiba, K. 2003, "Dorz1, a novel gene expressed in differentiating cerebellar granule neurons, is down-regulated in Zic1-deficient mouse", *Brain Res Mol Brain Res*, vol. 120, no. 1, pp. 57-64.
- Hotelier, T., Renault, L., Cousin, X., Negre, V., Marchot, P. & Chatonnet, A. 2004, "ESTHER, the database of the alpha/beta-hydrolase fold superfamily of proteins", *Nucleic Acids Res*, vol. 32, no. Database issue, pp. D145-7.
- Howlett, A.C. 2002, "The cannabinoid receptors", *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat*, vol. 68-69, pp. 619-631.
- Howlett, A.C., Barth, F., Bonner, T.I., Cabral, G., Casellas, P., Devane, W.A., Felder, C.C., Herkenham, M., Mackie, K., Martin, B.R., Mechoulam, R. & Pertwee, R.G. 2002, "International Union of Pharmacology. XXVII. Classification of cannabinoid receptors", *Pharmacol Rev*, vol. 54, no. 2, pp. 161-202.
- Hsu, K.L., Tsuboi, K., Adibekian, A., Pugh, H., Masuda, K. & Cravatt, B.F. 2012, "DAGLbeta inhibition perturbs a lipid network involved in macrophage inflammatory responses", *Nat Chem Biol*, vol. 8, no. 12, pp. 999-1007.
- Hsu, K.L., Tsuboi, K., Chang, J.W., Whitby, L.R., Speers, A.E., Pugh, H. & Cravatt, B.F. 2013, "Discovery and optimization of piperidyl-1,2,3-triazole ureas as potent, selective, and in vivo-active inhibitors of alpha/beta-hydrolase domain containing 6 (ABHD6)", *J Med Chem*, vol. 56, no. 21, pp. 8270-8279.
- Huang, W.J., Chen, W.W. & Zhang, X. 2016, "Endocannabinoid system: Role in depression, reward and pain control (Review)", *Mol Med Rep*, .

- Hunt, M.C., Rautanen, A., Westin, M.A., Svensson, L.T. & Alexson, S.E. 2006, "Analysis of the mouse and human acyl-CoA thioesterase (ACOT) gene clusters shows that convergent, functional evolution results in a reduced number of human peroxisomal ACOTs", *FASEB J*, vol. 20, no. 11, pp. 1855-1864.
- Igal, R.A., Rhoads, J.M. & Coleman, R.A. 1997, "Neutral lipid storage disease with fatty liver and cholestasis", *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr*, vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 541-547.
- International Human Genome Sequencing Consortium 2004, "Finishing the euchromatic sequence of the human genome", *Nature*, vol. 431, no. 7011, pp. 931-945.
- Kaczanowski, S. & Zielenkiewicz, P. 2010, "Why similar protein sequences encode similar threedimensional structures?", vol. 125, pp. 643-650.
- Kakugawa, S., Langton, P.F., Zebisch, M., Howell, S.A., Chang, T.H., Liu, Y., Feizi, T., Bineva, G., O'Reilly, N., Snijders, A.P., Jones, E.Y. & Vincent, J.P. 2015, "Notum deacylates Wnt proteins to suppress signalling activity", *Nature*, vol. 519, no. 7542, pp. 187-192.
- Kamat, S.S., Camara, K., Parsons, W.H., Chen, D.H., Dix, M.M., Bird, T.D., Howell, A.R. & Cravatt, B.F. 2015, "Immunomodulatory lysophosphatidylserines are regulated by ABHD16A and ABHD12 interplay", *Nat Chem Biol*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 164-171.
- Karlsson, M., Contreras, J.A., Hellman, U., Tornqvist, H. & Holm, C. 1997, "cDNA cloning, tissue distribution, and identification of the catalytic triad of monoglyceride lipase. Evolutionary relationship to esterases, lysophospholipases, and haloperoxidases", *J Biol Chem*, vol. 272, no. 43, pp. 27218-27223.
- Karlsson, M., Tornqvist, H. & Holm, C. 2000, "Expression, purification, and characterization of histidine-tagged mouse monoglyceride lipase from baculovirus-infected insect cells", *Protein Expr Purif*, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 286-292.
- Katz-Jaffe, M.G., McCallie, B.R., Preis, K.A., Filipovits, J. & Gardner, D.K. 2009, "Transcriptome analysis of in vivo and in vitro matured bovine MII oocytes", *Theriogenology*, vol. 71, no. 6, pp. 939-946.
- Kilpinen, S., Autio, R., Ojala, K., Iljin, K., Bucher, E., Sara, H., Pisto, T., Saarela, M., Skotheim, R.I., Bjorkman, M., Mpindi, J.P., Haapa-Paananen, S., Vainio, P., Edgren, H., Wolf, M., Astola, J., Nees, M., Hautaniemi, S. & Kallioniemi, O. 2008, "Systematic bioinformatic analysis of expression levels of 17,330 human genes across 9,783 samples from 175 types of healthy and pathological tissues", *Genome Biol*, vol. 9, no. 9, pp. R139-2008-9-9-r139. Epub 2008 Sep 19.
- Kim, G.W., Lin, J.E., Blomain, E.S. & Waldman, S.A. 2014, "Antiobesity pharmacotherapy: new drugs and emerging targets", *Clin Pharmacol Ther*, vol. 95, no. 1, pp. 53-66.

- Kraemer, F.B. & Shen, W.J. 2002, "Hormone-sensitive lipase: control of intracellular tri-(di-)acylglycerol and cholesteryl ester hydrolysis", *J Lipid Res*, vol. 43, no. 10, pp. 1585-1594.
- Kuznetsova, E., Proudfoot, M., Sanders, S.A., Reinking, J., Savchenko, A., Arrowsmith, C.H., Edwards, A.M. & Yakunin, A.F. 2005, "Enzyme genomics: Application of general enzymatic screens to discover new enzymes", *FEMS Microbiol Rev*, vol. 29, no. 2, pp. 263-279.
- Laitinen, T., Navia-Paldanius, D., Rytilahti, R., Marjamaa, J.J., Karizkova, J., Parkkari, T., Pantsar, T., Poso, A., Laitinen, J.T. & Savinainen, J.R. 2014, "Mutation of Cys242 of human monoacylglycerol lipase disrupts balanced hydrolysis of 1- and 2-monoacylglycerols and selectively impairs inhibitor potency", *Mol Pharmacol*, vol. 85, no. 3, pp. 510-519.
- Lajkiewicz, N.J., Cognetta, A.B., 3rd, Niphakis, M.J., Cravatt, B.F. & Porco, J.A., Jr 2014,
 "Remodeling natural products: chemistry and serine hydrolase activity of a rocaglatederived beta-lactone", J Am Chem Soc, vol. 136, no. 6, pp. 2659-2664.
- Lambert, D.M. & Fowler, C.J. 2005, "The endocannabinoid system: drug targets, lead compounds, and potential therapeutic applications", *J Med Chem*, vol. 48, no. 16, pp. 5059-5087.
- Landry, Y. & Gies, J.P. 2008, "Drugs and their molecular targets: an updated overview", *Fundam Clin Pharmacol*, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 1-18.
- Lass, A., Zimmermann, R., Haemmerle, G., Riederer, M., Schoiswohl, G., Schweiger, M., Kienesberger, P., Strauss, J.G., Gorkiewicz, G. & Zechner, R. 2006, "Adipose triglyceride lipase-mediated lipolysis of cellular fat stores is activated by CGI-58 and defective in Chanarin-Dorfman Syndrome", *Cell Metab*, vol. 3, no. 5, pp. 309-319.
- Lee, H.C., Simon, G.M. & Cravatt, B.F. 2015, "ABHD4 regulates multiple classes of N-acyl phospholipids in the mammalian central nervous system", *Biochemistry*, vol. 54, no. 15, pp. 2539-2549.
- Lefevre, C., Jobard, F., Caux, F., Bouadjar, B., Karaduman, A., Heilig, R., Lakhdar, H., Wollenberg, A., Verret, J.L., Weissenbach, J., Ozguc, M., Lathrop, M., Prud'homme, J.F. & Fischer, J. 2001, "Mutations in CGI-58, the gene encoding a new protein of the esterase/lipase/thioesterase subfamily, in Chanarin-Dorfman syndrome", *Am J Hum Genet*, vol. 69, no. 5, pp. 1002-1012.
- Lefort, N., Yi, Z., Bowen, B., Glancy, B., De Filippis, E.A., Mapes, R., Hwang, H., Flynn, C.R., Willis, W.T., Civitarese, A., Hojlund, K. & Mandarino, L.J. 2009, "Proteome profile of functional mitochondria from human skeletal muscle using one-dimensional gel electrophoresis and HPLC-ESI-MS/MS", J Proteomics, vol. 72, no. 6, pp. 1046-1060.
- Lehtonen, M., Storvik, M., Malinen, H., Hyytiä, P., Lakso, M., Auriola, S., Wong, G. & Callaway, J.C. 2011, "Determination of endocannabinoids in nematodes and human brain tissue by
liquid chromatography electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry", *Journal of Chromatography B*, vol. 879, no. 11–12, pp. 677-694.

- Leung, D., Saghatelian, A., Simon, G.M. & Cravatt, B.F. 2006, "Inactivation of N-acyl phosphatidylethanolamine phospholipase D reveals multiple mechanisms for the biosynthesis of endocannabinoids", *Biochemistry*, vol. 45, no. 15, pp. 4720-4726.
- Li, F., Fei, X., Xu, J. & Ji, C. 2009, "An unannotated alpha/beta hydrolase superfamily member, ABHD6 differentially expressed among cancer cell lines", *Mol Biol Rep*, vol. 36, no. 4, pp. 691-696.
- Li, W., Blankman, J.L. & Cravatt, B.F. 2007, "A functional proteomic strategy to discover inhibitors for uncharacterized hydrolases", *J Am Chem Soc*, vol. 129, no. 31, pp. 9594-9595.
- Lichtman, A.H., Leung, D., Shelton, C.C., Saghatelian, A., Hardouin, C., Boger, D.L. & Cravatt, B.F. 2004, "Reversible inhibitors of fatty acid amide hydrolase that promote analgesia: evidence for an unprecedented combination of potency and selectivity", *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, vol. 311, no. 2, pp. 441-448.
- Lin, D.T. & Conibear, E. 2015, "ABHD17 proteins are novel protein depalmitoylases that regulate N-Ras palmitate turnover and subcellular localization", *Elife*, vol. 4, pp. e11306.
- Liu, J., Wang, L., Harvey-White, J., Huang, B.X., Kim, H.Y., Luquet, S., Palmiter, R.D., Krystal, G., Rai, R., Mahadevan, A., Razdan, R.K. & Kunos, G. 2008, "Multiple pathways involved in the biosynthesis of anandamide", *Neuropharmacology*, vol. 54, no. 1, pp. 1-7.
- Lodish, H., Berk, A., Zipursky, S.L., Matsudaira, P., Baltimore, D. & Darnell, J. (eds) 2000, *Molecular cell biology*, 4th edn, W. H. Freeman, New York.
- Long, J.Z., Cisar, J.S., Milliken, D., Niessen, S., Wang, C., Trauger, S.A., Siuzdak, G. & Cravatt, B.F. 2011, "Metabolomics annotates ABHD3 as a physiologic regulator of medium-chain phospholipids", *Nat Chem Biol*, vol. 7, no. 11, pp. 763-765.
- Long, J.Z. & Cravatt, B.F. 2011, "The metabolic serine hydrolases and their functions in mammalian physiology and disease", *Chem Rev*, vol. 111, no. 10, pp. 6022-6063.
- Long, J.Z., Li, W., Booker, L., Burston, J.J., Kinsey, S.G., Schlosburg, J.E., Pavon, F.J., Serrano, A.M., Selley, D.E., Parsons, L.H., Lichtman, A.H. & Cravatt, B.F. 2009, "Selective blockade of 2-arachidonoylglycerol hydrolysis produces cannabinoid behavioral effects", *Nat Chem Biol*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 37-44.
- Long, J.Z., Nomura, D.K. & Cravatt, B.F. 2009, "Characterization of monoacylglycerol lipase inhibition reveals differences in central and peripheral endocannabinoid metabolism", *Chem Biol*, vol. 16, no. 7, pp. 744-753.

- Lord, C.C., Betters, J.L., Ivanova, P.T., Milne, S.B., Myers, D.S., Madenspacher, J., Thomas, G., Chung, S., Liu, M., Davis, M.A., Lee, R.G., Crooke, R.M., Graham, M.J., Parks, J.S., Brasaemle, D.L., Fessler, M.B., Brown, H.A. & Brown, J.M. 2012, "CGI-58/ABHD5-derived signaling lipids regulate systemic inflammation and insulin action", *Diabetes*, vol. 61, no. 2, pp. 355-363.
- Lord, C.C., Thomas, G. & Brown, J.M. 2013, "Mammalian alpha beta hydrolase domain (ABHD) proteins: Lipid metabolizing enzymes at the interface of cell signaling and energy metabolism", *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids*, , no. 1831, pp. 792-802.
- MacDonald, G. 2016, "FAAH inhibitor safety under microscope after Bial drug trial death", *In-Pharma Technologist*, , no. Retrieved September 2016.
- Mackie, K. 2006, "Mechanisms of CB1 receptor signaling: endocannabinoid modulation of synaptic strength", *Int J Obes (Lond)*, vol. 30 Suppl 1, pp. S19-23.
- Mackie, K. & Stella, N. 2006, "Cannabinoid receptors and endocannabinoids: evidence for new players", *AAPS J*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. E298-306.
- Makide, K., Uwamizu, A., Shinjo, Y., Ishiguro, J., Okutani, M., Inoue, A. & Aoki, J. 2014, "Novel lysophosphoplipid receptors: their structure and function", *J Lipid Res*, vol. 55, no. 10, pp. 1986-1995.
- Mallet, C., Dubray, C. & Duale, C. 2016, "FAAH inhibitors in the limelight, but regrettably", *Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther*, vol. 54, no. 7, pp. 498-501.
- Mallick, P. & Kuster, B. 2010, "Proteomics: a pragmatic perspective", *Nat Biotechnol*, vol. 28, no. 7, pp. 695-709.
- Marion, D. 2013, "An introduction to biological NMR spectroscopy", *Mol Cell Proteomics*, vol. 12, no. 11, pp. 3006-3025.
- Marrs, W.R., Blankman, J.L., Horne, E.A., Thomazeau, A., Lin, Y.H., Coy, J., Bodor, A.L., Muccioli, G.G., Hu, S.S., Woodruff, G., Fung, S., Lafourcade, M., Alexander, J.P., Long, J.Z., Li, W., Xu, C., Moller, T., Mackie, K., Manzoni, O.J., Cravatt, B.F. & Stella, N. 2010, "The serine hydrolase ABHD6 controls the accumulation and efficacy of 2-AG at cannabinoid receptors", *Nat Neurosci*, vol. 13, no. 8, pp. 951-957.
- Matsuda, L.A., Lolait, S.J., Brownstein, M.J., Young, A.C. & Bonner, T.I. 1990, "Structure of a cannabinoid receptor and functional expression of the cloned cDNA", *Nature*, vol. 346, no. 6284, pp. 561-564.
- Max, D., Hesse, M., Volkmer, I. & Staege, M.S. 2009, "High expression of the evolutionarily conserved ?/? hydrolase domain containing 6 (ABHD6) in Ewing tumors", *Cancer Science*, vol. 100, no. 12, pp. 2383-2389.

- Mayer, N., Schweiger, M., Romauch, M., Grabner, G.F., Eichmann, T.O., Fuchs, E., Ivkovic, J., Heier, C., Mrak, I., Lass, A., Hofler, G., Fledelius, C., Zechner, R., Zimmermann, R. & Breinbauer, R. 2013, "Development of small-molecule inhibitors targeting adipose triglyceride lipase", *Nat Chem Biol*, vol. 9, no. 12, pp. 785-787.
- Mechoulam, R., Ben-Shabat, S., Hanus, L., Ligumsky, M., Kaminski, N.E., Schatz, A.R., Gopher, A., Almog, S., Martin, B.R. & Compton, D.R. 1995, "Identification of an endogenous 2monoglyceride, present in canine gut, that binds to cannabinoid receptors", *Biochem Pharmacol*, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 83-90.
- Medina-Cleghorn, D., Heslin, A., Morris, P.J., Mulvihill, M.M. & Nomura, D.K. 2014, "Multidimensional profiling platforms reveal metabolic dysregulation caused by organophosphorus pesticides", *ACS Chem Biol*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 423-432.
- Medina-Cleghorn, D. & Nomura, D.K. 2014, "Exploring metabolic pathways and regulation through functional chemoproteomic and metabolomic platforms", *Chem Biol*, vol. 21, no. 9, pp. 1171-1184.
- Merla, G., Ucla, C., Guipponi, M. & Reymond, A. 2002, "Identification of additional transcripts in the Williams-Beuren syndrome critical region", *Hum Genet*, vol. 110, no. 5, pp. 429-438.
- Miller, M.R., Mannowetz, N., Iavarone, A.T., Safavi, R., Gracheva, E.O., Smith, J.F., Hill, R.Z., Bautista, D.M., Kirichok, Y. & Lishko, P.V. 2016, "Unconventional endocannabinoid signaling governs sperm activation via sex hormone progesterone", *Science*, vol. 352, no. 6285, pp. 555-559.
- Miyata, K., Nakayama, M., Mizuta, S., Hokimoto, S., Sugamura, K., Oshima, S., Oike, Y., Sugiyama, S., Ogawa, H. & Yamamura, K. 2008, "Elevated mature macrophage expression of human ABHD2 gene in vulnerable plaque", *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, vol. 365, no. 2, pp. 207-213.
- Montero-Moran, G., Caviglia, J.M., McMahon, D., Rothenberg, A., Subramanian, V., Xu, Z., Lara-Gonzalez, S., Storch, J., Carman, G.M. & Brasaemle, D.L. 2010, "CGI-58/ABHD5 is a coenzyme A-dependent lysophosphatidic acid acyltransferase", *J Lipid Res*, vol. 51, no. 4, pp. 709-719.
- Morisseau, C. 2013, "Role of epoxide hydrolases in lipid metabolism", *Biochimie*, vol. 95, no. 1, pp. 91-95.
- Mouslech, Z. & Valla, V. 2009, "Endocannabinoid system: An overview of its potential in current medical practice", *Neuro Endocrinol Lett*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 153-179.

- Muccioli, G.G., Labar, G. & Lambert, D.M. 2008, "CAY10499, a novel monoglyceride lipase inhibitor evidenced by an expeditious MGL assay", *Chembiochem*, vol. 9, no. 16, pp. 2704-2710.
- Munro, S., Thomas, K. & Abu-Shaar, M. 1993, "Molecular characterization of a peripheral receptor for cannabinoids", *Nature*, vol. 365, no. 6441, pp. 61-65.
- Nardini, M. & Dijkstra, B.W. 1999, "Alpha/beta hydrolase fold enzymes: the family keeps growing", *Curr Opin Struct Biol*, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 732-737.
- Naresh Kumar, M., Thunuguntla, V.B., Veeramachaneni, G.K., Chandra Sekhar B., Guntupalli & Bondili, J.S. 2016, "Molecular characterization of human ABHD2 as TAG lipase and ester hydrolase", *Biosci Rep*, .
- Navia-Paldanius, D., Patel, J.Z., Lopez Navarro, M., Jakupovic, H., Goffart, S., Pasonen-Seppanen, S., Nevalainen, T.J., Jaaskelainen, T., Laitinen, T., Laitinen, J.T. & Savinainen, J.R. 2016, "Chemoproteomic, biochemical and pharmacological approaches in the discovery of inhibitors targeting human alpha/beta-hydrolase domain containing 11 (ABHD11)", *Eur J Pharm Sci*, vol. 93, pp. 253-263.
- Navia-Paldanius, D., Savinainen, J.R. & Laitinen, J.T. 2012, "Biochemical and pharmacological characterization of human *α*/β-hydrolase domain containing 6 (ABHD6) and 12 (ABHD12)", *J Lipid Res*, vol. 53, no. 11, pp. 2413-2424.
- Niphakis, M.J. & Cravatt, B.F. 2014, "Enzyme inhibitor discovery by activity-based protein profiling", *Annu Rev Biochem*, vol. 83, pp. 341-377.
- Nomura, D.K. & Casida, J.E. 2016, "Lipases and their inhibitors in health and disease", *Chem Biol Interact*, .
- Nomura, D.K. & Casida, J.E. 2011, "Activity-based protein profiling of organophosphorus and thiocarbamate pesticides reveals multiple serine hydrolase targets in mouse brain", *J Agric Food Chem*, vol. 59, no. 7, pp. 2808-2815.
- Nomura, D.K. & Cravatt, B.F. 2013, "Lipid metabolism in cancer", *Biochim Biophys Acta*, vol. 1831, no. 10, pp. 1497-1498.
- Nomura, D.K., Dix, M.M. & Cravatt, B.F. 2010, "Activity-based protein profiling for biochemical pathway discovery in cancer", *Nat Rev Cancer*, vol. 10, no. 9, pp. 630-638.
- Nomura, D.K., Hudak, C.S., Ward, A.M., Burston, J.J., Issa, R.S., Fisher, K.J., Abood, M.E., Wiley, J.L., Lichtman, A.H. & Casida, J.E. 2008, "Monoacylglycerol lipase regulates 2arachidonoylglycerol action and arachidonic acid levels", *Bioorg Med Chem Lett*, vol. 18, no. 22, pp. 5875-5878.

- Nomura, D.K., Lombardi, D.P., Chang, J.W., Niessen, S., Ward, A.M., Long, J.Z., Hoover, H.H. & Cravatt, B.F. 2011, "Monoacylglycerol lipase exerts dual control over endocannabinoid and fatty acid pathways to support prostate cancer", *Chem Biol*, vol. 18, no. 7, pp. 846-856.
- Obinata, D., Takada, S., Takayama, K., Urano, T., Ito, A., Ashikari, D., Fujiwara, K., Yamada, Y., Murata, T., Kumagai, J., Fujimura, T., Ikeda, K., Horie-Inoue, K., Homma, Y., Takahashi, S. & Inoue, S. 2016, "Abhydrolase domain containing 2, an androgen target gene, promotes prostate cancer cell proliferation and migration", *Eur J Cancer*, vol. 57, pp. 39-49.
- Oka, S., Nakajima, K., Yamashita, A., Kishimoto, S. & Sugiura, T. 2007, "Identification of GPR55 as a lysophosphatidylinositol receptor", *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, vol. 362, no. 4, pp. 928-934.
- Osuga, J., Ishibashi, S., Oka, T., Yagyu, H., Tozawa, R., Fujimoto, A., Shionoiri, F., Yahagi, N., Kraemer, F.B., Tsutsumi, O. & Yamada, N. 2000, "Targeted disruption of hormone-sensitive lipase results in male sterility and adipocyte hypertrophy, but not in obesity", *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 97, no. 2, pp. 787-792.
- Ou, J., Miao, H., Ma, Y., Guo, F., Deng, J., Wei, X., Zhou, J., Xie, G., Shi, H., Xue, B., Liang, H. & Yu, L. 2014, "Loss of abhd5 promotes colorectal tumor development and progression by inducing aerobic glycolysis and epithelial-mesenchymal transition", *Cell Rep*, vol. 9, no. 5, pp. 1798-1811.
- Pabarcus, M.K. & Casida, J.E. 2002, "Kynurenine formamidase: determination of primary structure and modeling-based prediction of tertiary structure and catalytic triad", *Biochim Biophys Acta*, vol. 1596, no. 2, pp. 201-211.
- Pacher, P., Batkai, S. & Kunos, G. 2006, "The endocannabinoid system as an emerging target of pharmacotherapy", *Pharmacol Rev*, vol. 58, no. 3, pp. 389-462.
- Pacher, P. & Kunos, G. 2013, "Modulating the endocannabinoid system in human health and disease--successes and failures", *FEBS J*, vol. 280, no. 9, pp. 1918-1943.
- Palomaki, V.A. & Laitinen, J.T. 2006, "The basic secretagogue compound 48/80 activates G proteins indirectly via stimulation of phospholipase D-lysophosphatidic acid receptor axis and 5-HT1A receptors in rat brain sections", *Br J Pharmacol*, vol. 147, no. 6, pp. 596-606.
- Palomaki, V.A., Lehtonen, M., Savinainen, J.R. & Laitinen, J.T. 2007, "Visualization of 2arachidonoylglycerol accumulation and cannabinoid CB1 receptor activity in rat brain cryosections by functional autoradiography", *J Neurochem*, vol. 101, no. 4, pp. 972-981.
- Pan, B., Wang, W., Zhong, P., Blankman, J.L., Cravatt, B.F. & Liu, Q.S. 2011, "Alterations of endocannabinoid signaling, synaptic plasticity, learning, and memory in monoacylglycerol lipase knock-out mice", *J Neurosci*, vol. 31, no. 38, pp. 13420-13430.

- Park, S.Y., Lee, S.H., Lee, J., Nishi, K., Kim, Y.S., Jung, C.H. & Kim, J.S. 2008, "High-resolution structure of ybfF from Escherichia coli K12: a unique substrate-binding crevice generated by domain arrangement", *J Mol Biol*, vol. 376, no. 5, pp. 1426-1437.
- Parkkari, T., Haavikko, R., Laitinen, T., Navia-Paldanius, D., Rytilahti, R., Vaara, M., Lehtonen, M., Alakurtti, S., Yli-Kauhaluoma, J., Nevalainen, T., Savinainen, J.R. & Laitinen, J.T. 2014, "Discovery of triterpenoids as reversible inhibitors of alpha/beta-hydrolase domain containing 12 (ABHD12)", *PLoS One*, vol. 9, no. 5, pp. e98286.
- Patel, D.K. & Stanford, F.C. 2018, "Safety and tolerability of new-generation anti-obesity medications: a narrative review", *Postgrad Med*, vol. 130, no. 2, pp. 173-182.
- Patel, J.Z., Nevalainen, T.J., Savinainen, J.R., Adams, Y., Laitinen, T., Runyon, R.S., Vaara, M., Ahenkorah, S., Kaczor, A.A., Navia-Paldanius, D., Gynther, M., Aaltonen, N., Joharapurkar, A.A., Jain, M.R., Haka, A.S., Maxfield, F.R., Laitinen, J.T. & Parkkari, T. 2015, "Optimization of 1,2,5-thiadiazole carbamates as potent and selective ABHD6 inhibitors", *ChemMedChem*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 253-265.
- Patel, J.Z., van Bruchem, J., Laitinen, T., Kaczor, A.A., Navia-Paldanius, D., Parkkari, T., Savinainen, J.R., Laitinen, J.T. & Nevalainen, T.J. 2015, "Revisiting 1,3,4-Oxadiazol-2-ones: Utilization in the Development of ABHD6 Inhibitors", *Bioorg Med Chem*, vol. 23, no. 19, pp. 6335-6345.
- Pi-Sunyer, F.X., Aronne, L.J., Heshmati, H.M., Devin, J., Rosenstock, J. & RIO-North America Study Group 2006, "Effect of rimonabant, a cannabinoid-1 receptor blocker, on weight and cardiometabolic risk factors in overweight or obese patients: RIO-North America: a randomized controlled trial", *JAMA*, vol. 295, no. 7, pp. 761-775.
- Pribasnig, M.A., Mrak, I., Grabner, G.F., Taschler, U., Knittelfelder, O., Scherz, B., Eichmann, T.O., Heier, C., Grumet, L., Kowaliuk, J., Romauch, M., Holler, S., Anderl, F., Wolinski, H., Lass, A., Breinbauer, R., Marsche, G., Brown, J.M. & Zimmermann, R. 2015, "alpha/beta Hydrolase Domain-containing 6 (ABHD6) Degrades the Late Endosomal/Lysosomal Lipid Bis(monoacylglycero)phosphate", J Biol Chem, vol. 290, no. 50, pp. 29869-29881.
- Quistad, G.B., Liang, S.N., Fisher, K.J., Nomura, D.K. & Casida, J.E. 2006, "Each lipase has a unique sensitivity profile for organophosphorus inhibitors", *Toxicol Sci*, vol. 91, no. 1, pp. 166-172.
- Ramirez, B.G., Blazquez, C., Gomez del Pulgar, T., Guzman, M. & de Ceballos, M.L. 2005,
 "Prevention of Alzheimer's disease pathology by cannabinoids: neuroprotection mediated by blockade of microglial activation", *J Neurosci*, vol. 25, no. 8, pp. 1904-1913.
- Reyes, A., Yang, M.Y., Bowmaker, M. & Holt, I.J. 2005, "Bidirectional replication initiates at sites throughout the mitochondrial genome of birds", *J Biol Chem*, vol. 280, no. 5, pp. 3242-3250.

- Rusch, M., Zimmermann, T.J., Burger, M., Dekker, F.J., Gormer, K., Triola, G., Brockmeyer, A., Janning, P., Bottcher, T., Sieber, S.A., Vetter, I.R., Hedberg, C. & Waldmann, H. 2011, "Identification of acyl protein thioesterases 1 and 2 as the cellular targets of the Rassignaling modulators palmostatin B and M", *Angew Chem Int Ed Engl*, vol. 50, no. 42, pp. 9838-9842.
- Ryberg, E., Larsson, N., Sjogren, S., Hjorth, S., Hermansson, N.O., Leonova, J., Elebring, T., Nilsson, K., Drmota, T. & Greasley, P.J. 2007, "The orphan receptor GPR55 is a novel cannabinoid receptor", *Br J Pharmacol*, vol. 152, no. 7, pp. 1092-1101.
- Saario, S.M. & Laitinen, J.T. 2007, "Therapeutic potential of endocannabinoid-hydrolysing enzyme inhibitors", *Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol*, vol. 101, no. 5, pp. 287-293.
- Saario, S.M., Savinainen, J.R., Laitinen, J.T., Järvinen, T. & Niemi, R. 2004, "Monoglyceride lipase-like enzymatic activity is responsible for hydrolysis of 2-arachidonoylglycerol in rat cerebellar membranes", *Biochem Pharmacol*, vol. 67, no. 7, pp. 1381-1387.
- Sagredo, O., Gonzalez, S., Aroyo, I., Pazos, M.R., Benito, C., Lastres-Becker, I., Romero, J.P., Tolon, R.M., Mechoulam, R., Brouillet, E., Romero, J. & Fernandez-Ruiz, J. 2009,
 "Cannabinoid CB2 receptor agonists protect the striatum against malonate toxicity: relevance for Huntington's disease", *Glia*, vol. 57, no. 11, pp. 1154-1167.
- Sanders, M.A., Madoux, F., Mladenovic, L., Zhang, H., Ye, X., Angrish, M., Mottillo, E.P., Caruso, J.A., Halvorsen, G., Roush, W.R., Chase, P., Hodder, P. & Granneman, J.G. 2015, "Endogenous and Synthetic ABHD5 Ligands Regulate ABHD5-Perilipin Interactions and Lipolysis in Fat and Muscle", *Cell Metab*, vol. 22, no. 5, pp. 851-860.
- Savinainen, J.R., Patel, J.Z., Parkkari, T., Navia-Paldanius, D., Marjamaa, J.J., Laitinen, T., Nevalainen, T. & Laitinen, J.T. 2014, "Biochemical and Pharmacological Characterization of the Human Lymphocyte Antigen B-Associated Transcript 5 (BAT5/ABHD16A)", *PLoS One*, vol. 9, no. 10, pp. e109869.
- Savinainen, J.R., Saario, S.M., Niemi, R., Jarvinen, T. & Laitinen, J.T. 2003, "An optimized approach to study endocannabinoid signaling: evidence against constitutive activity of rat brain adenosine A1 and cannabinoid CB1 receptors", *Br J Pharmacol*, vol. 140, no. 8, pp. 1451-1459.
- Schlosburg, J.E., Blankman, J.L., Long, J.Z., Nomura, D.K., Pan, B., Kinsey, S.G., Nguyen, P.T., Ramesh, D., Booker, L., Burston, J.J., Thomas, E.A., Selley, D.E., Sim-Selley, L.J., Liu, Q.S., Lichtman, A.H. & Cravatt, B.F. 2010, "Chronic monoacylglycerol lipase blockade causes functional antagonism of the endocannabinoid system", *Nat Neurosci*, vol. 13, no. 9, pp. 1113-1119.

- Silvestri, C. & Di Marzo, V. 2013, "The endocannabinoid system in energy homeostasis and the etiopathology of metabolic disorders", *Cell Metab*, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 475-490.
- Simon, G.M. & Cravatt, B.F. 2010, "Activity-based proteomics of enzyme superfamilies: serine hydrolases as a case study", *J Biol Chem*, vol. 285, no. 15, pp. 11051-11055.
- Simon, G.M. & Cravatt, B.F. 2006, "Endocannabinoid biosynthesis proceeding through glycerophospho-N-acyl ethanolamine and a role for alpha/beta-hydrolase 4 in this pathway", *J Biol Chem*, vol. 281, no. 36, pp. 26465-26472.
- Somma-Delpero, C., Valette, A., Lepetit-Thevenin, J., Nobili, O., Boyer, J. & Verine, A. 1995, "Purification and properties of a monoacylglycerol lipase in human erythrocytes", *Biochem J*, vol. 312 (Pt 2), no. Pt 2, pp. 519-525.
- Stoelting, M., Geyer, M., Reuter, S., Reichelt, R., Bek, M.J. & Pavenstadt, H. 2009, "Alpha/beta hydrolase 1 is upregulated in D5 dopamine receptor knockout mice and reduces O2production of NADPH oxidase", *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, vol. 379, no. 1, pp. 81-85.
- Sugiura, T., Kondo, S., Sukagawa, A., Nakane, S., Shinoda, A., Itoh, K., Yamashita, A. & Waku, K. 1995, "2-Arachidonoylglycerol: a possible endogenous cannabinoid receptor ligand in brain", *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, vol. 215, no. 1, pp. 89-97.
- Szabo, G.G., Lenkey, N., Holderith, N., Andrasi, T., Nusser, Z. & Hajos, N. 2014, "Presynaptic calcium channel inhibition underlies CB(1) cannabinoid receptor-mediated suppression of GABA release", *J Neurosci*, vol. 34, no. 23, pp. 7958-7963.
- Tanimura, A., Yamazaki, M., Hashimotodani, Y., Uchigashima, M., Kawata, S., Abe, M., Kita, Y., Hashimoto, K., Shimizu, T., Watanabe, M., Sakimura, K. & Kano, M. 2010, "The endocannabinoid 2-arachidonoylglycerol produced by diacylglycerol lipase alpha mediates retrograde suppression of synaptic transmission", *Neuron*, vol. 65, no. 3, pp. 320-327.
- Taschler, U., Radner, F.P., Heier, C., Schreiber, R., Schweiger, M., Schoiswohl, G., Preiss-Landl, K., Jaeger, D., Reiter, B., Koefeler, H.C., Wojciechowski, J., Theussl, C., Penninger, J.M., Lass, A., Haemmerle, G., Zechner, R. & Zimmermann, R. 2011, "Monoglyceride lipase deficiency in mice impairs lipolysis and attenuates diet-induced insulin resistance", *J Biol Chem*, vol. 286, no. 20, pp. 17467-17477.
- Thomas, G., Brown, A.L. & Brown, J.M. 2014, "In vivo metabolite profiling as a means to identify uncharacterized lipase function: recent success stories within the alpha beta hydrolase domain (ABHD) enzyme family", *Biochim Biophys Acta*, vol. 1841, no. 8, pp. 1097-1101.
- Thomas, G., Betters, J., Lord, C., Brown, A., Marshall, S., Ferguson, D., Sawyer, J., Davis, M., Melchior, J., Blume, L., Howlett, A., Ivanova, P., Milne, S., Myers, D., Mrak, I., Leber, V., Heier, C., Taschler, U., Blankman, J., Cravatt, B., Lee, R., Crooke, R., Graham, M.,

Zimmermann, R., Brown, H. . & Brown, J. . 2013, "The Serine Hydrolase ABHD6 Is a Critical Regulator of the Metabolic Syndrome". *Cell Reports*, 5, 1-13.

- Tornqvist, H. & Belfrage, P. 1976, "Purification and some properties of a monoacylglycerolhydrolyzing enzyme of rat adipose tissue", *J Biol Chem*, vol. 251, no. 3, pp. 813-819.
- van der Wel, T., Janssen, F.J., Baggelaar, M.P., Deng, H., den Dulk, H., Overkleeft, H.S. & van der Stelt, M. 2015, "A Natural Substrate-Based Fluorescence Assay for Inhibitor Screening on Diacylglycerol Lipase Alpha", *J Lipid Res*, .
- van Roon-Mom, W.M., Pepers, B.A., 't Hoen, P.A., Verwijmeren, C.A., den Dunnen, J.T., Dorsman, J.C. & van Ommen, G.B. 2008, "Mutant huntingtin activates Nrf2-responsive genes and impairs dopamine synthesis in a PC12 model of Huntington's disease", *BMC Mol Biol*, vol. 9, pp. 84-2199-9-84.
- Venkatesan, A., Gopal, J., Candavelou, M., Gollapalli, S. & Karthikeyan, K. 2013, "Computational approach for protein structure prediction", *Healthc Inform Res*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 137-147.
- Viader, A., Ogasawara, D., Joslyn, C.M., Sanchez-Alavez, M., Mori, S., Nguyen, W., Conti, B. & Cravatt, B.F. 2016, "A chemical proteomic atlas of brain serine hydrolases identifies cell type-specific pathways regulating neuroinflammation", *Elife*, vol. 5, pp. e12345.
- Vijayakumar, A., Vijayaraj, P., Vijayakumar, A.K. & Rajasekharan, R. 2016, "The Arabidopsis ABHD11 Mutant Accumulates Polar Lipids in Leaves as a Consequence of Absent Acylhydrolase Activity", *Plant Physiol*, vol. 170, no. 1, pp. 180-193.
- Vyas, V.K., Ukawala, R.D., Ghate, M. & Chintha, C. 2012, "Homology modeling a fast tool for drug discovery: current perspectives", *Indian J Pharm Sci*, vol. 74, no. 1, pp. 1-17.
- Walenta, E., Pessentheiner, A.R., Pelzmann, H.J., Deutsch, A., Goeritzer, M., Kratky, D., Hackl, H., Oh da, Y., Prokesch, A. & Bogner-Strauss, J.G. 2013, "alpha/beta-hydrolase domain containing protein 15 (ABHD15)--an adipogenic protein protecting from apoptosis", *PLoS One*, vol. 8, no. 11, pp. e79134.
- Wang, H.W. & Wang, J.W. 2017, "How cryo-electron microscopy and X-ray crystallography complement each other", *Protein Sci*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 32-39.
- Wiedl, T., Arni, S., Roschitzki, B., Grossmann, J., Collaud, S., Soltermann, A., Hillinger, S., Aebersold, R. & Weder, W. 2011, "Activity-based proteomics: identification of ABHD11 and ESD activities as potential biomarkers for human lung adenocarcinoma", *J Proteomics*, vol. 74, no. 10, pp. 1884-1894.
- Wymann, M.P. & Schneiter, R. 2008, "Lipid signalling in disease", *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 162-176.

- Yamashita, S., Tsujino, Y., Moriguchi, K., Tatematsu, M. & Ushijima, T. 2006, "Chemical genomic screening for methylation-silenced genes in gastric cancer cell lines using 5-aza-2'deoxycytidine treatment and oligonucleotide microarray", *Cancer Sci*, vol. 97, no. 1, pp. 64-71.
- Yeaman, S.J. 2004, "Hormone-sensitive lipase--new roles for an old enzyme", *Biochem J*, vol. 379, no. Pt 1, pp. 11-22.
- Yoshida, T., Kobayashi, T., Itoda, M., Muto, T., Miyaguchi, K., Mogushi, K., Shoji, S., Shimokawa, K., Iida, S., Uetake, H., Ishikawa, T., Sugihara, K., Mizushima, H. & Tanaka, H. 2010, "Clinical omics analysis of colorectal cancer incorporating copy number aberrations and gene expression data", *Cancer Inform*, vol. 9, pp. 147-161.
- Yoshino, H., Miyamae, T., Hansen, G., Zambrowicz, B., Flynn, M., Pedicord, D., Blat, Y., Westphal, R.S., Zaczek, R., Lewis, D.A. & Gonzalez-Burgos, G. 2011, "Postsynaptic diacylglycerol lipase mediates retrograde endocannabinoid suppression of inhibition in mouse prefrontal cortex", *J Physiol*, vol. 589, no. Pt 20, pp. 4857-4884.
- Yrjola, S., Parkkari, T., Navia-Paldanius, D., Laitinen, T., Kaczor, A.A., Kokkola, T., Adusei-Mensah, F., Savinainen, J.R., Laitinen, J.T., Poso, A., Alexander, A., Penman, J., Stott, L., Anskat, M., Irving, A.J. & Nevalainen, T.J. 2016, "Potent and selective N-(4sulfamoylphenyl)thiourea-based GPR55 agonists", *Eur J Med Chem*, vol. 107, pp. 119-132.
- Yuan, X., Ta, T.C., Lin, M., Evans, J.R., Dong, Y., Bolotin, E., Sherman, M.A., Forman, B.M. & Sladek, F.M. 2009, "Identification of an endogenous ligand bound to a native orphan nuclear receptor", *PLoS One*, vol. 4, no. 5, pp. e5609.
- Zanettini, C., Panlilio, L.V., Alicki, M., Goldberg, S.R., Haller, J. & Yasar, S. 2011, "Effects of endocannabinoid system modulation on cognitive and emotional behavior", *Front Behav Neurosci*, vol. 5, pp. 57.
- Zechner, R., Zimmermann, R., Eichmann, T., Kohlwein, S., Haemmerle, G., Lass, A. & Madeo, F. 2012, "FAT SIGNALS - Lipases and Lipolysis in Lipid Metabolism and Signaling", *Cell Metabolism*, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 279-291.
- Zhao, S., Mugabo, Y., Ballentine, G., Attane, C., Iglesias, J., Poursharifi, P., Zhang, D., Nguyen, T.A., Erb, H., Prentki, R., Peyot, M.L., Joly, E., Tobin, S., Fulton, S., Brown, J.M., Madiraju, S.R. & Prentki, M. 2016, "alpha/beta-Hydrolase Domain 6 Deletion Induces Adipose Browning and Prevents Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes", *Cell Rep*, vol. 14, no. 12, pp. 2872-2888.
- Zhao, S., Mugabo, Y., Iglesias, J., Xie, L., Delghingaro-Augusto, V., Lussier, R., Peyot, M.L., Joly, E., Taib, B., Davis, M.A., Brown, J.M., Abousalham, A., Gaisano, H., Madiraju, S.R. & Prentki, M. 2014, "alpha/beta-Hydrolase domain-6-accessible monoacylglycerol controls glucose-stimulated insulin secretion", *Cell Metab*, vol. 19, no. 6, pp. 993-1007.

- Zhao, S., Poursharifi, P., Mugabo, Y., Levens, E.J., Vivot, K., Attane, C., Iglesias, J., Peyot, M.L., Joly, E., Madiraju, S.R. & Prentki, M. 2015, "alpha/beta-Hydrolase domain-6 and saturated long chain monoacylglycerol regulate insulin secretion promoted by both fuel and non-fuel stimuli", *Mol Metab*, vol. 4, no. 12, pp. 940-950.
- Zheng, H., Handing, K.B., Zimmerman, M.D., Shabalin, I.G., Almo, S.C. & Minor, W. 2015, "X-ray crystallography over the past decade for novel drug discovery where are we heading next?", *Expert Opin Drug Discov*, vol. 10, no. 9, pp. 975-989.
- Zhong, P., Pan, B., Gao, X.P., Blankman, J.L., Cravatt, B.F. & Liu, Q.S. 2011, "Genetic deletion of monoacylglycerol lipase alters endocannabinoid-mediated retrograde synaptic depression in the cerebellum", *J Physiol*, vol. 589, no. Pt 20, pp. 4847-4855.
- Zimmermann, R., Lass, A., Haemmerle, G. & Zechner, R. 2009, "Fate of fat: the role of adipose triglyceride lipase in lipolysis", *Biochim Biophys Acta*, vol. 1791, no. 6, pp. 494-500.
- Zimmermann, R., Strauss, J.G., Haemmerle, G., Schoiswohl, G., Birner-Gruenberger, R., Riederer, M., Lass, A., Neuberger, G., Eisenhaber, F., Hermetter, A. & Zechner, R. 2004, "Fat mobilization in adipose tissue is promoted by adipose triglyceride lipase", *Science*, vol. 306, no. 5700, pp. 1383-1386.

DINA NAVIA-PALDANIUS

The full sequence of the human genome revealed unknown proteins and new biochemical assays are required to study biological roles of these proteins. This work included development of cell-based activity assays and identification of inhibitors for poorly known proteins ABHD6, ABHD11 and ABHD12.



uef.fi

PUBLICATIONS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF EASTERN FINLAND Dissertations in Health Sciences

> ISBN 978-952-61-2913-6 ISSN 1798-5706